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began 2009 immersed in one of the most

challenging economic environments in 75

years and ended the year with sense that

the worst had passed Indeed markets recovered robustly

from troughs reached during early 2009 as the SP 500

Index was up 26% for the year and the Morgan Stanley

REIT Index rose 29% For AvalonBay Total Shareholder

Return was 44% in 2009

Despite these improved returns the economic and op

erating environment we faced in 2009 left little room for

error Our response to the challenges presented by last

years turmoil was supported by strong balance sheet

proven long-term business strategy and more than 20

years of cycle-tested management experience We ex

pected apartment fundamentals to deteriorate through

out the year at an accelerating pace and they did As

the capital markets began to heal we enhanced our fi

nancial flexibility by improving liquidity extending debt

maturities and adding equity to our capital structure At

the same time we kept our eye on the future and the im

proving long-term fundamentals we expect will emerge

By year-end we had increased investment activity both

development and acquisitions to levels appropriate for

an emerging economic recovery

Last years report titled Built to Endure described an or

ganization with the experience and resources to preserve

value during periods of economic stress and to pursue

opportunities out of reach for others This year whether

you are an investor an associate within our company or

resident in one of our communities we believe Avalon

Bay is Where You Want To Be an organization alert and

responsive to challenging market conditions while being

prepared for the next phase of growth and opportunities

In this letter well review results and how actions we took

last year position us for continued success We will then

look at the demand/supply fundamentals influencing both

our business and our industry now and going forward

This context will provide the backdrop for discussion of
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trends we see emerging with the new decade ahead that

will affect both our industry and our business

Looking Back 2009 In Review

Our early outlook anticipated difficult operating envi

ronment with revenue declining at an accelerating pace

for much of the year While that early directional read

on operating trends was accurate job losses exceeded

expectations and Net Operating Income NOI from our

Same Store portfolio decreased 7% for the year slightly

more than our original outlook of 5%

Earnings per Share EPS declined 63% to $1.93 from

lower NOl reduced gains on asset sales and impairment

losses recognized as we re-scaled the business Funds

from Operations FF01 decreased 4% to $3.89 Adjusting

for non-routine charges operating FF0 decreased 11%

Unprecedented economic uncertainty called for caution

and we responded in number of ways

weak operating fundamentals in 2009

and into 2010 we reduced investment activity and

development risk during 2009 by deferring new devel

opment starts until the fourth quarter By then greater

visibility on the economy the capital markets and the

prospect of improving fundamentals supported

measured level of new development Accordingly we

broke ground on two communities in late 2009 at

total cost of $65 million

We completed and delivered nine new communities

totaling over 2500 apartment homes for Total Capi

tal Cost of $800 million At year-end 2009 we had

seven developments under construction half the

volume underway at the prior year-end

We sold five assets compared to 11 sold in the

prior year for an aggregate price of $180 million

These sales provided total Economic Gain of $44

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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NOTES

Total Shareholder Return The change io value over the petiod stated with all dinideods reinvested Total Shareholdet Return sometimes preseoted as the nompouod annual

growth rate The Total Shareholder Roturo tot each hear withio the timeframe ptesooted may nary

Eotimated NAV per hhare Growth The camponed aeooal growth rate of Eotimated NAy per hhare ao eotimated by Groeo Street Advisors Icc doriog the poriodo iodicated Estimated

NAV per Share Growth for each year withio the rimeframe preoeeted may oary

FFG per Share Growth The compoood aoooal growth rare of FFG per Share as reported doriog the period stated FFG yer Share Growth for each year within the fimeframe presented

may nary See page tb tnt 10 year FFG reconciliation

US Moltifamily Rental Construction Starts defined as construction starts per US Censcs Sumac data Ihistaric data through 2SSl end forecasts from Witren Advisors 12010 forecast as

cf dG 205RI

New Renter Demand dehned as net apartment absorption US based on the year/year change in octupancy US New Apartment Sapply defined as total US rental apartment

home completions Data and forecast from Witten Aduisors as of dG 200g

Inclades regular dividends declared for each guarrer of the fee years preseefvd

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Form tO-K Page

Market for Regiorrants Common Egnity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Eguity Securities 33

Selected Financial Data 3b

Managements Discossion and Analysis of Financial Condition ned Results of Dperatione 3S

Gneetitative and Dnalifatioe Disclosores About Marker Risk 55

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants an Accounting and Financial Disclosure 60

Consolidated Financial Srarements F-3

DEFINITIONS AND RECONCILIATIONS OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES AND OTHER TERMS

This Annual Report contains certain eon-GAAP financial measures and other terms The dehnyion and calculation of these enn-GAAP financial weascres and other terms may differ from the

definitions and methodologies used by other REITs and accordingly may not be comparable The noe-GAAP financial meascres referred so below shnold not be considered an airemeatice to net

iocnme as an indication of our performance In additive these ene-GAAP hnaecial measures do not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and therefore

should not be considered as an alternative measure of ligaidity or as indicative nfcash available to fund cash needs The definitions of eoe-GAAP financial measnres and other terms not included

below Funds from Gperatinns Net Uperafieg Income Established/Same Store Cammneitiesl are contained in our Annual Report no Form to-K

Net Asset Valse INAVI Per Share

The estimated market caine of companys assets less she estimated market value of all current and long-term liabilities divided by the number of outstanding common shares and operating

partnership units

Interest Coverage

EE1TDA from continuing operations encludieg land gains and gain no the sale of investments in real estatv joint neotores divided by the scm of interest enpense net and preferred dividends

Interest Coverage is presented by the Company because it provides rating agencies and investors an additional means of comparing our ability to service debt nbligafioes to that of other

companies EBITDA is debned by the Company as net income before interest income and eopeene income tones depreciation and amorticafion ESITDA has been adjusted in the reconciliation

below to anclode 52gg72555 of cnslo associated with the tender offer completed in Uctober 2009 reconciliation of EBITDA and nalnolatise of Interest Coverage far the fourth guarter of

200g are as follows dollars in thousands

Net income attributable to the Company S323gd

Interest enpense net d2tS7

Depreciation espense
yo3g2

Depreciation enpeose discontinued vperationsl
t255

Tender offer casts 2gg72

ESITDA adj for Tender offer costs StbSOeb

ESITDA from cnotienisg operations adj for Tender offer costs St 57.075

ERITDA from discontinued operations
ooggj

EEITDA
S1SSOeb

EBITDA from confienieg operations
5517078

Land gains
dSOS

ERITDA from nontinnieg operations adi for Tender offer costs eocludieg land gains St t2dOR

Interest charges
$d2f07

Interest coverage
2.7

AVALONBAY COMMUN TIES INC 13



Initial Year Market Capitalization Rate Cap Ratel

Projected NGI ot single community tsr the tirst lsr next succeediegl t2 mxnthx of operations assuming no tepssitixeiegl less estimates for eon-routine allowance of approximately $200

-$300 yer apartment home dicided by the gross sales price for the community Projected NOI ax referred to ebooe represents managements estimate of projected rental reoenae minus

projected operating expenses before interest income taxes lit asyl depreciation amsrriaarioe and extraordinary items For this purpose managements projection of operating expenses for

the community includes masagemeer tee of 30% 3.5% The Initial Year Market Cap Pate which maybe determined in different manner by others isa measure freguently used in the real

estate industry when determining the appropriate purchase price tot property or estimating the oalue furs property Buyers may assign differeot Initial Year Market Cap Pates to different

communities when determining the appropriate salue because they Ill may project different rates of change in operating expenses and capital eopenditure estimates and
liii may project

different rates of change in future rental resenue due to different estimates for changes is rent and occupancy lesels The weighted acerage Initial Year Market Cap Pate is weighted based us the

gross sales price of each community Projected stabiliaed rental recenue represents managements estimate of projected gross potential based on leased rents for occupied homes and market

rents tar cacant huwesi minus projected economic cacascy and adjusted for concessions Projected stabilised operating espesses do sot include interest income taxes
lit asyl depreciation

or amsrtiaatios or any allocation et corporate-lecel property management oserhead or general and administratise costs

Leeerage

Total debt as percentage ot Total Market Capitalization Total Market Capitalizatiso represents the aggregate of the market salue st the Companys common stock the market salue of the

Companys operating partnership units outstanding Ibased as the market salse of the Companys common steckl and the outstanding prinripal balance of the Companys debt Management

belieses that Lecerage can be one asetal measure of real estate operating companys long-term ligaidity aed balance sheet strength because it shows an approsimate relationship between

companys total debt and the current total market calue stirs assets based on the current price at which the Companys common stock trades Changes is Leserage also can influence changes

in per share results calcslatiso of Leserage as ot December 3t 250g is as follows Idollars in thousandsi

Total debt b3g77gg2

Common stock $bbsd3d3

Operating partnership units
t2b5

Total debt
3577a52

Total Market Capitaliaatios StSg72bgb

Debt as of capitaliaatisn 37.3%

because Lecerage changes with huctuatises in the Companys stock price which occur regularly the Companys Lsserage may change esee when the Companys earnings interest and debt

lesels remain stable Inoestors should also note that the net tealiaable calse of the Companys assets in liguidatiss snot easily determinable and may differ substantially from the Companys

Total Market Capitaliaation

Multifamily Sector Aserage

The Maltitamily Sector Aserage is weighted aserage based on Total Capitaliaation per SNL Financial The weighted anerage for Total bhatehslder Re turn and Gutsiaed Disidend Growth

consists ot APC Aly BBb CPT POP ffMb MAA PPS and 00g The weighted acerage tot FF0 per bhare Growthcossists at AbC Aly PAP CPT bOg pgg HMP MAA and UDR The

weighted aserage for NAy per Share Growth includes all companies under Green Street Adoisors Inc.s csoerage for which data is aoailable during each ot the time periods presented aud

consists of AbC SAP CPT BPS and 0DB

Total Capital Cost

Includes all capitalleed costs prolected to beer actually incurred to deoelop the respectioe deoelepmest or redeoelepmeet community or deoelopmest right including land acgaisities costs

construction costs real estate taxes capitaliaed interest and loan fees permits professiseal fees allocated deoelopment ecerhead and other regulatory tees all as determined in accordance

with GAAP For redecelopmest communities Total Capital Cast excludes costs lecatted prior to the start of redeoelopment when indicated With respect to communities where deoelopmest

or redeuelepmest was completed is prior or the current period Total Capital Cost reflects the actual coot incurred plus any contingency estimate made by management Total Capital Coot

for communities identified as basing joint seetare ownership either daring constroctian or upon construction completion represents the total projected joint cesture custribatixe amount For

joint ceetares sot in construction Total Capital Cost is egual to gross real estate cost

Pcanemic Gain

The gain so sale in accordance with GAAF less accumulated depreciation through the date at sale and any other noncash adjustments that may be regaired under GAAP accounting

Management generally considers bcoeomic Gain to bean appropriate supplemental measure to gale us sale in accordance with GAAP because it helps incest ors understand the relationship

between the cash proceeds from sale and the cask loseoted in the sold community reconciliation of busnamic Gain to gain as sale in accordance with GAAP for the tall year 2009 is

presented below dollars in th000asdol

Accumulated

Number of Grass Sales Depreciation bcouomic

Communities Sold Price GAAP Gain and Other Gain

Communities gt7g07b Sblt tg Slbb2b Sdddgg

Usleceraged IRR

Refers to the internal rate of return unsold communities calculated by the Company considering the timing and amounts of lii total tesenue during the period owned by the Company and
jill

the gross sales price net of selling costs offset by lidi the usdepreciated capital coot of the communities at the time of sale and lid total direct uperating expenses dating the period owned by

the Company Pack of the items Ill jyj liii and lid are calculated in accordance with GAAP

The calculation of Unleueraged IRA does sot include an adjustment for the Companys general and admieisttatice eupesse interest eopesse or corporatelecel property management and other

indirect operating expeusco Therefore Usleceraged IRA is not substitute tsr set income as measure of our performance Management belieoes that the Usleseraged IRA ackieued daring

the period community is owned by the Comyasy is useful because iris sne lodicatlue of the gross ualae created by the Companys acguioitios deseloymest or radeuelopment management

and sale of community before the impact of indirect eopesseo and Company eoerhead The Usleceraged lAP achiesed on the communities excited in this annual report should net be uiewed

as an isdicatius of the groos ualae created with respect to other communities owned by the Company aed the Company does not represent that it will achiese omilar Unleueraged IRAs apse

the disposition of other communities The weighted auerage Usleceraged IRA for sold communities is weighted based us all cash flows suer the holding period fur each reopectise community

including net sales proceeds

14 AVALONBAY COMMUNjTIES INC



Stock Perferrrraeoe Graph

The stock performance graph provides comparisos from Gecemher 2004 through Gecembor 2009 of the cumulative total shareholder return lassoming reinvestment of dividends among

the Cempaep the Standard Peers lSPl 500 lodeo and peer groop indes composed of lb pobliclp-traded apartmeot PElTs includieg the Compaep Ithe FTSP NAPEIT Apartment PElT

ledeol hosed onan ieiriol porchase price of $100 The ElSE NAREIT Apartmeet PElT lndeo includes onlp PElTs that invest diroctlp or ledirectlp primarilp iv the equitp ownership of moltitamilp

resideetial apartment commonities Opec written reqoest to the Compaeps Secretarp the Companp will provide 000 stockholder with list of PElTs included is the FTSE NAPEIT Apartmnet

bElT lndeo The historical information set forth below is not necessarilp indicative of fotore performance Gata for the FTSS NAREIT Apartment PElT lndeo aed the SP 500 lvdoo were provided

to the Companp hp NAPEIT

$200

$150

$100

STOCK PERFORMANCE

$50

2004 2005 2000 2007 2008 2000

AVB ElSE NAREITAprtment REIT Index SP 500 IndEx

Surrrcr NAREIT Borcclrrouurkrri urt /2/044100

0ev 2004 Gec 200$ Gee 2000 One 2007 0cc 2000 Goc 2009

bP $00 lndeo $100 $105 sf21 $120 $01 Sf02

FlOE NARElTApaOmnntRElTlndoo tOO lb tOO 120 80 117

AvulonEap tOO 123 104 137 95 137

Ten Year PPG Reconciliation

For hr Prar Erdnd

lDvllurs in thousands 12-31--Of 12-31-Of 12-31-07 12-31-00 12-31-00 12-31 04 12-31-03 t2-3t-22 12-31-01 12-31-00 12-31-99

Nat income $100047 $41 140 $300100 $200040 $310408 $207770 $202003 $173120 $240097 9210004 $172270

Dicidnnds altribelubln to pnefvrred stoch 1100541 107001 107001 187001 107001 1107441 1178951 1400351 1307791 1387781

Depreciationteal estate assets

including discontinued operations and

loint venture adlusnmnnls 221010 203002 184731 155982 183202 109221 129207 143020 125000 120205 108070

Disntibutions to noncontrulling inrorerts

inclvdivg discontinued operutiono
66 216 200 301 1303 3048 1203 1001 1058 1709 1970

Cumululiun effect of change in accounfisg principle 145471

Gum on sale of onconsvlidatnd enrifies 134831 1089271 166091

Gain vs sale of vpetatisg cemmunitier 163887 12849011 11064871 1970111 11982871 11212871 11597081 1488931 1028521 1407781 1470931

Funds from Operations uttvbutuble

to common slockheldncs $313241 $310947 $300007 $320180 $271006 $238914 $222473 $200963 0278750 5282013 0196058

Weighted average common shares

outstandingdiluted 80599557 77578052 49856927 78086898 74709318 73354958 70203487 70674211 68781719 50140808 66110664

000diluted $193 $5.17 $4.38 $3.42 54.05 $2.75 $3.60 5222 $302 $203 $2.03

FF0 per nommcn shunediluted $308 $4.07 $4.61 $4.24 $363 $321 $3.17 $3.50 $390 $370 $292
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AVALONBAY CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Chairman and CEO
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Bruca Choate 24.5

Praaidant and CEO
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real eatata investment trust

John Healy Jr 245

Founder and President
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Gilbert Meyer

Presidant and CEO
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residential developer and builder

Timothy Naughton

President

AvalonBay Communities Inc

Lance Primis 135

Managing Partner

Lance Primis and Partners LLC

management consulting firm

Peter Rummel

Private Investor

Jay Sarles
23

Private Investor

Edward Walter 24

President and CEO

Host Hotels Resorts Inc

real estate investment trust

Lead Independeet Director

Audit Committee

Compensation Comminee
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Committee
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President

Thomas Sargeant

Chief Financial Officer
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Executive Vice President
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Sean Breslin

Executive Vice President
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Management

Bill McLaughlin

Executive Vice President

Development Construction

Northeast

Steve Wilson

Executive Vice President

Development Construction

West Coast and Mid-Atlantic
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Senior Vice President

ConstructionEast Coast
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Senior Vice President

Property Operations

Northern CA Pacific NW

Jonathan Cox

Senior Vice President

Development

Mid-Atlantic Mid-West

Lili Dunn

Senior Vice President

InvestmentsNational

Frederick Harris

Senior Vice President

DevelopmentNY

Joanne Lockridge

Senior Vice President

Finance Assistant Treasurer

and Assistant SecretaryNational

Richard Morris

Senior Vice President

ConstructionNational

Kevin OShea

Senior Vice President

Investment Management

Christopher Payne

Senior Vice President

DevelopmentSouthern CA

Edward Schulman

Senior Vice President

General Counsel and

SecretaryNational

Bernard Ward

Senior Vice President
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East Coast Mid-West

Danyell Alders

Vice President

Property OperationsSouthern CA

Trinity Blue

Vice President

Property OperationsMetro NY

Shannon Brennan

Vice President
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Mid-Atlantic

Alfred Brockunier Ill

Vice President

ConstructionNY

Duane Carlson

Vice President

ConstructionNorthern CA

Sean Clark

Vice President

Redevelopment and

Asset Management

Scott Dale

Vice President

DevelopmentMA

Tsippora Dingott

Vice President

Information ServicesNational

Mark Forlenza

Vice President

DevelopmentCT

Brian Fritz

Vice President

DevelopmentPacific NW

Patrick Gniadek

Vice President

Investments

Karen Hollinger

Vice President

OperationsNations

Suzanne Jakstsvich

Vice President

Human ResourcesNational

Scott Kinter

Vice President

ConstructionNortheast

Ronald LsdelI

Vice President

DevelopmentNJ

Lyn Lansdale

Vice President

Strategic Business Services

National

Sarah Mathewson

Vice President

Property OperationsMA RI

Mike Nootens

Vice President

EngineeringNational

Michael Roberts

Vice President

DevelopmentMA

Robert Sslkovitz

Vice President

ConstructionSouthern CA
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Vice President

Finance and TreasurerNational
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Vice President

OperationsNations

Kevin Thompson

Vice President

MarketingNational

Matthew Whalen

Vice President

DevelopmentLong Island

Philip Wharton

Vice President

DevelopmentNY
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
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PART

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of

1933 and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Our actual results could differ materially from those

set forth in each forward-looking statement Certain factors that might cause such difference are discussed in this

report including in the section entitled Forward-Looking Statements included in this Form 10-K You should

also review Item Risk Factors for discussion of various risks that could adversely affect us

ITEM BUSINESS

General

AvalonBay Communities Inc the Company which term unless the context otherwise requires refers to

AvalonBay Communities Inc together with its subsidiaries is Maryland corporation that has elected to be treated

as real estate investment trust REIT for federal income tax purposes We engage in the development

redevelopment acquisition ownership and operation of multifamily communities in high barrier to entry markets of

the United States These barriers to entry generally include difficult and lengthy entitlement process with local

jurisdictions and dense urban or suburban areas where zoned and entitled land is in limited supply Our markets are

located in New England the New York/New Jersey metro area the Washington DC Metro area the Midwest the

Pacific Northwest and the Northern and Southern California regions of the United States We focus on these

markets because we believe that over the long-term limited new supply of apartment homes and lower housing

affordability in these markets will result in higher growth in cash flows relative to other markets

At January 31 2010 we owned or held direct or indirect ownership interest in

164 operating apartment communities containing 47631 apartment homes in ten states and the District of

Columbia of which 140 were consolidated communities containing 42108 apartment homes three

communities containing 983 apartment homes were held by joint ventures in which we own an interest and

21 communities containing 4540 apartment homes were owned by the Funds as defined below Seven of

the consolidated communities containing 2615 apartment homes were under redevelopment as discussed

below

seven communities under construction that are expected to contain an aggregate of 2438 apartment homes

when completed and

rights to develop an additional 28 communities that if developed in the manner expected will contain an

estimated 7180 apartment homes

We generally obtain ownership in an apartment community by developing new community on vacant land or by

acquiring an existing community In selecting sites for development or acquisition we favor locations that are near

expanding employment centers and convenient to transportation recreation areas entertainment shopping and

dining

Our consolidated real estate investments consist of the following reportable segments Established Communities

Other Stabilized Communities and Development/Redevelopment Communities Established Communities are

generally operating communities that were owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the

beginning of the prior year such that year-over-year comparisons are meaningful Other Stabilized Communities are

generally all other operating communities that have stabilized occupancy and operating expenses during the current

year but that had not achieved stabilization as of the beginning of the prior year such that year-over-year

comparisons are not meaningful as well as communities that are planned for disposition during the current year

Development/Redevelopment Communities consist of communities that are under construction communities where

substantial redevelopment is in
progress or is planned to begin during the current year

and communities under lease

up more detailed description of these segments and other related information can be found in Note Segment

Reporting of the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item of this report

Our principal financial goal is to increase long-term stockholder value through the development acquisition

operation and when appropriate disposition of apartments in our markets To help fulfill this goal we regularly

monitor our investment allocation by geographic market and product type ii develop redevelop and acquire an



interest in apartment communities in high barrier to entry markets with growing or high potential for demand and

high for-sale housing costs iii selectively sell apartment communities that no longer meet our long-term strategy

or when opportunities are presented to realize portion of the value created through our investment and redeploy

the proceeds from those sales and iv endeavor to maintain capital structure that is aligned with our business

risks with view to maintaining continuous access to cost-effective capital Our time-tested strategy is to be leaders

in customer insight market research and capital allocation delivering range
of multifamily offerings tailored to

serve the needs of the most attractive customer segments in the best-performing US submarkets substantial

majority of our current communities are upscale which generally command among the highest rents in their

markets However we also
pursue

the ownership and operation of apartment
communities that target variety of

customer segments and price points consistent with our goal of offering broad range of products and services

During the three years ended December 31 2009 excluding activity for the Funds as defined below we acquired

one apartment community This communitys financial results are consolidated for financial reporting purposes

During the same three-year period excluding dispositions in which we retained an ownership interest we disposed

of 19 apartment communities disposed of one investment in real estate joint venture and completed the

development of 30 apartment communities and the redevelopment of 10 apartment communities

During this period we also realized gains from the sale of community owned by AvalonBay Value Added Fund

L.P Fund an institutional discretionary investment fund which we manage and in which we own 15.2%

interest Fund acquired communities with the objective of either redeveloping or repositioning them or taking

advantage of market cycle timing and improved operating performance From its inception in March 2005 through

the close of its investment period in March 2008 Fund acquired 20 communities Fund sold one community in

2008

In September 2008 we formed AvalonBay Value Added Fund II L.P Fund II an additional institutional

discretionary investment fund which we manage and in which we currently own 31.3% interest After adding

additional equity commitments in the second quarter of 2009 total of five institutional investors and the Company

collectively committed $400000000 of which our commitment is $125000000 During 2009 Fund II acquired

two communities more detailed description of Fund and Fund II collectively the Funds and the related

investment activity can be found in the discussion under Item Business General Financing Strategy and

Note Investments in Real Estate Entities of the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this report

During 2009 we sold seven real estate assets resulting in gain in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles GAAP of $65946000

further discussion of our development redevelopment disposition acquisition property management and related

strategies follows



Development Strategy We select land for development and follow established procedures that we believe minimize

both the cost and the risks of development As one of the largest developers of multifamily rental apartment

communities in high barrier to entry markets of the United States we identif development opportunities through

local market presence and access to local market information achieved through our regional offices In addition to

our principal executive office in Alexandria Virginia we also maintain regional offices administrative offices or

specialty offices in or near the following cities

Boston Massachusetts

Chicago Illinois

Long Island New York

Los Angeles California

New York New York

Newport Beach California

San Francisco California

San Jose California

Seattle Washington

Shelton Connecticut

Virginia Beach Virginia and

Woodbridge New Jersey

We will be moving our principal executive office to Arlington Virginia by June 2010

After selecting target site we usually negotiate for the right to acquire the site either through an option or long-

term conditional contract Options and long-term conditional contracts generally allow us to acquire the target site

shortly before the start of construction which reduces development-related risks and preserves capital However as

result of competitive market conditions for land suitable for development we have sometimes acquired and held

land prior to construction for extended periods while entitlements are obtained or acquired land zoned for uses

other than residential with the potential for rezoning For further discussion of our Development Rights refer to

Item Communities in this report

We generally act as our own general contractor and construction manager except for certain mid-rise and high-rise

apartment communities where we may elect to use third-party general contractors or construction managers We

generally perform these functions directly although we may use wholly owned subsidiary both for ourselves and

for the joint ventures and partnerships of which we are member or partner We believe this enables us to achieve

higher construction quality greater control over construction schedules and significant cost savings Our

development property management and construction teams monitor construction progress to ensure quality

workmanship and smooth and timely transition into the leasing and operating phase

During periods where competition for development land is more intense we may acquire improved land with

existing commercial uses and rezone the site for multi-family residential use During the period that we hold these

buildings for future development the net revenue from these operations which we consider to be incidental is

accounted for as reduction in our investment in the development pursuit and not as net income We have also

participated and may in the future participate in master planned or other large multi-use developments where we

conimit to build infrastructure such as roads to be used by other participants or commit to act as construction

manager or general contractor in building structures or spaces for third parties such as municipal garages or parks
Costs we incur in connection with these activities may be accounted for as additional invested capital in the

community or we may earn fee income for providing these services Particularly with large scale urban in-fill

developments we may engage in significant environmental remediation efforts to prepare site for construction

Throughout this report the term development is used to refer to the entire property development cycle including

pursuit of zoning approvals procurement of architectural and engineering designs and the construction process

References to construction refer to the actual construction of the property which is only one element of the

development cycle

Redevelopment Strategy When we undertake the redevelopment of community our goal is to renovate and/or

rebuild an existing community so that our total investment is generally below replacement cost and the community

is well positioned in the market to achieve attractive returns on our capital We have established dedicated group



of associates and procedures to control both the cost and risks of redevelopment Our redevelopment teams which

include key redevelopment construction and property management personnel monitor redevelopment progress

We believe we achieve significant cost savings by acting as our own general contractor More importantly this

helps to ensure quality design and workmanship and smooth and timely transition into the lease-up and

restabilization phases

Throughout this report the term redevelopment is used to refer to the entire redevelopment cycle including

planning and procurement of architectural and engineering designs budgeting and actual renovation work The

actual renovation work is referred to as reconstruction which is only one element of the redevelopment cycle

Disposition Strategy We sell assets that no longer meet our long-term strategy or when market conditions are

favorable and we redeploy the proceeds from those sales to develop redevelop and acquire communities and to

rebalance our portfolio across or within geographic regions This also allows us to realize portion of the value

created through our investments and provides additional liquidity We are then able to redeploy the net proceeds

from our dispositions in lieu of raising that amount of capital externally When we decide to sell community we

solicit competing bids from unrelated parties for these individual assets and consider the sales price of each

proposal

Acquisition Strategy Our core competencies in development and redevelopment discussed above allow us to be

selective in the acquisitions we target Acquisitions allow us to achieve rapid penetration into markets in which we

desire an increased presence Acquisitions and dispositions also help us achieve our desired product mix or

rebalance our portfolio In September 2008 we formed Fund II which serves as the exclusive vehicle through

which we acquire additional investments in apartment communities until the earlier of September 2011 or until 90%

of its committed capital is invested subject to limited exceptions As of December 31 2009 Fund II had acquired

two communities

Property Management Strategy We seek to increase operating income through innovative proactive property

management that will result in higher revenue from communities while constraining operating expenses Our

principal strategies to maximize revenue include

strong focus on resident satisfaction

staggering lease terms such that lease expirations are better matched to traffic patterns

balancing high occupancy with premium pricing and increasing rents as market conditions permit and

managing community occupancy for optimal rental revenue levels

Constraining growth in operating expenses is another way in which we seek to increase earnings growth Growth in

our portfolio and the resulting increase in revenue allows for fixed operating costs to be spread over larger volume

of revenue thereby increasing operating margins We constrain growth in operating expenses in variety of ways
which include the following among others

we use purchase order controls acquiring goods and services from pre-approved vendors

we purchase supplies in bulk where possible

we bid third-party contracts on volume basis

we strive to retain residents through high levels of service in order to eliminate the cost of preparing an

apartment home for new resident and to reduce marketing and vacant apartment utility costs

we perform turnover work in-house or hire third parties generally depending upon the least costly

alternative

we undertake preventive maintenance regularly to maximize resident satisfaction and property and

equipment life and

we aggressively pursue
real estate tax appeals

On-site property management teams receive bonuses based largely upon the net operating income NOl produced

at their respective communities We use and continuously seek ways to improve technology applications to help

manage our communities believing that the accurate collection of financial and resident data will enable us to

maximize revenue and control costs through careful leasing decisions maintenance decisions and financial

management



We generally manage the operation and leasing activity of our communities directly although we may use wholly

owned subsidiary both for ourselves and the joint ventures and partnerships of which we are member or partner

From time to time we also pursue or arrange ancillary services for our residents to provide additional revenue

sources or increase resident satisfaction In general as REIT we cannot directly provide services to our tenants

that are not customarily provided by landlord nor can we share in the income of third party that provides such

services However we can provide such non-customary services to residents or share in the revenue from such

services if we do so through taxable REIT subsidiary which is subsidiary that is treated as corporation

and is therefore subject to federal income taxes

Financing Strategy We maintain capital structure that provides financial flexibility to ensure we can select cost

effective capital market options that are well matched to our business risks We estimate that our short-term

liquidity needs will be met from cash on hand borrowings under our $1000000000 revolving variable rate

unsecured credit facility the Credit Facility sales of current operating communities and/or issuance of additional

debt or equity securities determination to engage in an equity or debt offering depends on variety of factors

such as general market and economic conditions including interest rates our short and long-term liquidity needs

the adequacy of our expected liquidity sources the relative costs of debt and equity capital and growth

opportunities summary of debt and equity activity for the last three years is reflected on our Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows of the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item of this report

We have entered into and may continue in the future to enter into joint ventures including limited liability

companies or partnerships through which we would own an indirect economic interest of less than 100% of the

community or communities owned directly by such joint ventures Our decision whether to hold an apartment

community in fee simple or to have an indirect interest in the community through joint venture is based on

variety of factors and considerations including the economic and tax terms required by seller of land or of

community ii our desire to diversify our portfolio of communities by market submarket and product type iii

our desire at times to preserve our capital resources to maintain liquidity or balance sheet strength and iv our

projection in some circumstances that we will achieve higher returns on our invested capital or reduce our risk if

joint venture vehicle is used Investments in joint ventures are not limited to specified percentage of our assets

Each joint venture agreement is individually negotiated and our ability to operate and/or dispose of community in

our sole discretion may be limited to varying degrees depending on the terms of the joint venture agreement

From its inception in 2005 until the investment period closed in March 2008 Fund was the exclusive vehicle

through which we invested in the acquisition of apartment communities subject to certain exceptions In September

2008 we formed Fund II Fund II now serves as the exclusive vehicle through which we invest in the acquisition of

apartment communities subject to certain exceptions until the earlier of September 2011 or until 90% of its

committed capital is invested These exceptions include significant individual asset and portfolio acquisitions

properties acquired in tax-deferred transactions and acquisitions that are inadvisable or inappropriate for Fund II

Fund II does not restrict our development activities and will terminate after term often years subject to two one-

year extensions Fund II has equity commitments from five institutional investors who with the Company

collectively committed $400000000 of which our commitment is $125000000 significant portion of the

investments made in the Funds by investors have been or will be made through an entity that qualifies or that will

qualify as REIT and in which we also own an equity interest As of January 31 2010 Fund II has made two

investments for total of $104330000 invested In February 2010 Fund II purchased its third community for

purchase price of $31250000

In addition we may from time to time offer shares of our equity securities debt securities or options to purchase

stock in exchange for property

Other Strategies and Activities While we emphasize equity real estate investments in rental apartment

communities we have the ability to invest in other types of real estate mortgages including participating or

convertible mortgages securities of other REITs or real estate operating companies or securities of technology

companies that relate to our real estate operations or of companies that provide services to us or our residents in

each case consistent with our qualification as REIT In addition we own and lease retail space at our communities

when either the highest and best use of the space is for retail e.g street level in an urban area or ii we believe

the retail space will enhance the attractiveness of the community to residents As of December 31 2009 we had



total of 456260 square feet of rentable retail space excluding retail
space

within communities currently under

construction Gross rental revenue provided by leased retail space in 2009 was $8915000 1.0% of total revenue

If we secure development right and believe that its best use in whole or in part is to develop the real estate with

the intent to sell rather than hold the asset we may through taxable REIT subsidiary develop real estate for sale

At present through taxable REIT subsidiary that is 50% partner in Aria at Hathome LLC we have an economic

interest in the development of for-sale town homes that have total projected capital cost of $23621000 This for-

sale development is on site that is adjacent to our Avalon Danvers community and that is zoned for for-sale

development Any investment in securities of other entities and any development of real estate for sale is subject

to the percentage of ownership limitations gross income tests and other limitations that must be observed for REIT

qualification

We have not engaged in trading underwriting or agency distribution or sale of securities of other issuers and do not

intend to do so At all times we intend to make investments in manner so as to qualify as REIT unless because

of circumstances or changes to the Internal Revenue Code or the Treasury Regulations our Board of Directors

determines that it is no longer in our best interest to qualify as REIT

Tax Matters

We filed an election with our 1994 federal income tax return to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code

of 1986 the Code as amended and intend to maintain our qualification as REIT in the future As qualified

REIT with limited exceptions we will not be taxed under federal and certain state income tax laws at the corporate

level on our taxable net income to the extent taxable net income is distributed to our stockholders We expect to

make sufficient distributions to avoid income tax at the corporate level While we believe that we are organized and

qualified as REIT and we intend to operate in manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as REIT there

can be no assurance that we will be successful in this regard Qualification as REIT involves the application of

highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code for which there are limited judicial and

administrative interpretations and involves the determination of variety of factual matters and circumstances not

entirely within our control

Competition

We face competition from other real estate investors including insurance companies pension and investment funds

partnerships and investment companies and other REITs to acquire and develop apartment communities and

acquire land for future development As an owner and operator of apartment communities we also face

competition for prospective residents from other operators whose communities may be perceived to offer better

location or better amenities or whose rent may be perceived as better value given the quality location and

amenities that the resident seeks We also compete against condominiums and single-family homes that are for sale

or rent Although we often compete against large sophisticated developers and operators for development

opportunities and for prospective residents real estate developers and operators of any size can provide effective

competition for both real estate assets and potential residents

Environmental and Related Matters

As current or prior owner operator and developer of real estate we are subject to various federal state and local

environmental laws regulations and ordinances and also could be liable to third parties resulting from

environmental contamination or noncompliance at our communities For some development communities we

undertake extensive environmental remediation to prepare the site for construction which could be significant

portion of our total construction cost Environmental remediation efforts could expose us to possible liabilities for

accidents or improper handling of contaminated materials during construction These and other risks related to

environmental matters are described in more detail in Item Risk Factors

We believe that more government regulation of
energy use along with greater focus on environmental protection

may over time have significant impact on urban growth patterns If changes in zoning to encourage greater

density and proximity to mass transit do occur such changes could benefit multifamily housing and those

companies with competency in high-density development However there can be no assurance as to whether or



when such changes in regulations or zoning will occur or if they do occur whether the multifamily industry or the

Company will benefit from such changes

Other Information

We file annual quarterly and current reports proxy statements and other information with the SEC You may read

and copy any document we file at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C

20549 You may call the SEC at 1-202-551-8090 for further information on the operation of the Public Reference

Room Our SEC filings are also available to the public from the SECs website at www.sec.gov In addition you

may read our SEC fillings at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange NYSE which is located at 11 Wall

Street New York New York 10005 Our SEC filings are available at the NYSE because our common stock is

listed on the NYSE

We maintain website at www.avalonbay.com Our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q

current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge in the Investor Relations section of our website as soon as

reasonably practicable after the reports are filed with or furnished to the SEC In addition the charters of our

Boards Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Audit Committee and Compensation Committee as

well as our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Conduct are available free of charge in that section of

our website or by writing to AvalonBay Communities Inc 2900 Eisenhower Avenue Suite 300 Alexandria

Virginia 22314 Attention Chief Financial Officer To the extent required by the rules of the SEC and the NYSE
we will disclose amendments and waivers relating to these documents in the same place on our website

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of California in 1978 In 1995 we reincorporated in the State of

Maryland and have been focused on the ownership and operation of apartment communities since that time As of

January 31 2010 we had 1877 employees



ITEM la RISK FACTORS

Our operations involve various risks that could have adverse consequences including those described below This

Item la includes forward-looking statements You should refer to our discussion of the qualifications and

limitations on forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K

Development redevelopment and construction risks could afftct our profitability

We intend to continue to develop and redevelop apartment home communities These activities can include long

planning and entitlement timelines and can involve complex and costly activities including significant

environmental remediation or construction work in high-density urban areas These activities may be exposed to

the following risks

we may abandon opportunities that we have already begun to explore for number of reasons including

changes in local market conditions or increases in construction or financing costs and as result we may
fail to recover expenses already incurred in exploring those opportunities

occupancy rates and rents at community may fail to meet our original expectations for number of

reasons including changes in market and economic conditions beyond our control and the development by

competitors of competing communities

we may be unable to obtain or experience delays in obtaining necessary zoning occupancy or other

required governmental or third party permits and authorizations which could result in increased costs or

the delay or abandonment of opportunities

we may incur costs that exceed our original estimates due to increased material labor or other costs

occupancy rates and rents at community may fail to meet our expectations for number of reasons

including changes in market and economic conditions beyond our control and the development by

competitors of competing communities

we may be unable to complete construction and lease-up of community on schedule resulting in

increased construction and financing costs and decrease in expected rental revenues

we may be unable to obtain financing with favorable terms or at all for the proposed development of

community which may cause us to delay or abandon an opportunity

we may incur liabilities to third parties during the development process
for example in connection with

managing existing improvements on the site prior to tenant terminations and demolition such as

commercial space or in connection with providing services to third parties such as the construction of

shared infrastructure or other improvements and

we may incur liability if our communities are not constructed and operated in compliance with the

accessibility provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Acts the Fair Housing Act or other federal

state or local requirements Noncompliance could result in imposition of fines an award of damages to

private litigants and requirement that we undertake structural modifications to remedy the noncompliance

We are currently engaged in litigation alleging noncompliance with these statutes See Item Legal

Proceedings

We project construction costs based on market conditions at the time we prepare our budgets and our projections

include changes that we anticipate but cannot predict with certainty Construction costs may increase particularly

for labor and certain materials and for some of our Development Communities and Development Rights as

defined below the total construction costs may be higher than the original budget Total capitalized cost includes

all capitalized costs incurred and projected to be incurred to develop or redevelop community determined in

accordance with GAAP including

land andlor property acquisition costs

fees paid to secure air rights and/or tax abatements

construction or reconstruction costs

costs of environmental remediation

real estate taxes

capitalized interest



loan fees

permits

professional fees

allocated development or redevelopment overhead and

other regulatory fees

Costs to redevelop communities that have been acquired have in some cases exceeded our original estimates and

similar increases in costs may be experienced in the future We cannot assure you that market rents in effect at the

time new development or redevelopment communities complete lease-up will be sufficient to fully offset the effects

of any increased construction or reconstruction costs

Unfavorable changes in market and economic conditions could hurt occupancy rental rates operating

expenses and the overall market value of our assets including joint ventures and investments in the Funds

Local conditions in our markets significantly affect occupancy rental rates and the operating performance of our

communities The risks that may adversely affect conditions in those markets include the following

plant closings industry slowdowns and other factors that adversely affect the local economy

an oversupply of or reduced demand for apartment homes

decline in household formation or employment or lack of employment growth

the inability or unwillingness of residents to pay rent increases

rent control or rent stabilization laws or other laws regulating housing that could prevent us from raising

rents to offset increases in operating costs and

economic conditions that could cause an increase in our operating expenses such as increases in property

taxes utilities compensation of on-site associates and routine maintenance

Changes in applicable laws or noncompliance with applicable laws could adversely affect our operations or

expose us to liability

We must develop construct and operate our communities in compliance with numerous federal state and local laws

and regulations some of which may conflict with one another or be subject to limited judicial or regulatory

interpretations These laws and regulations may include zoning laws building codes landlord tenant laws and other

laws generally applicable to business operations Noncompliance with laws could expose us to liability

Lower revenue growth or significant unanticipated expenditures may result from our need to comply with changes

in laws imposing remediation requirements and the potential liability for environmental conditions existing on

properties or the restrictions on discharges or other conditions ii rent control or rent stabilization laws or other

residential landlordltenant laws or iii other governmental rules and regulations or enforcement policies affecting

the development use and operation of our communities including changes to building codes and fire and life-safety

codes

Short-term leases expose us to the effects of declining market rents

Substantially all of our apartment leases are for term of one year or less Because these leases generally permit the

residents to leave at the end of the lease term without penalty our rental revenues are impacted by declines in

market rents more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms

Competition could limit our ability to lease apartment homes or increase or maintain rents

Our apartment communities compete with other housing alternatives to attract residents including other rental

apartments condominiums and single-family homes that are available for rent as well as new and existing

condominiums and single-family homes for sale Competitive residential housing in particular area could

adversely affect our ability to lease apartment homes and to increase or maintain rental rates



Attractive investment opportunities may not be available which could adversely affrct our profitability

We expect that other real estate investors including insurance companies pension funds other REITs and other

well-capitalized investors will compete with us to acquire existing properties and to develop new properties This

competition could increase prices for properties of the type we would likely pursue and adversely affect our

profitability

Capital and credit market conditions may adversely affect our access to various sources of capital and/or the cost

of capital which could impact our business activities dividends earnings and common stock price among

other things

In periods when the capital and credit markets experience significant volatility the amounts sources and cost of

capital available to us may be adversely affected We primarily use external financing to fund construction and to

refinance indebtedness as it matures If sufficient sources of external financing are not available to us on cost

effective terms we could be forced to limit our development and redevelopment activity and/or take other actions to

fund our business activities and repayment of debt such as selling assets reducing our cash dividend or paying out

less than 100% of our taxable income To the extent that we are able and/or choose to access capital at higher

cost than we have experienced in recent years reflected in higher interest rates for debt financing or lower stock

price for equity financing our earnings per share and cash flows could be adversely affected In addition the price

of our common stock may fluctuate significantly and/or decline in high interest rate or volatile economic

environment We believe that the lenders under our Credit Facility will fulfill their lending obligations thereunder

but if economic conditions deteriorate there can be no assurance that the ability of those lenders to fulfill their

obligations would not be adversely impacted

Insufficient cash flow could affect our debt financing and create refinancing risk

We are subject to the risks associated with debt financing including the risk that our cash flow will be insufficient

to meet required payments of principal and interest In this regard we note that in order for us to continue to qualify

as REIT we are required to annually distribute dividends generally equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable

income computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain This requirement limits

the amount of our cash flow available to meet required principal and interest payments The principal outstanding

balance on portion of our debt will not be fully amortized prior to its maturity Although we may be able to repay

our debt by using our cash flows we cannot assure you that we will have sufficient cash flows available to make all

required principal payments Therefore we may need to refinance at least portion of our outstanding debt as it

matures There is risk that we may not be able to refinance existing debt or that refinancing will not be done on

as favorable terms either of which could have material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of

operations

Rising interest rates could increase interest costs and could affrct the market price of our common stock

We currently have and may in the future incur contractual variable interest rate debt as well as effective variable

interest rate debt achieved through the use of qualifying hedging relationships In addition we regularly seek access

to both fixed and variable rate debt financing to repay maturing debt and to finance our development and

redevelopment activity Accordingly if interest rates increase our interest costs will also rise unless we have made

arrangements that hedge the risk of rising interest rates In addition an increase in market interest rates may lead

purchasers of our common stock to demand greater annual dividend yield which could adversely affect the

market price of our common stock

Bond financing and zoning compliance requirements could limit our income restrict the use of communities

and cause favorable financing to become unavailable

We have financed some of our apartment communities with obligations issued by local government agencies

because the interest paid to the holders of this debt is generally exempt from federal income taxes and therefore

the interest rate is generally more favorable to us These obligations are commonly referred to as tax-exempt

bonds and generally must be secured by mortgages on our communities As condition to obtaining tax-exempt
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financing or on occasion as condition to obtaining favorable zoning in some jurisdictions we will commit to

make some of the apartments in community available to households whose income does not exceed certain

thresholds e.g 50% or 80% of area median income or who meet other qualifying tests As of December 31

2009 approximately 6.8% of our apartment homes at current operating communities were under income limitations

such as these These commitments which may run without expiration or may expire after period of time such as

15 or 20 years may limit our ability to raise rents and in consequence can also adversely affect the value of the

communities subject to these restrictions

In addition some of our tax-exempt bond financing documents require us to obtain guarantee from financial

institution of payment of the principal of and interest on the bonds The guarantee may take the form of letter of

credit surety bond guarantee agreement or other additional collateral If the financial institution defaults in its

guarantee obligations or if we are unable to renew the applicable guarantee or otherwise post satisfactory collateral

default will occur under the applicable tax-exempt bonds and the community could be foreclosed upon if we do

not redeem the bonds

Risks related to indebtedness

We have Credit Facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A and Wachovia Bank N.A serving together as

syndication agent and as banks Bank of America N.A serving as administrative agent swing lender issuing bank

and bank Morgan Stanley Bank Wells Fargo Bank N.A and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas serving

collectively as documentation agent and as banks and syndicate of other financial institutions serving as banks

Our organizational documents do not limit the amount or percentage of indebtedness that may be incurred

Accordingly subject to compliance with outstanding debt covenants we could incur more debt resulting in an

increased risk of default on our obligations and an increase in debt service requirements that could adversely affect

our financial condition and results of operations

The mortgages on those of our properties subject to secured debt our Credit Facility and the indenture under which

substantial portion of our debt was issued contain customary restrictions requirements and other limitations as

well as certain financial and operating covenants including maintenance of certain financial ratios Maintaining

compliance with these restrictions could limit our flexibility default in these requirements if uncured could

result in requirement that we repay indebtedness which could severely affect our liquidity and increase our

financing costs Refer to Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations for further discussion

Failure to generate sufficient revenue or other liquidity needs could limit cash flow available for distributions to

stockholders

decrease in rental revenue or other liquidity needs including the repayment of indebtedness or funding of our

development activities could have an adverse effect on our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders

Significant expenditures associated with each community such as debt service payments if any real estate taxes

insurance and maintenance costs are generally not reduced when circumstances cause reduction in income from

community

The form timing and/or amount of dividend distributions in future periods may vary and be impacted by

economic and other considerations

The form timing and/or amount of dividend distributions will be declared at the discretion of the Board of Directors

and will depend on actual cash from operations our financial condition capital requirements the annual

distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code and other factors as the Board of Directors may
consider relevant The Board of Directors may modify our dividend policy from time to time
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We may choose to pay dividends in our own stock in which case stockholders may be required to pay tax in

excess of the cash they receive

We may distribute taxable dividends that are payable in part in our stock as we did in the fourth quarter of 2008

Taxable stockholders receiving such dividends will be required to include the full amount of the dividend as income

to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for federal income tax purposes As result

U.S stockholder may be required to pay tax with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash received If U.S

stockholder sells the stock it receives as dividend in order to pay this tax the sales proceeds may be less than the

amount included in income with respect to the dividend depending on the market price of our stock at the time of

the sale Furthermore with respect to non-U.S stockholders we may be required to withhold U.S tax with respect

to such dividends including in respect of all or portion of such dividend that is payable in stock In addition the

trading price of our stock would experience downward pressure if significant number of our stockholders sell

shares of our stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividends

Debt financing may not be available and equity issuances could be dilutive to our stockholders

Our ability to execute our business strategy depends on our access to an appropriate blend of debt and equity

financing Debt financing may not be available in sufficient amounts or on favorable terms If we issue additional

equity securities the interests of existing stockholders could be diluted

Difficulty of selling apartment communities could limit flexibility

Federal tax laws may limit our ability to earn gain on the sale of community unless we own it through

subsidiary which will incur taxable gain upon sale if we are found to have held acquired or developed the

community primarily with the intent to resell the community and this limitation may affect our ability to sell

communities without adversely affecting returns to our stockholders In addition real estate in our markets can at

times be difficult to sell quickly at prices we find acceptable These potential difficulties in selling real estate in our

markets may limit our ability to change or reduce the apartment communities in our portfolio promptly in response

to changes in economic or other conditions

Acquisitions may not yield anticipated results

Subject to the requirements related to Fund II we may in the future acquire apartment
communities on select

basis Our acquisition activities and their success may be exposed to the following risks

an acquired property may fail to perform as we expected in analyzing our investment and

our estimate of the costs of repositioning or redeveloping an acquired property may prove inaccurate

Failure to succeed in new markets or in activities other than the development ownership and operation of

residential rental communities may have adverse consequences

We may from time to time commence development activity or make acquisitions outside of our existing market

areas if appropriate opportunities arise As noted above we also own and lease ancillary retail space when retail

component represents the best use of the space as is often the case with large urban in-fill developments Also as

noted above in Item Business through taxable REIT subsidiary that is joint venture partner we have

50% economic interest in for-sale development with total estimated capital cost at completion of $23621000

on site adjacent to one of our communities We may engage or have an interest in for-sale activity in the future

Our historical experience in our existing markets in developing owning and operating rental communities does not

ensure that we will be able to operate successfully in new markets should we choose to enter them or that we will

be successful in other activities We may be exposed to variety of risks if we choose to enter new markets

including an inability to accurately evaluate local apartment market conditions an inability to obtain land for

development or to identify appropriate acquisition opportunities an inability to hire and retain key personnel and

lack of familiarity with local governmental and permitting procedures We may be unsuccessful in owning and

leasing retail space at our communities or in developing real estate with the intent to sell
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Land we hold with no current intent to develop may be subject to future impairment charges

We own parcels of land that we do not currently intend to develop As discussed in Item Communities Other

Land and Real Estate Assets in the event that the fair market value of parcel changes such that the we determine

that the carrying basis of the parcel reflected in our financial statements is greater than the parcels then current fair

value less costs to dispose we would be subject to an impairment charge which would reduce our net income

Risks involved in real estate activity through joint ventures

Instead of acquiring or developing apartment communities directly at times we invest as partner or co-venturer

Joint venture investments including investments through partnerships or limited liability companies involve risks

including the possibility that our partner might become insolvent or otherwise refuse to make capital contributions

when due that we may be responsible to our partner for indemnifiable losses that our partner might at any time

have business goals which are inconsistent with ours and that our partner may be in position to take action or

withhold consent contrary to our instructions or requests Frequently we and our partner may each have the right

to trigger buy-sell arrangement which could cause us to sell our interest or acquire our partners interest at

time when we otherwise would not have initiated such transaction

Risks associated with an investment in and management of discretionary investment funds

We formed Fund which through wholly owned subsidiary we manage as the general partner and in which we
have invested approximately $50000000 at December 31 2009 representing our total capital commitment for an

equity interest of approximately 15% We have also formed Fund II which through wholly owned subsidiary we

manage as the general partner and to which we have committed $125000000 representing current equity interest

of approximately 31% We have invested approximately $17500000 at December 31 2009 in Fund II These

Funds present risks including the following

investors in Fund II may fail to make their capital contributions when due and as result Fund II may be

unable to execute its investment objectives

our subsidiaries that are the general partners of the Funds are generally liable under partnership law for

the debts and obligations of the respective Funds subject to certain exculpation and indemnification rights

pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement of the Funds

investors in the Funds holding majority of the partnership interests may remove us as the general partner

without cause subject to our right to receive an additional nine months of management fees after such

removal and our right to acquire one of the properties then held by the Funds

while we have broad discretion to manage the Funds and make investment decisions on behalf of the

Funds the investors or an advisory committee comprised of representatives of the investors must approve

certain matters and as result we may be unable to cause the Funds to make certain investments or

implement certain decisions that we consider beneficial

we can develop communities but have been generally prohibited from making acquisitions of apartment

communities outside of Fund II which is our exclusive investment vehicle until September 2011 or when

90% of Fund IIs capital is invested subject to certain exceptions and

we may be liable andlor our status as REIT may be jeopardized if either the Funds or the REITs through

which number of investors have invested in the Funds and which we manage fail to comply with various

tax or other regulatory matters

Risk of earthquake damage

As further described in Item 2. Communities Insurance and Risk of Uninsured Losses many of our West Coast

communities are located in the general vicinity of active earthquake faults We cannot assure you that an earthquake

would not cause damage or losses greater than insured levels In the event of loss in excess of insured limits we
could lose our capital invested in the affected community as well as anticipated future revenue from that

community We would also continue to be obligated to repay any mortgage indebtedness or other obligations

related to the community Any such loss could materially and adversely affect our business and our financial

condition and results of operations
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Insurance coverage
for earthquakes can be costly due to limited industry capacity As result we may experience

shortages in desired coverage levels if market conditions are such that insurance is not available or the cost of

insurance makes it in managements view economically impractical

significant uninsured property or liability loss could have material adverse effrct on our financial condition

and results of operations

In addition to the earthquake insurance discussed above we carry commercial general liability insurance property

insurance and terrorism insurance with respect to our communities on terms we consider commercially reasonable

There are however certain types of losses such as losses arising from acts of war that are not insured in full or in

part because they are either uninsurable or the cost of insurance makes it in managements view economically

impractical If an uninsured property loss or property loss in excess of insured limits were to occur we could lose

our capital invested in community as well as the anticipated future revenues from such community We would

also continue to be obligated to repay any mortgage indebtedness or other obligations related to the community If

an uninsured liability to third party were to occur we would incur the cost of defense and settlement with or

court ordered damages to that third party significant uninsured property or liability loss could materially and

adversely affect our business and our financial condition and results of operations

We may incur costs and increased expenses to repair property damage resulting from inclement weather

Particularly in New England and the Midwest we are exposed to risks associated with inclement winter weather

including increased costs for the removal of snow and ice as well as from delays in construction In addition

inclement weather could increase the need for maintenance and repair of our communities

We may incur costs due to environmental contamination or non-compliance

Under various federal state and local environmental and public health laws regulations and ordinances we may be

required regardless of knowledge or responsibility to investigate and remediate the effects of hazardous or toxic

substances or petroleum product releases at our properties including in some cases natural substances such as

methane and radon gas and may be held liable under these laws or common law to governmental entity or to third

parties for property personal injury or natural resources damages and for investigation and remediation costs

incurred as result of the contamination These damages and costs may be substantial and may exceed any

insurance coverage we have for such events The presence
of such substances or the failure to properly remediate

the contamination may adversely affect our ability to borrow against sell or rent the affected property

In addition some environmental laws create or allow government agency to impose lien on the contaminated

site in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs as result of the contamination

The development construction and operation of our communities are subject to regulations and permitting under

various federal state and local laws regulations and ordinances which regulate matters including wetlands

protection storm water runoff and wastewater discharge Noncompliance with such laws and regulations may

subject us to fines and penalties We do not currently anticipate that we will incur any material liabilities as result

of noncompliance with these laws

Certain federal state and local laws regulations and ordinances govern the removal encapsulation or disturbance

of asbestos containing materials ACMs when such materials are in poor condition or in the event of renovation

or demolition of building These laws and the common law may impose liability for release of ACMs and may

allow third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated with

exposure to ACMs We are not aware that any ACMs were used in the construction of the communities we

developed ACMs were however used in the construction of number of the communities that we acquired We

implement an operations and maintenance program at each of the communities at which ACMs are detected We

do not currently anticipate that we will incur any material liabilities as result of the presence of ACMs at our

communities
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We are aware that some of our communities have lead paint and have implemented an operations and maintenance

program at each of those communities We do not currently anticipate that we will incur any material liabilities as

result of the
presence

of lead paint at our communities

All of our stabilized operating communities and all of the communities that we are currently developing have been

subjected to at least Phase or similar environmental assessment which generally does not involve invasive

techniques such as soil or ground water sampling These assessments together with subsurface assessments

conducted on some properties have not revealed and we are not otherwise aware of any environmental conditions

that we believe would have material adverse effect on our business assets financial condition or results of

operations In connection with our ownership operation and development of communities from time to time we
undertake substantial remedial action in response to the presence of subsurface or other contaminants including

contaminants in soil groundwater and soil vapor beneath or affecting our buildings In some cases an indemnity

exists upon which we may be able to rely if environmental liability arises from the contamination or remediation

costs exceed estimates There can be no assurance however that all necessary remediation actions have been or

will be undertaken at our properties or that we will be indemnified in full or at all in the event that environmental

liability arises

Mold growth may occur when excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials particularly if

the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time Although the occurrence of

mold at multifamily and other structures and the need to remediate such mold is not new phenomenon there has

been increased awareness in recent years
that certain molds may in some instances lead to adverse health effects

including allergic or other reactions To help limit mold growth we educate residents about the importance of

adequate ventilation and request or require that they notif us when they see mold or excessive moisture We have

established procedures for promptly addressing and remediating mold or excessive moisture from apartment homes

when we become aware of its presence regardless of whether we or the resident believe health risk is presented

However we cannot provide assurance that mold or excessive moisture will be detected and remediated in timely

manner If significant mold problem arises at one of our communities we could be required to undertake costly

remediation program to contain or remove the mold from the affected community and could be exposed to other

liabilities that may exceed any applicable insurance coverage Our communities may also be affected by potential

vapor intrusion risks resulting from subsurface soil or groundwater contamination by volatile organic compounds
which may require investigation or remediation and could subject the Company to liability

Additionally we have occasionally been involved in developing managing leasing and operating various

properties for third parties Consequently we may be considered to have been an operator of such properties and

therefore potentially liable for removal or remediation costs or other potential costs which relate to the release or

presence of hazardous or toxic substances We are not aware of any material environmental liabilities with respect

to properties managed or developed by us or our predecessors for such third parties

We cannot assure you that

the environmental assessments described above have identified all potential environmental liabilities

no prior owner created any material environmental condition not known to us or the consultants who

prepared the assessments

no environmental liabilities have developed since the environmental assessments were prepared

the condition of land or operations in the vicinity of our communities such as the presence of underground

storage tanks will not affect the environmental condition of our communities

future uses or conditions including without limitation changes in applicable environmental laws and

regulations will not result in the imposition of environmental liability and

no environmental liabilities will arise at communities that we have sold for which we may have liability

Failure to qualjfy as REIT would cause us to be taxed as corporation which would signflcantly reduce

funds available for distribution to stockholders

If we fail to qua1if as REIT for federal income tax purposes we will be subject to federal income tax on our

taxable income at regular corporate rates subject to any applicable alternative minimum tax In addition unless we
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are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions we would be ineligible to make an election for treatment

as REIT for the four taxable years following the year
in which we lose our qualification The additional tax

liability resulting from the failure to qualify as REIT would significantly reduce or eliminate the amount of funds

available for distribution to our stockholders Furthermore we would no longer be required to make distributions to

our stockholders Thus our failure to qualify as REIT could also impair our ability to expand our business and

raise capital and would adversely affect the value of our common stock

We believe that we are organized and qualified as REIT and we intend to operate in manner that will allow us

to continue to qualif as REIT However we cannot assure you that we are qualified as REIT or that we will

remain qualified in the future This is because qualification as REIT involves the application of highly technical

and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code for which there are only limited judicial and administrative

interpretations and involves the determination of variety of factual matters and circumstances not entirely within

our control In addition future legislation new regulations administrative interpretations or court decisions may

significantly change the tax laws or the application of the tax laws with respect to qualification as REIT for

federal income tax purposes or the federal income tax consequences of this qualification

Even if we qualif as REIT we will be subject to certain federal state and local taxes on our income and property

and on taxable income that we do not distribute to our shareholders In addition we may engage in activities that

are not customarily provided by landlord through taxable subsidiaries and will be subject to federal income tax at

regular corporate rates on the income of those subsidiaries

The ability of our stockholders to control our policies and effect change of control of our company is limited by

certain provisions of our charter and bylaws and by Maryland law

There are provisions in our charter and bylaws that may discourage third party from making proposal to acquire

us even if some of our stockholders might consider the proposal to be in their best interests These provisions

include the following

Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors to issue up to 50000000 shares of preferred stock without

stockholder approval and to establish the preferences and rights including voting rights of any series of preferred

stock issued The Board of Directors may issue preferred stock without stockholder approval which could allow

the Board to issue one or more classes or series of preferred stock that could discourage or delay tender offer or

change in control

To maintain our qualification as REIT for federal income tax purposes not more than 50% in value of our

outstanding stock may be owned directly or indirectly by or for five or fewer individuals at any time during the

last half of any taxable year To maintain this qualification and/or to address other concerns about concentrations

of ownership of our stock our charter generally prohibits ownership directly indirectly by virtue of the attribution

provisions of the Code or beneficially as defined in Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act by any single

stockholder of more than 9.8% of the issued and outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock In general

under our charter pension plans and mutual funds may directly and beneficially own up to 15% of the outstanding

shares of any class or series of stock Under our charter our Board of Directors may in its sole discretion waive or

modif the ownership limit for one or more persons but is not required to do so even if such waiver would not

affect our qualification as REIT These ownership limits may prevent or delay change in control and as result

could adversely affect our stockholders ability to realize premium for their shares of common stock

Our bylaws provide that the affirmative vote of holders of majority of all of the shares entitled to be cast in the

election of directors is required to elect director In contested election if no nominee receives the vote of holders

of majority of all of the shares entitled to be cast the incumbent directors would remain in office This

requirement may prevent or delay change in control and as result could adversely affect our stockholders

ability to realize premium for their shares of common stock

As Maryland corporation we are subject to the provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law Maryland

law imposes restrictions on some business combinations and requires compliance with statutory procedures before

some mergers
and acquisitions may occur which may delay or prevent offers to acquire us or increase the difficulty
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of completing any offers even if they are in our stockholders best interests In addition other provisions of the

Maryland General Corporation Law permit the Board of Directors to make elections and to take actions without

stockholder approval such as classifing our Board such that the entire Board is not up for reelection annually

that if made or taken could have the effect of discouraging or delaying change in control

ITEM lb UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM COMMUNITIES

Our real estate investments consist primarily of current operating apartment communities communities in various

stages of development Development Communities and Development Rights as defined below Our current

operating communities are further distinguished as Established Communities Other Stabilized Communities Lease-

Up Communities and Redevelopment Communities The following is description of each category

Current Communities are categorized as Established Other Stabilized Lease-Up or

Redevelopment according to the following attributes

Established Communities also known as Same Store Communities are consolidated

communities where comparison of operating results from the prior year to the

current year is meaningful as these communities were owned and had stabilized

occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior year For the year

ended December 31 2009 the Established Communities are communities that are

consolidated for financial reporting purposes had stabilized occupancy and

operating expenses as of January 2008 are not conducting or planning to conduct

substantial redevelopment activities and are not held for sale or planned for

disposition within the current year community is considered to have stabilized

occupancy at the earlier of attainment of 95% physical occupancy or ii the one-

year anniversary of completion of development or redevelopment

Other Stabilized Communities includes all other completed communities that we

own or have direct or indirect ownership interest in and that have stabilized

occupancy as defined above Other Stabilized Communities do not include

communities that are conducting or planning to conduct substantial redevelopment

activities within the current year

Lease-Up Communities are communities where construction has been complete for

less than one year
and where physical occupancy has not reached 95%

Redevelopment Communities are communities where substantial redevelopment is in

progress or is planned to begin during the current year For communities that we

wholly own redevelopment is considered substantial when capital invested during

the reconstruction effort is expected to exceed the lesser of $5000000 or 10% of the

communitys acquisition cost The definition of substantial redevelopment may
differ for communities owned through joint venture arrangement or by one of the

Funds

Development Communities are communities that are under construction and for which

certificate of occupancy has not been received for the entire community These communities may
be partially complete and operating

Development Rights are development opportunities in the early phase of the development process
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for which we either have an option to acquire land or enter into leasehold interest for which we

are the buyer under long-term conditional contract to purchase land or where we own land to

develop new community We capitalize related pre-development costs incurred in pursuit of

new developments for which we currently believe future development is probable

In addition we own approximately 60000 square
feet of office space in Alexandria Virginia for our corporate

office with all other regional and administrative offices leased under operating leases In the third quarter of 2009

we entered into ten-year operating lease for approximately 50744 square feet of office space
in Arlington

Virginia which will serve as the location for our corporate office by the end of the second quarter 2010 We are

exploring alternatives to lease or sell the office space in Alexandria Virginia

As of December 31 2009 communities that we owned or held direct or indirect interest in were classified as

follows

Number of Number of

communities anrtment homes

Cuff ent Communities

Established Communities

New England 22 5359

MelroNY/NJ 18 5895

Mid-Atlantic/Midwest 15 6088

Pacific Northwest 1943

Northern California 15 4432

Southern California 12 3679

Total Established 90 27396

Other Stabilized Communities

New England 12 3334

Metro NY/NJ 11 3241

Mid-Atlantic/Midwest 13 3616

Pacific Northwest 1021

Northern California 11 2989

Southern California 10 1718

Total Other Stabilized 61 15919

Lease-Up Communities 1996

Redevelopment Communities 2615

Total Current Communities 165 47926

Development Communities 2438

Development Rights 28 7180

Our holdings under each of the above categories are discussed on the following pages

Current Communities

Our Current Communities are primarily garden-style apartment communities consisting of two and three-story

buildings in landscaped settings As of January 31 2010 these include 113 garden-style of which 15 are mixed

communities andlor include town homes 22 high-rise and 29 mid-rise apartment communities

Our communities offer variety of quality amenities and features including

gourmet kitchens

lofts and vaulted ceilings

walk-in closets

fireplaces

patios/decks and
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modem appliances

Other features at various communities may include

swimming pools

fitness centers

tennis courts and

wi-fl lounges

We also have an extensive and ongoing maintenance program to continually maintain and enhance our communities

and apartment homes The aesthetic appeal of our communities and service-oriented property management team
focused on the specific needs of residents enhances market appeal to discriminating residents We believe our

mission of Enhancing the Lives of our Residents helps us achieve higher rental rates and occupancy levels while

minimizing resident turnover and operating expenses

Our Current Communities are located in the following geographic markets

Number of Number of apartment Peitentage of total

communities at homes at apartment homes at

1-31-09 1-31-10 1-31-09 1-31-10 1-31.09 1-31-10

New England 36 36 9077 9132 19.9% 19.2%

Boston MA 24 25 6460 6683 14.2% 14.0%

Fairfield County CT 12 11 2617 2449 5.7% 5.2%

Metro NY/NJ 31 32 9353 10255 20.4% 21.5%

Long Island NY 1732 1732 3.8% 3.6%

NorthernNewJersey 1618 1618 3.5% 3.4%

CentralNewJersey 2258 2258 4.9% 4.7%

NewYorkNY 12 15 3745 4647 8.2% 9.8%

Mid-Atlanfic/Mldwest 30 27 9213 9409 20.2% 19.8%

Washington DC 24 22 7661 8152 16.8% 17.1%

Chicago IL 1552 1257 3.4% 2.7%

Pacific Northwest 11 12 2746 2964 6.0% 6.2%

Seattle WA 11 12 2746 2964 6.0% 6.2%

Northern California 32 32 8879 9160 19.4% 19.2%

Oakland-East Bay CA 2394 2833 5.2% 5.9%

SanFranciscoCA 11 12 2489 2749 5.4% 5.8%

SanJoseCA 13 11 3996 3578 8.8% 7.5%

Southern California 24 25 6460 6711 14.1% 14.1%
Los Angeles CA 12 12 3345 3345 7.3% 7.0%

Orange CountyCA 1896 2147 4.1% 4.5%
San Diego CA 1219 1219 2.7% 2.6%

164 164 45728 47631 100.0% 100.0%

We manage and operate substantially all of our Current Communities During the year ended December 31 2009
we completed construction of 2526 apartment homes in nine communities and sold 1037 apartment homes in five

communities The average age
of our Current Communities on weighted average basis according to number of

apartment homes is 14.3 years When adjusted to reflect redevelopment activity as if redevelopment were new
construction completion date the average ge of our Current Communities is 9.2 years

Of the Current Communities as of January 31 2010 we own

full fee simple or absolute ownership interest in 124 operating communities ten of which are on land

subject to land leases expiring in October 2026 November 2028 July 2029 December 2034 July 2062
December 2073 April 2095 September 2105 and March 2142

general partnership interest in three partnerships that each own fee simple interest in an operating

community
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general partnership interest and an indirect limited partnership interest in both Fund and Fund II

Subsidiaries of Fund own fee simple interest in 19 operating communities and subsidiaries of Fund II

own fee simple interest in two operating communities

general partnership
interest in two partnerships structured as DownREITs as described more fully

below that own an aggregate of nine communities

membership interest in six limited liability companies that each hold fee simple interest in an operating

community two of which are on land subject to land leases expiring in September 2044 and November

2089 and

residual profits interest with no ownership interest in limited liability company to which an operating

community was transferred upon completion of construction in the second quarter of 2006

For some communities land lease is used to support tax advantaged structures that ultimately allow us to purchase

the land upon lease expiration We have options to purchase the underlying land for the leases that expire in October

2026 November 2028 July 2029 December 2034 April 2095 and March 2142 We also hold directly or through

wholly owned subsidiaries the full fee simple ownership interest in the seven Development Communities all of

which are currently consolidated for financial reporting purposes
and two of which are subject to land leases

expiring in May 2105 and April 2106

In our two partnerships structured as DownREITs either AvalonBay or one of our wholly owned subsidiaries is the

general partner and there are one or more limited partners whose interest in the partnership
is represented by units

of limited partnership interest For each DownREIT partnership
limited partners are entitled to receive an initial

distribution before any distribution is made to the general partner Although the partnership agreements for each of

the DownREITs are different generally the distributions per unit paid to the holders of units of limited partnership

interests have approximated our current conmion stock dividend amount The holders of units of limited

partnership interest have the right to present
all or some of their units for redemption for cash amount as

determined by the applicable partnership agreement and based on the fair value of our common stock In lieu of

cash redemption by the partnership we may elect to acquire any unit presented for redemption for one share of our

common stock or for such cash amount As of January 31 2010 there were 15351 DownREIT partnership units

outstanding The DownREIT partnerships are consolidated for financial reporting purposes
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Development Communities

As of December 31 2009 we had seven Development Communities under construction We expect these

Development Communities when completed to add total of 2438 apartment homes to our portfolio for total

capitalized cost including land acquisition costs of approximately $813300000 You should carefully review

Item la Risk Factors for discussion of the risks associated with development activity and our discussion under

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further

discussion of our 2010 outlook for development activity

The following table presents suminary
of the Development Communities We hold direct or indirect fee simple

ownership interest in these communities except where noted

Total

Number of
capitalized

apartment cost Construction Initial Estimated Estimated

homes millions start occupancy completion stabilization

Avalon Irvine 279 77.4 Q42007 Q2 2009 Qi 2010 Q3 2010

frvine CA

Avalon Fort Greene 631 306.8 Q4 2007 Q4 2009 QI 2011 Q3 2011

New York NY

Avalon Walnut Creek 422 151.7 Q3 2008 Q2 2010 QI 2011 Q3 2011

Walnut Creek CA

Avalon Norwalk 311 86.4 Q3 2008 Q2 2010 Q2 2011 Q4 2011

Norwalk CT

Avalon Towers Bellevue 396 126.1 Q4 2008 Q2 2010 Q2 2011 Q4 2011

Bellevue WA

AvalonNorthbomughll 219 36.3 Q42009 Q2 2010 Ql 2011 Q32011

Northborough MA

Avalon at West Long Branch 180 28.6 Q4 2009 Q3 2010 QI 2011 Q3 2011

West LongBranch NJ

Total 2438 813.3

Total
capitalized cost includes all capitalized costs projected to be or actually incurred to develop the respective Development Community

determined in accordance with GAAP including land acquisition costs construction costs real estate taxes capitalized interest and loan fees

permits professional fees allocated development overhead and other
regulatory fees Total capitalized cost for communities identified as

having joint venture ownership either during construction or upon construction completion represents
the total

projected joint venture

contribution amount

Future initial occupancy dates are estimates There can be no assurance that we will pursue to completion any or all of these proposed

developments

Stabilized
operations

is defined as the earlier of attainment of 95% or greater physical occupancy or ii the one-year anniversary of

completion of development

This community is being financed in
part by third party tax-exempt debt

Redevelopment Communities

As of December 31 2009 we had seven consolidated communities under redevelopment We expect the total

capitalized cost to redevelop these communities to be $118400000 excluding costs prior to redevelopment We
have found that the cost to redevelop an existing apartment community is more difficult to budget and estimate than

the cost to develop new community Accordingly we expect that actual costs may vary from our budget by

wider range than for new development community We cannot assure you that we will meet our schedule for

reconstruction completion or restabilized operations or that we will meet our budgeted costs either individually or

in the aggregate We anticipate increasing our redevelopment activity related to communities owned by the Funds

as well as communities in our current operating portfolio You should carefully review Item Ia Risk Factors for

discussion of the risks associated with redevelopment activity
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The following presents summary of these Redevelopment Communities

Total cost

Number of millions Estimated Estimated

apartment Pre-redevelopment Total capitalized
Reconstruction reconstruction restabilized

homes cost Cost start completion operatiorLs

Avalon Woodland Hills 663 72.1 110.6 Q4 2007 Q2 2010 Q4 2010

Woodland Hills CA

AvalonatDiamondHeights 154 25.3 30.6 Q4 2007 Q4 2010 Q2 2011

San Francisco CA

AvalonButhank 400 71.0 94.4 Q3 2008 Q3 2010 Qi 2011

Burbank CA

AvalonPleasanton 456 63.0 80.9 Q2 2009 Q4 2011 Q2 2012

Pleasanton CA

AvalonWatch 512 30.2 49.9 Q22009 Ql2012 Q32012

West Wfrzdsor NJ

AvalonatCedarRidge 195 27.7 33.8 Q3 2009 QI 2011 Q3 2011

Daly City
CA

AvalonatWillowcreek 235 36.5 44.0 Q4 2009 Ql 2011 Q3 2011

Fremont CA

Total 2615 325.8 444.2

Total capitalized cost includes all capitalized costs projected to be or actually
incurred to redevelop the respective Redevelopment

Community including land acquisition costs construction costs real estate taxes capitalized interest and loan fees permits

professional fees allocated development overhead and other regulatory fees all as determined in accordance with GAAP

Restabilized operations is defined as the earlier of attainment of 95% or greater physical occupancy or iithe one-year anniversary

of completion of redevelopment

Development Rights

As of December 31 2009 we are evaluating the future development of 28 new apartment
communities on land that

is either owned by us under contract subject to leasehold interest or for which we hold either purchase or lease

option We generally prefer to hold Development Rights through options to acquire land although for 14 of the

Development Rights we currently own the land on which community would be built if we proceeded with

development The Development Rights range from those beginning design and architectural planning to those that

have completed site plans and drawings and can begin construction almost immediately We estimate that the

successful completion of all of these communities would ultimately add 7180 apartment
homes to our portfolio

Substantially all of these apartment homes will offer features like those offered by the communities we currently

own At December 31 2009 there were cumulative capitalized costs including legal fees design fees and related

overhead costs but excluding land costs of $87763000 relating to Development Rights In addition land costs

related to the pursuit of Development Rights consisting of original land and additional carrying costs of

$237095000 are reflected as land held for development as of December 31 2009 on the Consolidated Balance

Sheet of the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item of this report In addition we control certain land

that is held for development under 99-year land lease agreement with future minimum obligations of

approximately $6500000 per year

The properties comprising the Development Rights are in different stages of the due diligence and regulatory

approval process
The decisions as to which of the Development Rights to invest in if any or to continue to pursue

once an investment in Development Right is made are business judgments that we make after we perform

financial demographic and other analyses In the event that we do not proceed with Development Right we

generally would not recover capitalized costs incurred in the pursuit of those communities unless we were to

recover amounts in connection with the sale of land however we cannot guarantee recovery Initial development

costs incurred for pursuits for which future development is not yet considered probable are expensed as incurred In

addition if the status of Development Right changes making future development no longer probable any

capitalized pre-development costs are charged to expense During 2009 we incurred charge of approximately

$5842000 of pre-development cost for development rights that were not yet probable of future development at the
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time incurred or for pursuits that we determined would not likely be developed We also incurred charge of

$21152000 on three land parcels that were held for development that we do not currently intend to develop

You should carefully review Section la Risk Factors for discussion of the risks associated with Development

Rights

The table below presents summary of these Development Rights

Total

Estimated capitalized

number cost

Location of homes millions

RockvilleCentreNYPhasej 210 78

Greenburgh NY Phase II 288 77

Seattle WA 204 58

Lynnwood WA Phase II 82 18

Plymouth MA Phase II 92 20

Wilton CT 100 30

Wood-Ridge NJ Phase 266 60

San Francisco CA 173 65

New York NY 691 307

10 Boston MA 180 97

11 Rockville Centre NY Phase 11 139 51

12 Shelton CT 251 66

13 RoselleParlçNJ 249 54

14 GarslenCityNY 160 51

15 Wood-RidgeNJPhaseII 140 32

16 Brooklyn NY 861 443

17 Rockville MD 239 57

18 AndoverMA 115 26

19 Huntington Station NY 424 100

20 North BergenNJ 164 47

21 Dublin CA Phase 11 487 145

22 Seattle WAIl 272 81

23 CohassetM_A 200 38

24 Stratford CT 130 22

25 Tysons Corner VA 338 87

26 Greenburgh NY Phase III 156 43

27 Yaphank NY 343 57

28 HackensackNJ 226 48

Total 7.180 2258

Total capitalized Cost includes all capitalized Costs incurred to date if any and projected to be incurred to develop the respective

community determined in accordance with GAAP including land acquisition Costs construction costs real estate taxes capitalized
interest and loan fees permits professional fees allocated development overhead and other regulatory fees
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Land Acquisitions

We select land for development and follow established procedures that we believe minimize both the cost and the

risks of development During 2009 we acquired the following two land parcels for development for an aggregate

purchase price of approximately $11951000

Estimated Total

number capitalized

Gross of apartment cost Date

acres homes millions acquired

AvalonNorthbomughll
8.3 219 36 Februaiy2009

Northborough M4

Avalon Willoughby West 4.2 861 443 September 2009

New York NY

Total 12.5 1080 479

Total capitalized cost includes all capitalized costs incurred to date if any and projected to be incurred to develop the respective

community determined in accordance with GAAP including land acquisition costs construction costs real estate taxes capitalized

interest and loan fees permits professional fees allocated development overhead and other regulatory fees

This represents portion of the aggregate land purchase that we will transact under non-cancelable commitment related to this

expected development as discussed in Note Commitments and Contingencies of the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth

in Item of this report

Other Land and Real Estate Assets

At December 31 2009 we own land that we do not currently intend to develop with an aggregate carrying basis

under GAAP of $96356000 We believe that the current carrying basis of these assets is such that there is no

charge for impairment or further charge in the case of assets previously impaired However we may be subject to

the recognition of further impairment charges in the event that there are indicators of such impairment and we

determine that the carrying basis of the assets is greater
than the current fair value less costs to dispose

Recent Disposition Activity

We sell assets that do not meet our long-term investment strategy or when capital and real estate markets allow

us to realize portion of the value created over the past business cycle and ii redeploy the proceeds from those

sales to develop redevelop and acquire communities Pending such redeployment we will generally use the

proceeds
from the sale of these communities to reduce amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility On occasion

we will set aside the proceeds from the sale of communities into cash escrow account to facilitate non-taxable

like-kind exchange transaction From January 2009 to January 31 2010 we sold our interest in six wholly

owned communities containing 1332 apartment homes The aggregate gross
sales price for these assets was

$225125000

Insurance and Risk of Uninsured Losses

We carry commercial general liability insurance and property insurance with respect to all of our communities

These policies and other insurance policies we carry have policy specifications
insured limits and deductibles that

we consider commercially reasonable There are however certain types
of losses such as losses arising from acts

of war that are not insured in full or in part
because they are either uninsurable or the cost of insurance makes it

in managements view economically impractical You should carefully review the discussion under Item la Risk

Factors of this Form 10-K for discussion of risks associated with an uninsured property or liability loss

Many of our West Coast communities are located in the general vicinity of active earthquake faults Many of our

communities are near and thus susceptible to the major fault lines in California including the San Andreas Fault

and the Hayward Fault We cannot assure you that an earthquake would not cause damage or losses greater than
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insured levels We have in place with respect to communities located in California and Washington for any single

occurrence and in the aggregate $75000000 of coverage Earthquake coverage outside of California and

Washington is subject to $100000000 limit each occurrence and in the aggregate In California the deductible

each occurrence is five percent of the insured value of each damaged building Our earthquake insurance outside of

California provides for $100000 deductible per occurrence except that the next $350000 of loss per occurrence

outside California will be treated as an additional self-insured retention until the total incurred self-insured retention

exceeds $1400000

On December 31 2009 we elected to cancel and rewrite our property insurance policy for 16 month term in order

to take advantage of updated earthquake loss projections and declining insurance premium rates As result our

property insurance premium decreased by approximately 24% with no material changes in coverage We expect to

renew this policy when it expires on May 2011

In August 2009 we renewed our general liability policy and workers compensation coverage for one year term

and experienced decrease in the premium on these policies of approximately 25% with no material changes in the

coverage These policies are in effect until August 2010

Just as with office buildings transportation systems and government buildings there have been reports that

apartment communities could become targets of terrorism In December 2007 Congress passed the Terrorism Risk

Insurance Program Reauthorization Act TRIPRA which is designed to make terrorism insurance available

through federal back-stop program until 2014 In connection with this legislation we have purchased insurance

for property damage due to terrorism up to $250000000 Additionally we have purchased insurance for certain

terrorist acts not covered under TRIPRA such as domestic-based terrorism This insurance often referred to as

non-certified terrorism insurance is subject to deductibles limits and exclusions Our general liability policy

provides TRIPRA coverage subject to deductibles and insured limits for liability to third parties that result from

terrorist acts at our communities

An additional consideration for insurance coverage and potential uninsured losses is mold growth Mold growth

may occur when excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials particularly if the moisture

problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of time If significant mold problem arises at one

of our communities we could be required to undertake costly remediation program to contain or remove the mold

from the affected community and could be exposed to other liabilities For further discussion of the risks and the

Companys related prevention and remediation activities please refer to the discussion under Item Risk

Factors We may incur costs due to environmental contamination or non-compliance elsewhere in this report We

cannot provide assurance that we will have coverage under our existing policies for property damage or liability to

third parties arising as result of exposure to mold or claim of exposure to mold at one of our communities

We also carry crime policies also commonly referred to as fidelity policy or employee dishonesty policy that

protect the Company up to $5000000 per occurrence from employee theft of money securities or property

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As previously reported we are involved in litigation alleging that communities constructed by us violate the

accessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act FHA and the Americans with Disabilities Act The Equal

Rights Center ERC filed complaint against us on September 23 2005 in the U.S District Court District of

Maryland with respect to 100 properties In November 2009 we settled this litigation by entering into court

approved consent decree Under the consent decree we will inspect and if necessary remediate up to 8250

apartment units and related public and common areas at our communities We expect that the remediation resulting

from the inspections which should occur over approximately four year period will enhance andlor extend the

useful life of the applicable communities and will therefore be capitalized Although we will not be able to

determine the exact remediation or associated costs until inspections are completed we do not believe that the

remediation costs will be material to the Company
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On August 13 2008 the U.S Attorneys Office for the Southern District of New York filed civil lawsuit against

the Company and the joint venture CVP LLC in which it has an interest that owns Avalon Chrystie Place The

lawsuit alleges that Avalon Chrystie Place was not designed and constructed in accordance with the accessibility

requirements of the FHA The Company designed and constructed Avalon Chrystie Place with view to compliance

with New York Citys Local Law 58 which for more than 20 years has been New York Citys code regulating the

accessible design and construction of apartments After the filing of its answer and affirmative defenses during the

fourth quarter of 2009 the plaintiff served the Company with discovery requests relating to communities owned by

the Company nationwide The Company objected to these discovery requests as being overly broad as the plaintiffs

complaint made factual allegations with regard to Avalon Chrystie Place only magistrate judge agreed with the

Company and limited discovery to Avalon Chrystie Place The plaintiff is appealing the magistrate judges ruling

Due to the preliminary nature of the Department of Justice matter including whether the scope of their suit will be

extended to other properties we cannot predict or determine the outcome of that matter nor is it reasonably possible

to estimate the amount of loss if any that would be associated with an adverse decision or settlement

On August 2008 we filed lawsuit in the Superior Court of the State of Washington in the County of King

Avalon DownREIT L.P Grand-Glacier LLC et relating to our assertion that the homeowners association

in which our former Avalon Wynhaven community is part systematically overcharged us for various shared costs

We sold this property in 2008 and agreed to indemnify the buyer for annual association fees to the extent they

exceed an amount that we each agreed was reasonable The defendants have filed cross-claim against Avalon

DownREIT L.P seeking foreclosure of the property and satisfaction of all amounts alleged to be due We intend

to vigorously pursue our claim and defend against the counter claim We are negotiating settlement of this

litigation on terms that are not material to the Companys operations or financial condition but we cannot predict if

or when we will settle this litigation or the terms of final judgment or settlement

In addition to the matters described above we are involved in various other claims andlor administrative

proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business While no assurances can be given we do not believe

that any of these other outstanding litigation matters individually or in the aggregate will have material adverse

effect on our operations

ITEM IRESERVEDI
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol AVB The following table sets forth the

quarterly high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for the years 2009 and 2008 as reported by the

NYSE On January 31 2010 there were 648 holders of record of an aggregate of 81546465 shares of our

outstanding common stock The number of holders does not include individuals or entities who beneficially own
shares but whose shares are held of record by broker or clearing agency but does include each such broker or

clearing agency as one record holder

2009 2008

Sales Price Dividends Sales Price Dividends

High Low declared High Low declared

QuarterendedMarch3l 61.87 35.38 0.8925 105.98 79.78 $0.8925

Quarter ended June 30 66.71 45.48 0.8925 107.37 87.65 $0.8925

QuarterendedSeptember3o 78.75 49.98 0.8925 109.45 82.97 $0.8925

Quarter ended December31 87.79 66.91 0.8925 96.68 41.43 $27000

At present we expect to continue our policy of paying regular quarterly cash dividends However the form timing

and/or amount of dividend distributions will be declared at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend

on actual cash from operations our financial condition capital requirements the annual distribution requirements

under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and other factors as the Board of Directors may consider

relevant The Board of Directors may modify our dividend policy from time to time

Dividends declared for the quarter ended December 31 2008 included special dividend declared in December

2008 of $1 .8075 per share the Special Dividend in conjunction with the fourth quarter 2008 regular dividend of

$0.8925 per
share These dividends were paid in cash and common shares The Special Dividend was declared to

distribute portion of the excess income attributable to gains on asset sales from the Companys disposition

activities during 2008 The Special Dividend was declared to qualify for the dividends paid deduction for tax

purposes
and minimize corporate level income taxes for 2008 and reduce federal excise taxes

In February 2010 we announced that our Board of Directors declared dividend on our common stock for the first

quarter of 2010 of $0.8925 per share The dividend will be payable on April 15 2010 to all common stockholders

as of March 31 2010
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Maximum Dollar Amount

Average Price Shares Purchased that May Yet be Purchased

Period
Total Number of Paid per as Part of Publicly Under the Plans or

Shares Purchased Share Announced Plans Programs

or Programs in thousands

Month Ended -- -- -- $200000

October 31 2009

Month Ended -- -- -- $200000

November 30 2009

Month Ended 180 $86.59 -- $200000

December 31 2009

Includes shares surrendered to the Company in connection with employee stock option exercises or

vesting of restricted stock as payment of exercise price or as payment of taxes

As disclosed in our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008 represents amounts outstanding

under the Companys $500000000 Stock Repurchase Program There is no scheduled expiration date

to this program

Information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is included in the section

entitled Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters in

this Form 10-K
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table provides historical consolidated financial operating and other data for the Company You

should read the table with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes included in this report dollars

in thousands except per share information

Revenue

Rental and other income

Management development and other fees

Expenses

Operating expenses excluding property taxes

Property taxes

Interest expense net

Gain loss on extinguishment of debt net

Depreciation expense

General and administrative expense

Impairment loss land holdings

Total expenses

Equity
in income of unconsolidated entities

Gain on sale of land

Income from
continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations

Gain on sale of communities

Total discontinued operations

Net income

Net income loss attributable to redeemable noncontrollmg interests

Net income attributable to the Company

Dividends attributable to preferred stock

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Per Common Share and Share Information

Earnings per common share basic

Income from continuing operations attributable to common

stockholders net of dividends attributable to preferred stock

Discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Weighted average shares oatstanding basic

Earnings per common share diluted

Income from continuing operatiom attributable to common

stockholders net of dividends attributable to preferred stock

Discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

844254 807.656 721644 633674 578444

7328 6568 6142 6259 4304

851582 814224 727786 639933 582748

261752 248862 222332 196349 178819

83809 73937 67240 59500 57819

150323 114910 92175 103910 120670

25910 1839 -- -- --

209746 183748 157895 139075 136409

28.748 42781 28.494 24767 25761

21152 57899 -- -- --

781440 720298 568136 523601 519478

1441 4566 59169 7455 7198

4830 -- 545 13519 4479

76413 98492 219364 137306 74947

13974 27353 33894 32402 41715

63887 284901 106487 97411 195287

77.861 312254 140381 129813 237002

154274 410746 359745 267119 311949

1373 741 1585 573 1481

155647 411487 358160 266546 310468

-- 10454 8700 8700 8700

155647 401033 349460 257846 301768

0.96 1.15 2.62 1.69 0.87

0.97 4.02 1.76 1.73 3.18

1.93 5.17 4.38 3.42 4.05

80599657 77578852 79856927 75586898 74759318

Cash dividends declared 3.57 3.57 3.40 3.12 2.84

Amounts include anvested restricted shares Please refer to Note Organization and Basis of Presentation Earnings per Common Share

of the Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in Item of this
report

for discussion of the calculation of Earnings per
Share

Weighted average common shares outstanding diluted for 2008 includes the impact of approximately 2.6 million common shares issued under the special dividend

declared on December 172008

Does not inclade the special dividend of$l .8075 per share which was declared on December 17 2008 and paid in the form of shares of the Companys common stock

Total revenue

0.97 1.15 2.65 1.73 0.88

0.97 4.06 1.78 1.74 3.24

1.94 5.21 4.43 3.47 4.12

79951348 76783515 78680043 74125795 72952492
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For the year ended
_______________

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07 12-31-04 12-31-05

Other Information

Net income attributable to the Ccanpany 155647 411487 358160 266546 310468

Depreciation continuing operations 209746 183746 157895 139075 136409

Depreciation discontinued operations 8540 15704 23830 25054 26888

Interest expense net continuing operations 176233 113071 92175 103910 120670

Interest expense net discontinued operations
681 3297 6057 7136 6428

EBITDA2 550847 727307 638117 541721 600863

Funds from Operations 31324 315947 368057 320199 271096

Number of Cunent Communities 165 164 163 150 143

Numberofapartmenthomes 47926 45728 45932 43141 41412

Balance Sheet Information

Real estate before accumulated depreciation 8360091 8092487 7556740 6615593 5940146

Total assets 7457605 7174353 6736484 5848507 5198598

Notes peyable and unsecured credit facilities 3974872 3674457 3208202 2866433 2334017

Cash Flow Information

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 378600 386855 454874 351660 306248

Net cash flowsused in investing activities 333559 266309 809247 51 1371 19761

Net cash flows used in provided by financing activities 4285 75111 366.360 162280 282293

Notes to Selected Financial Data

Interest expense net includes any loss or gain incurred from the extinguishment of debt

EBITDA is defined as net income before interest income and expense income taxes depreciation and

amortization from both continuing and discontinued operations Under this definition EBITDA includes

gains on sale of assets and gain on sale of partnership interests Management generally considers EBITDA

to be an appropriate supplemental measure to net income of our operating performance because it helps

investors to understand our ability to incur and service debt and to make capital expenditures EBITDA

should not be considered as an alternative to net income as determined in accordance with GAAP as an

indicator of our operating performance or to cash flows from operating activities as determined in

accordance with GAAP as measure of liquidity Our calculation of EBITDA may not be comparable to

EBITDA as calculated by other companies

We generally consider Funds from Operations or FF0 as defined below to be an appropriate

supplemental measure of our operating and financial performance because by excluding gains or losses

related to dispositions of previously depreciated property
and excluding real estate depreciation which can

vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful

life estimates FF0 can help one compare the operating performance of real estate company between

periods or as compared to different companies We believe that in order to understand our operating

results FF0 should be examined with net income as presented in the Consolidated Statements of

Operations and Other Comprehensive Income included elsewhere in this report

Consistent with the definition adopted by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate

Investment Trusts NAREIT we calculate FF0 as net income or loss computed in accordance with

GAAP adjusted for

gains or losses on sales of previously depreciated operating communities

extraordinary gains or losses as defined by GAAP
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

depreciation of real estate assets and

adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures

FF0 does not represent net income in accordance with GAAP and therefore it should not be considered an

alternative to net income which remains the primary measure as an indication of our performance In

addition FF0 as calculated by other REITs may not be comparable to our calculation of FF0
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FF0 also does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and

therefore should not be considered an alternative to net cash flows from operating activities as determined

by GAAP as measure of liquidity Additionally it is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund

cash needs presentation of GAAP based cash flow metrics is provided in Cash Flow Information in

the table on the previous page

The following is reconciliation of net income to FF0 dollars in thousands except per
share data

Net income attritstable to the Compai
Dividends attrilistable to preferred stock

Depreciation real estate assets

including discontinued operations and

joint venture adjustments

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

including discontinued operations

Gain on sale of unconsolidated entities

holding previously depreciated real

estate assets

Gain on sale of previously depreciated

real estate assets

Funds from Operations

attributable to common stockholders

Weighted average
slres outstanding diluted

FF0
per

cranmon share diluted

Fec the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07 12-31-06 12-31-05

155647 411487 358160 266546 310468

10454 8700 8700 8700

221415 203082 184731 165982 163252

66 216 280 391 1363

3483 59927 6609

63887 284901 106487 97411 195287

313241 315947 368057 320199 271096

80599657 77578852 79856927 75586898 74759318

3.89 4.07 4.61 4.24 3.63

Current Communities consist of all communities other than those which are still under construction and

have not received certificate of occupancy

37



ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations MDA is intended to

help provide an understanding of our business and results of operations This MDA should be read in conjunction

with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

included elsewhere in this report This report including the following MDA contains forward-looking statements

regarding future events or trends that should be read in conjunction with the factors described under Forward-

Looking Statements included in this report In addition our actual results or developments could differ materially

from those projected in such forward-looking statements as result of the factors discussed under Forward-

Looking Statements as well as the risk factors described in Item Risk Factors of this report

Executive Overview

Business Description

We are primarily engaged in developing acquiring owning and operating apartment communities in high barrier to

entry markets of the United States We believe that apartment communities are an attractive long-term investment

opportunity compared to other real estate investments because broad potential resident base should help reduce

demand volatility over real estate cycle However throughout the real estate cycle apartment market

fundamentals and therefore operating cash flows are affected by overall economic conditions We seek to create

long-term shareholder value by accessing capital on cost effective terms deploying that capital to develop

redevelop and acquire apartment communities in high barrier to entry markets operating apartment communities

and selling communities when they no longer meet our long-term investment strategy or when pricing is attractive

Barriers to entry in our markets generally include difficult and lengthy entitlement
process

with local jurisdictions

and dense urban or suburban areas where zoned and entitled land is in limited supply

We regularly evaluate the allocation of our investments by the amount of invested capital and by product type

within our individual markets which are located in New England the New York/New Jersey metro area the Mid-

Atlantic the Midwest the Pacific Northwest and the Northern and Southern California regions of the United States

Our time-tested strategy is to be leaders in customer insight market research and capital allocation delivering

range of multifamily offerings tailored to serve the needs of the most attractive customer segments in the best-

performing US submarkets Our communities are predominately upscale which generally command among the

highest rents in their markets However we also pursue the ownership and operation of apartment communities that

target variety of customer segments and price points consistent with our goal of offering broad range of

products and services

Financial Highlights and Outlook

For the
year

ended December 31 2009 net income available to common stockholders was $155647000 compared

to $401033000 for 2008 decrease of 61.2% The decrease is primarily due to the reduced number of

communities sold and amount of gains related to these sales in 2009 as compared to the prior year coupled with the

loss recognized on the tender offer completed in October 2009 offset somewhat by decrease in charges for land

impairments and abandoned pursuit costs Detail of the impacts for the land impairments abandoned pursuits as

well as the charge for the tender offer and certain other non-routine items is provided in the following table
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Non-Routine Items

Decrease Increase in Net Income and FF0

dollars in thousands

Full Year Full Year

2008 2009

Land impairments 57899 21152

Abandonedpursuitsl 6611 1139

Severance and related Costs 3400 4500

Federal excise tax 3200 515

Gain loss on unsecured notes repurehase 1839 25910

Gain on sale of land 4830
Joint venture income adjustment 1294

Legal settlement proceeds net 1175
Preferred stock deferred

offering expenses 3566

Fund II organizational costs 1209

Total non-routine items
74046 45917

Weighted Average Dilutive

Shares Outstanding 77578852 80599657

For purpexes of non-mutine classification abandoned pursuits includes costs we expensed

for individual pursuits in excess of$ lt00 in givun qualta

Includes our posmoted intorest of $3894 in joint venture and our pro rata portion of an

impairmrsrt charge on community in an unconsolidated joint venture of $2600

Apartment fundamentals continued to be challenged during 2009 Job losses exceeded our expectations during the

year resulting in more than expected downward
pressure on rental revenue Our Established Community portfolio

experienced decline in year-over-year rental revenue of 3.7% comprised of decrease in rental rates of 3.1% and

in economic occupancy of 0.6% This decrease in revenues and an increase in operating expenses resulted in

decline in our Established Community portfolio NOl of 7.1% in 2009 from the prior year

We expect Earnings per share diluted EPS will decrease to $1.73 for 2010 from $1.93 in 2009 driven

primarily by decline in revenue and NO from our Established Communities in 2010 as compared to the prior

year The recession coupled with the short term nature of apartment leases continues to adversely impact current

operating fundamentals The expected decline in our 2010 NO is attributable largely to the effect of job losses

experienced during the past two years Employment is leading demand driver and we expect continued weak

employment conditions to contribute to revenue declines in 2010 The impact of job losses on our results for 2010

may be somewhat offset by the expected continued weakness in the for-sale housing market during 2010 ii

growth in those age groups
that have historically demonstrated higher propensity to rent and iii constrained

levels of new supply Our current financial outlook for 2010 provides for decline in rental revenue of between

3.0% and 4.5% in our Established Community portfolio resulting in projected NOl decline for our Established

Communities of 5.0% to 7.0%

We were again active in the capital markets in 2009 raising in excess of $1700000000 through the issuance of

secured and unsecured debt assets sales sales of common equity in the public markets and capital commitments for

Fund II We have used the proceeds received to fund our development and redevelopment activities to acquire an

indirect interest in assets through Fund to repay higher cost secured and unsecured debt and to repay floating

rate debt while retaining substantial cash balances for general corporate purposes Our focus on raising capital

includes consideration for managing the maturity risk associated with our secured and unsecured debt obligations

Our 2009 activity includes the issuance of over $800000000 of secured financing and $500000000 of unsecured

notes in September 2009 in two $250000000 tranches one maturing in 2017 and the second maturing in 2020

portion of the proceeds was used to repurchase $310100000 principal amount of some or all of the amounts

outstanding on unsecured notes maturing over the next three years effectively extending the duration of debt

maturities while reducing interest costs We believe that our relatively modest level of secured and unsecured debt

will continue to provide financial flexibility to access capital on attractive terms

39



The funds raised from dispositions consist of the proceeds from the sale of five communities for gross sales price

of $179675000 We anticipate our level of disposition activity will be consistent in 2010 within the range of gross

sales of $180000000 to $200000000 occurring primarily during the first half of the year

During 2009 we completed the development of nine communities for an aggregate total capitalized cost of

$810700000 We started the development of two communities which are expected to be completed for an

estimated total capitalized cost of $64900000

We expect an increase in investor demand for quality multifamily assets due in part to the increased liquidity in the

capital markets and constrained supply resulting from the decline in development activity in all markets While we

reduced our level of development during 2009 in response to the general deterioration in real estate and capital

market conditions we believe that our development activity will continue to create long-term value During 2010

we expect to use our core competency in development to deliver new assets into the market for recovery in

apartment
fundamentals that we expect in 2011 and 2012 We anticipate new development starts in 2010 with total

projected capitalized cost of $380000000 Consistent with this view we also expect to increase redevelopment

activity for our wholly owned communities in 2010 during which we expect to start redevelopment of seven wholly

owned communities

During 2010 we expect to disburse approximately $500000000 related to the seven communities under

development at December 31 2009 the new development starts and anticipated acquisitions of land for future

development We expect approximately $50000000 of the projected 2010 disbursements will be funded from cash

in escrow related to previously sourced tax-exempt debt We believe that our current level of indebtedness our

current ability to service interest and other fixed charges and our current limited use of financial encumbrances

such as secured financing will provide adequate access to the capital necessary to fund our development and

redevelopment activities during 2010 We expect to meet our liquidity needs from the issuance of corporate

securities which could include unsecured debt and/or common and preferred equity and secured debt as well as

from disposition proceeds joint ventures or from retained cash We believe that the current market provides for an

opportunity to perform certain scheduled maintenance and repositioning activities at attractive costs due to

continued decline in costs for construction materials and labor

We increase our direct and indirect interests in communities through development and acquisitions While we grow

principally through our demonstrated core competency of developing wholly owned assets from capital sources we

also acquire interests in additional assets primarily through our investment in Fund II

Fund is discretionary investment fund with nine institutional investors including us One of our wholly owned

subsidiaries is the general partner of Fund and has invested approximately $50000000 in Fund representing

15.2% combined general partner and limited partner equity interest Fund was our principal vehicle for acquiring

apartment communities through the close of its investment period in March 2008 Subsidiaries of Fund have 21

loans secured by individual assets with amounts outstanding in the aggregate of $436410000 with varying maturity

dates or dates after which the loans can be prepaid without penalty ranging from October 2011 to September

2016 These mortgage loans are secured by the underlying real estate

Fund II is second discretionary investment fund with six institutional investors including us One of our wholly

owned subsidiaries is the general partner of Fund II Fund II was formed in August 2008 and in the second quarter

of 2009 we added equity commitments for Fund II resulting in total equity commitments from five institutional

investors and us of $400000000 of which our commitment is $125000000 Total equity commitments to Fund II

in the second quarter of 2009 increased by $67000000 as result of the following

new institutional investor made an equity commitment of $75000000

an existing institutional investor increased its commitment by $17000000 based on terms of its existing

commitment and

we decreased our commitment by $25000000 to $125000000 based on terms of our existing

commitment decreasing our equity interest to approximately 31%
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Fund II can employ leverage of up to 65% allowing for total investment capacity of approximately

$1100000000 and has term that expires in August 2018 plus two one-year extension options Fund II now

serves as the exclusive vehicle through which we will acquire investment interests in apartment communities until

August 2011 or if earlier until 90% of the conmitted capital of Fund II is invested subject to limited exceptions

Fund II will not include or involve our development activities We will receive in addition to any returns on our

invested equity asset management fees property management fees and redevelopment fees We will also receive

promoted interest if certain return thresholds are met

In 2009 Fund II acquired two communities Avalon Bellevue Park 220 apartment-home community located in

Bellevue Washington and The Hermitage 491 apartment-home community located in Fairfax Virginia Fund II

has invested $104330000 as of December 31 2009 Fund II has one loan secured by an asset in the amount of

$21515000 with maturity of June 2019 This loan is payable by Fund II As of December 31 2009 Fund II also

has $30200000 outstanding under credit facility that matures in December 2010

In February 2010 Fund II acquired its third community 203 apartment-home community located in Gaithersburg

Maryland

Communities Overview

Our real estate investments consist primarily of current operating apartment communities Development

Communities and Development Rights Our current operating communities are further distinguished as Established

Communities Other Stabilized Communities Lease-Up Communities and Redevelopment Communities

Established Communities are generally operating communities that are consolidated for financial reporting purposes

and were owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior year which

allows the performance of these communities and the markets in which they are located to be compared and

monitored between years Other Stabilized Communities are generally all other consolidated operating communities

that have stabilized occupancy and operating expenses during the current year but had not achieved stabilization as

of the beginning of the prior year Lease-Up Communities consist of communities where construction is complete

but stabilization has not been achieved Redevelopment Communities consist of communities where substantial

redevelopment is in progress or is planned to begin during the current year more detailed description of our

reportable segments and other related operating information can be found in Note Segment Reporting of our

Consolidated Financial Statements

Although each of these categories is important to our business we generally evaluate overall operating industry and

market trends based on the operating results of Established Communities for which detailed discussion can be

found in Results of Operations as part of our discussion of overall operating results We evaluate our current and

future cash needs and future operating potential based on acquisition disposition development redevelopment and

financing activities within Other Stabilized Redevelopment and Development Communities Discussions related to

these segments of our business can be found in Liquidity and Capital Resources

NOl of our current operating communities is one of the financial measures that we use to evaluate community

performance NOl is affected by the demand and supply dynamics within our markets our rental rates and

occupancy levels and our ability to control operating costs Our overall financial performance is also impacted by

the general availability and cost of capital and the performance of newly developed and acquired apartment

communities

As of December 31 2009 we owned or held direct or indirect ownership interest in 172 apartment communities

containing 50364 apartment homes in ten states and the District of Columbia of which seven communities were

under construction and seven communities were under reconstruction Of these communities 24 were owned by

entities that were not consolidated for financial reporting purposes including 19 owned by subsidiaries of Fund

and two owned by subsidiaries of Fund II In addition we owned direct or indirect ownership interest in

Development Rights to develop an additional 28 wholly owned communities that if developed in the manner

expected will contain an estimated 7180 apartment homes

41



Results of Operations

Our year-over-year operating performance is primarily affected by both overall and individual geographic market

conditions and apartment fundamentals and reflected in changes in NO of our Established Communities NOl

derived from acquisitions and development completions the loss of NO related to disposed communities and

capital market and financing activity comparison of our operating results for 2009 2008 and 2007 follows

dollars in thousands

2809 2008 Change Clmnge 2008 2007 Change Change

Reverase

Rental mel other income 844254 807656 36598 4.5% 807656 721644 86012 119%

Munagementdevelopmentandotherfees 7328 6568 760 11.6% 6568 6142 426 6.9%

Total revenue 851582 814224 37358 4.6% 814224 727786 86438 11.9%

Expenses

Direct property operating expenses

excludingpropeetytaxes 214507 191690 22817 11.9% 191690 171968 19722 11.5%

Propertytaxes 83809 73937 9872 13.4% 73937 67240 6697 10.0%

Total community operating expenses 298316 265627 32689 12.3% 265627 239208 26419 11.0%

Corporate-level property management

aeri other indirect operating expenses 37559 39874 2315 5.8% 39874 38627 1247 3.2%

Investments and investment management expense 3844 4787 943 19.7% 4787 4763 24 0.5%

Expensed development and other pursuit costs 5842 12511 6669 53.3% 12511 6974 5537 79.4%

Interest expense nat 150323 114910 35413 30.8% 114910 92175 22735 24.7%

Gain loss on extinguishment of debt net 25910 1839 27749 508.9% 1839 -- 1839 N/A

Depeeciaticn expense 209746 183748 25998 14.1% 183748 157895 25853 16.4%

Genaralandadministrativeexpense 28748 42781 14033 32.8% 42781 28494 14287 50.1%

Impeirmentloss 21152 57899 36747 63.5% 57899 -- 57899 N/A

Gainonsaleofland 4830 4830 N/A 545 545 100.0%

Total other
expenses

478294 454671 23623 5.2% 454671 328383 126288 38.5%

Equity in incomeofunconsolidated entities 1441 4566 3125 68.4% 4566 59169 54603 92.3%

Income from continuing opemlions 76413 98492 22079 22.4% 98492 219364 120872 55.1%

Discontinnad operations

Income fromdiscontimied operaticass 13974 27353 13379 48.9% 27353 33894 6541 19.3%

Gain on sale of communities 63887 284901 221014 77.6% 284901 106487 178414 167.5%

Total discoutintmdopemtions 77861 312254 234393 75.1% 312254 140381 171873 122.4%

Netincome 154274 410746 256472 62.4% 410746 359745 51001 14.2%

Net income loss attributable to redeemable

noncontrolling interests 1373 741 632 85.3% 741 1585 2326 146.8%

Net incomeattnbutable to the Company 155647 411487 255840 62.2% 411487 358160 53327 14.9%

Dividends attributable to preferred steck -- 10454 10454 lOO.P/o 10454 8700 1754 20.2%

Net income attributable to connnon stockholders 155647 401033 245386 61.2% 401033 349460 51573 14.8%

Net income attributable to common stockholders decreased $245386000 or 61.2% to $155647000 in 2009

primarily due to the reduced number of communities sold and amount of gains related to these sales in 2009 as

compared to the prior year and the loss recognized on the early repurchase of debt completed in October 2009 The

overall decline in net income was mitigated by reduction in charges for land impairments and abandoned pursuit

costs between years Net income attributable to common stockholders increased $51573000 or 14.8% in 2008 over

the prior year period due primarily to gains from the sale of communities and year-over-year
increases in

community operating performance partially offset by charges associated with land impairments and abandoned

pursuits as well as increased costs for interest and depreciation

NOl is considered by management to be an important and appropriate supplemental performance measure to net

income because it helps both investors and management to understand the core operations of community or

communities prior to the allocation of any corporate-level or financing-related costs NO reflects the operating

performance of community and allows for an easy comparison of the operating performance of individual assets

or groups of assets In addition because prospective buyers of real estate have different financing and overhead

structures with varying marginal impacts to overhead by acquiring real estate NO is considered by many in the

real estate industry to he useful measure for determining the value of real estate asset or group of assets We

define NO as total property revenue less direct property operating expenses including property taxes

NO does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP Therefore NOI should

not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our performance NO should also not be

considered an alternative to net cash flow from operating activities as determined by GAAP as measure of
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liquidity nor is NOl necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs

Reconciliations of NO for the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 to net income for each year are as

follows dollars in thousands

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

Net income 154274 410746 359745

Indirect operating expenses net of corporate income 30315 33010 31285

Investments and investment management expense 3844 4787 4763

Expensed development and other pursuit costs 5842 12511 6974

Interest expense net 150323 114910 92175

Gain loss on extinguishment of debt net 25910 1839
General and administmtive expense 28748 42781 28494

Equity in income of unconsolidated entities 1441 4566 59169
Depreciation expense 209746 183748 157895

Impaiiment lnss land holdings 21152 57899

Gain on sale ofreal estate assets 68717 284901 107032

Income fmm discontinued operations 13974 27353 33894

Net operating income 546022 541733 481236

The NOl increases for both 2009 and 2008 as compared to the prior year period consist of changes in the

following categories dollars in thousands

Full Year Full Year

2009 2008

Established Communities 29707 19160

Other Stabilized Communities 14228 44722

Development and Redevelopment Communities 19768 3385

Total 4289 60497

The NO decrease in Established Communities in 2009 is due to the rental revenue declines as result of the job

losses experienced in 2008 and 2009 coupled with increases in community operating expenses During 2009 we
focused on minimizingrental rate declines while maintaining occupancy of at least 94% in all regions

We anticipate that rental rates and occupancy levels will decline in 2010 such that overall rental revenue will

decline between 3.0% and 4.5% The projected revenue decline is due to our expectation of continued job losses at

least through the second quarter of 2010 Expense growth also impacts growth in NO and we continue to monitor

and manage operating expenses to constrain expense growth We expect operating expenses to be flat in 2010 from

prior year levels As result we expect NOl for our Established Communities to decline between 5.0% and 7.0%

These projections are based on our outlook for employment conditions and apartment market fundamentals in 2010

both nationally and in the markets where we operate as well as the individual demand/supply characteristics of each

submarket in which we operate There can be no assurance that our outlook for economic conditions and/or their

impact on our operating results will be accurate and actual results could differ materially Please see Risk Factors

Forward-Looking Statements and other discussions in this report on Form 10-K for discussion of factors which

could affect our results of operations

Rental and other income increased in 2009 as compared to the prior year due to additional rental income generated

from newly developed communities offset somewhat by decreased rental rates and occupancy for our Established

Communities Rental and other income increased in 2008 as compared to the prior year due to increased rental rates

and occupancy for our Established Communities coupled with additional rental income generated from newly

developed communities
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Overall Portfolio The weighted average number of occupied apartment homes increased to 38233

apartment homes for 2009 as compared to 37886 homes for 2008 and 38436 homes for 2007 The

increase in 2009 over 2008 is due to homes available from newly developed communities offset partially

by communities sold during 2009 as well as declining occupancy levels due to the economic slow down

The weighted average monthly revenue per occupied apartment home decreased to $1910 for 2009 as

compared to $1921 in 2008 and $1767 in 2007

Established Conm-iunities Rental revenue decreased $22370000 or 3.7% for 2009 and increased

$18221000 or 3.1% for 2008 The decrease in 2009 from 2008 is due primarily to lower rental rates

For 2009 the weighted average monthly revenue per occupied apartment
home decreased 3.1% to $1869

compared to $1929 in 2008 There was slight change in
year-over-year average economic occupancy for

2009 down 0.6% to 95.6% compared to 96.2% in 2008 The increase in rental revenue in 2008 over the

prior year is due entirely to increased average rental rates Economic occupancy takes into account the fact

that apartment homes of different sizes and locations within community have different economic impacts

on communitys gross revenue Economic occupancy is defined as gross potential revenue less vacancy

loss as percentage of gross potential revenue Gross potential revenue is determined by valuing occupied

homes at leased rates and vacant homes at market rents

We experienced decreases in Established Communities rental revenue in all six of our regions for 2009 as

compared to the prior year period as discussed in more detail below

The Metro New York/New Jersey region which accounted for approximately 26% of Established

Community rental revenue for 2009 experienced decrease in rental revenue of 4.3% for 2009 as

compared to 2008 Average rental rates decreased 4.1% to $2288 and economic occupancy decreased

0.2% to 95.9% for 2009 as compared to 2008 During 2009 the trend of weakening rental market

conditions in both New York City and surrounding suburban markets resulting from the recession is

reflected in the declining rental rates in the second half of 2009 The challenges facing the financial

services industry drive the regions current expectation for job growth which is expected to lag the U.S

average and our other markets

The Mid-Atlantic/Midwest region which represented approximately 21% of Established Community rental

revenue during 2009 experienced decrease in rental revenue of 0.6% as compared to 2008 Average

rental rates decreased by 0.7% to $1729 while economic occupancy increased by 0.1% from 96.4% to

96.5% for 2009 as compared to 2008 This region continues to benefit from the impact of government and

government services employment which has served to stabilize the economy relative to other regions

The New England region accounted for approximately 21% of the Established Community rental revenue

for 2009 and experienced rental revenue decrease of 4.0% over the prior year Average rental rates

decreased 2.9% to $1984 and economic occupancy decreased 1.1% to 95.2% for 2009 as compared to

2008 Given the significance of the financial services industry in the Boston metro area as well as the

impact of New York trends on Fairfield-New Haven we expect the job recovery to be slow

Northern California accounted for approximately 17% of the Established Community rental revenue for

2009 and experienced rental revenue decrease of 4.7% over the prior year Average rental rates decreased

4.1% to $1923 and economic occupancy decreased by 0.6% to 96.2% for 2009 as compared to 2008 The

regions employment base with its above-average exposure to high-technology industries can result in

greater volatility in rental revenue changes relative to other regions

Southern California accounted for approximately 11% of the Established Community rental revenue for

2009 and experienced rental revenue decrease of 5.0% over the prior year Average rental rates decreased

3.8% to $1509 and economic occupancy decreased by 1.2% to 94.1% for 2009 as compared to 2008

The Pacific Northwest region accounted for approximately 5% of the Established Community rental

revenue for 2009 and experienced rental revenue decrease of 5.0% over the prior year Average rental

rates decreased 3.7% to $1282 and economic occupancy decreased by 1.3% to 94.2% for 2009 as
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compared to 2008 The Pacific Northwest also has large presence
of technology based employment

contributing factor to the greater degree of volatility in rental rates We believe recovery in apartment

fundamentals in the Pacific Northwest is likely to lag other AvalonBay regions given an increased level of

housing supply in many submarkets

In accordance with GAAP cash concessions are amortized as an offset to rental revenue over the approximate lease

term which is generally one year As supplemental measure we also present rental revenue with concessions

stated on cash basis to help investors evaluate the impact of both current and historical concessions on GAAP

based rental revenue and to more readily enable comparisons to revenue as reported by other companies Rental

revenue with concessions stated on cash basis also allows investors to understand historical trends in cash

concessions as well as current rental market conditions

The following table reconciles total rental revenue in conformity with GAAP to total rental revenue adjusted to state

concessions on cash basis for our Established Communities for the years 2009 and 2008 dollars in thousands

Information for the year ended December 31 2007 is not presented as Established Community classification is not

comparable prior to January 2008 See Note Segment Reporting of our Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08

Rental revenue GAAP basis 587752 610122

Concessions amortized 8000 6771

Concessions granted 6361 8004

Rental revenue a4justed to state

concessions ona cash 1sis 589391 608889

Year-over-year %change-- GAAP revenue 3.7% n/a

Year-over-year change-- cash concession based revenue 3.2% n/a

Management development and other fees increased $760000 or 11.6% in 2009 and increased $426000 or 6.9%

in 2008 The increase in 2009 was due primarily to increased asset and property management fees from Fund II

The increase in 2008 was due primarily to increased redevelopment fees and property management fees as

additional communities were acquired by subsidiaries of Fund

Direct property operating expenses excluding properly taxes increased $22817000 or 11.9% in 2009 and

increased $19722000 or 11.5% for 2008 as compared to the prior year periods primarily due to the addition of

recently developed apartment homes coupled with increased administrative expense due primarily to increases in

bad debt
expense

due to the recession

For Established Communities direct property operating expenses excluding property taxes increased $6411000

or 4.8% to $139955000 for 2009 and $328000 or 0.2% to $133544000 for 2008 due primarily to increased

administrative and community maintenance related costs offset partially by decrease in insurance and utility

related expenses The increases in administrative expense are primarily due to increased bad debt

Property taxes increased $9872000 or 13.4% and $6697000 or 10.0% in 2009 and 2008 respectively due to the

addition of newly developed and redeveloped apartment
homes and overall higher assessments Property tax

increases are also impacted by the size and timing of successful tax appeals

For Established Communities property taxes increased by $1242000 or 2.1% and $3515000 or 6.2% for 2009

and 2008 respectively over the prior year due to both higher assessments throughout all regions and reductions in

property taxes realized in 2008 that did not occur in 2009 The impact of the current economic environment has not

been reflected in current assessments as there is typically time lag between change in the economy affecting

property valuations and updated real estate tax assessments We expect property taxes in 2010 to increase over

2009 due primarily to higher tax rates without the benefit of lower assessed values For communities in California

property tax changes are determined by the change in the California Consumer Price Index with increases limited
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by law Proposition 13 We evaluate property tax increases internally and also engage third-party consultants to

assist in our evaluations We appeal property tax increases when appropriate

Corporate-level property management and other indirect operating expenses
decreased by $2315000 or 5.8% in

2009 and increased $1247000 or 3.2% in 2008 over the prior year periods The decrease in 2009 over 2008 is due

primarily to decreases in compensation costs coupled with reduction in costs associated with the initial start up of

our Customer Care Center discussed below The increase in 2008 over the prior year
is due primarily to increased

compensation and employee separation costs as well as costs relating to the initial start up of the Customer Care

Center and other corporate initiatives focused on increasing efficiency and enhancing controls at our operating

communities The Customer Care Center in Virginia Beach Virginia opened in 2007 and expanded in 2008 to

centralize certain community-related accounting administrative and customer service functions

Investments and investment management reflects the costs incurred for investment acquisitions and investment

management Investments and investment management costs decreased in 2009 by $943000 or 19.7% from the

prior year due primarily to lower compensation and travel-related costs

Expensed development and other pursuit costs primarily reflect the costs incurred for abandoned pursuit costs

which include costs incurred for development pursuits not yet considered probable for development as well as the

abandonment of Development Rights and disposition pursuits Expensed development and other pursuit costs

increased in 2008 as compared to 2007 and 2009 due to increases in abandoned development pursuits in response to

the economic decline and deteriorating market conditions in 2008 These costs can be volatile particularly in

periods of economic downturn or when there is limited access to capital and the costs may vary significantly from

period to period

Interest expense net increased $35413000 or 30.8% and $22735000 or 24.7% in 2009 and 2008 respectively

over the prior years This category includes interest expense offset by interest capitalized and interest income The

increase in 2009 is due primarily to decrease in the amount of interest capitalized in 2009 as compared to the prior

year coupled with increased interest expense in 2009 compared to 2008 from additional secured and unsecured debt

issued to fund development activity The decrease in interest capitalized is due to the reduction in development

activity in 2009 as compared to 2008 The increase in 2008 over the prior year is due primarily to decrease in

interest income in 2008 as compared to the prior year period coupled with increased interest expense
in 2008

compared to 2007 The higher level of interest income in 2007 is due to higher invested cash balances from our

January 2007 equity offering The increased interest expense in 2008 is due primarily to increased amounts of debt

outstanding in 2008 compared to the prior year

Gain loss on the extinguishment of debt net reflects the impact of our debt repurchase activity for payments above

or below the carrying basis The net loss in 2009 is due to the $310100000 in unsecured notes that we purchased

prior to their scheduled maturity at premium offset by the gain recognized from our January 2009 tender offer

Depreciation expense increased in 2009 and 2008 primarily due to the net increase in assets from the completion of

development and redevelopment activities offset by assets sold during the year

General and administrative expense GA decreased $14033000 or 32.8% in 2009 and increased

$14287000 or 50.1% in 2008 as compared to the prior years The increase in 2008 as compared to 2007 and 2009

is due primarily to higher severance and related costs in 2008 associated with the decrease in our planned

development activity higher federal excise tax expense in 2008 resulting from gains on disposition activity and

organization costs for the formation of Fund II incurred in 2008

Impairment loss for 2009 is due to the write down of three land parcels which we do not currently plan on

developing Impairment loss in 2008 is due primarily to the write down of eight land parcels which we did not plan

on developing at the time We did not recognize an impairment loss in 2007

Gain on sale of land for 2009 increased primarily due to the sale of two land parcels in 2009 without comparable

activity in the prior year
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Equity in income of unconsolidated entities for 2009 decreased from the prior year period due primarily to the

recognition of our proportionate amount of an impairment loss that one of our unconsolidated investments

recognized on one of its operating communities in 2009 In addition gains from both the sale of community by an

unconsolidated joint venture as well as from an investment in joint venture formed to develop for sale homes

occurred in 2008 that were not present in 2009 These amounts were partially offset by the recognition of our

promoted interest in the joint venture that owns Avalon Chrystie Place in 2009 The decrease in 2008 from the prior

year is due primarily to the gain on the sale of two partnership interests in 2007 and the related loss of partnership

income partially offset by our portion of the gain from the sale of community by joint venture partner income

from joint ventures where the underlying communities have achieved stabilized operations and gains from our

investment in joint venture formed to develop for-sale homes

Income from discontinued operations represents the net income generated by communities sold or qualifing as

discontinued operations during the period from January 2007 through December 31 2009 This income

decreased for 2009 and 2008 due to an increased number of communities sold in each year as compared to the prior

year period See Note Real Estate Disposition Activities of our Consolidated Financial Statements

Gain on sale of communities decreased in 2009 and increased in 2008 as compared to the prior year periods as

result of changes in the sales volume and associated gains in each respective year The amount of gain realized upon

disposition of community depends on many factors including the number of communities sold the size and

carrying value of those communities and the market conditions in the local area

Net income loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests for 2009 resulted in income of $1373000

compared to income of $741000 in 2008 due primarily to recognition of income for our joint venture partners

portion of expenses incurred by Fund II as well as the conversion and redemption of limited partnership units in

2008 and 2009 thereby reducing outside ownership interests and the allocation of net income to outside ownership

interests

FF0

FF0 is considered by management to be an appropriate supplemental measure of our operating and financial

performance In calculating FF0 we exclude gains or losses related to dispositions of previously depreciated

property and exclude real estate depreciation which can vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition

based on historical cost accounting and useful life estimates FF0 can help one compare the operating performance

of real estate company between periods or as compared to different companies We believe that in order to

understand our operating results FF0 should be examined with net income as presented in our Consolidated

Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report For more detailed discussion and presentation of FF0 see

Selected Financial Data included in Item of this report

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe our principal short-term liquidity needs are to fund

development and redevelopment activity in which we are currently engaged

the minimum dividend payments on our common stock required to maintain our REIT qualification under

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986

debt service and principal payments either at maturity or opportunistic payments

normal recurring operating expenses

DownREIT partnership unit distributions and

capital calls for Fund II as required

Factors affecting our liquidity and capital resources are our cash flows from operations financing activities and

investing activities including dispositions as well as general economic and market conditions Operating cash

flow has historically been determined by the number of apartment homes currently owned ii rental rates iii

occupancy levels and iv operating expenses with respect to apartment homes The timing and type of capital

markets activity in which we engage as well as our plans for development redevelopment acquisition and
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disposition activity are affected by changes in the capital markets environment such as changes in interest rates or

the availability of cost-effective capital We regularly review our liquidity needs the adequacy of cash flows from

operations and other expected liquidity sources to meet these needs

During 2009 we saw access to liquidity improve as credit and equity markets recovered During 2009 we raised in

excess of $1700000000 in the form of secured debt unsecured debt and public and private equity In 2010 we

expect to meet all of our liquidity needs from variety of internal and external sources including cash balances on

hand borrowing capacity under our Credit Facility as defined below secured financings and other public or

private sources of liquidity as discussed below as well as our operating activities To the extent that currently

available internal and external resources do not satisfy our needs we may seek additional external financing

Additional external financing could come from variety of sources such as public sales of debt or equity securities

or unsecured or secured loans from financial institutions or other private or governmental lenders among others

Private equity through joint ventures may also be used Our ability to obtain additional financing will depend on

variety of factors such as market conditions the general availability of credit the overall availability of credit to the

real estate industry our credit ratings and credit capacity as well as the perception of lenders regarding our long or

short-term financial prospects At December 31 2009 we have unrestricted cash cash equivalents and cash in

escrow of $316367000 available for both current liquidity needs as well as development activities of which

$93440000 relates to Development Right for which we have not begun construction

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $105691000 at December 31 2009 an increase of $40756000

from $64935000 at December 31 2008 The following discussion relates to changes in cash due to operating

investing and financing activities which are presented in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows included

elsewhere in this report

Operating Activities Net cash provided by operating activities decreased to $378600000 in 2009 from

$386084000 in 2008 The decrease was driven primarily by the timing of general corporate payables and the

payment of interest amounts in 2009 as compared to 2008

Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities of $333559000 in 2009 related to investments in

assets through development and redevelopment In total we invested $572103000 during 2009 in the

following areas

We invested approximately $560155000 in the development of communities

We had capital expenditures of $11948000 for real estate and non-real estate assets

These amounts are partially offset by the proceeds from the disposition of real estate of $189417000

Financing Activities Net cash used in financing activities totaled $4285000 in 2009 The net cash used is

due primarily to the repayment of unsecured notes at maturity and repayment of amounts tendered of

$868564000 the payment of cash dividends in the amount of $283710000 the repayment of amounts

outstanding on the Credit Facility defined below of $124000000 and the repayment of secured notes of

$65229000 These amounts were partially offset by the pooled secured financing executed in April 2009 for

$741140000 the issuance of $500000000 aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes in September and

$108860000 received from the issuance of common stock primarily through the Continuous Equity Program

the CEP we initiated in August 2009

Variable Rate Unsecured Credit Facility

We currently have $1000000000 revolving variable rate Credit Facility with syndicate of commercial banks

that expires in November 2011 assuming our exercise of one-year renewal option We pay an annual facility fee

of approximately $1250000 The Credit Facility bears interest at varying levels based on the London Interbank

Offered Rate LIBOR our credit rating and on maturity schedule selected by us The current stated pricing is

LIBOR plus 0.40% per annum 0.63% on January 31 2010 The spread over LIBOR can vary from LIBOR plus

0.325% to LIBOR plus 1.00% based on our credit rating In addition competitive bid option is available for

borrowings of up to $650000000 This option allows banks that are part of the lender consortium to bid to provide
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us loans at rate that is lower than the stated pricing provided by the Credit Facility The competitive bid option

may result in lower pricing if market conditions allow We had no outstanding balance under this competitive bid

option at January 31 2010 At January 31 2010 there were no amounts outstanding on the Credit Facility

$45355000 was used to provide letters of credit and $954645000 was available for borrowing under the Credit

Facility

We expect to refinance the Credit Facility prior to maturity While credit market conditions continue to improve

from the difficult environment seen in 2008 and 2009 we expect facility pricing to be higher and we may not be

able to achieve the same borrowing capacity as exists under the current Credit Facility

We are subject to financial and other covenants contained in the Credit Facility and the indenture under which our

unsecured notes were issued The financial covenants include the following

limitations on the amount of total and secured debt in relation to our overall capital structure

limitation on the amount of our unsecured debt relative to the undepreciated basis of real estate assets that

are not encumbered by property-specific financing and

minimum levels of debt service coverage

We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31 2009

In addition our secured borrowings may include yield maintenance defeasance or prepayment penalty provisions

which would result in us incurring an additional charge in the event of full or partial prepayment of outstanding

principal before the scheduled maturity These provisions in our secured borrowings are generally consistent with

other similar types of debt instruments issued during the same time period in which our borrowings were secured

Continuous Equity Offering Program

In August 2009 we conmienced the CEP under which we may sell up to $400000000 of our common stock This

program is available until the $400000000 is sold or August 2012 whichever occurs first We may sell the shares

in amounts and at times to be determined by us Actual sales will depend on variety of factors to be determined by

us including market conditions the trading price of our common stock and determinations of the appropriate

sources of funding In conjunction with the CEP we engaged sales agents who received compensation of 1.5% of

the gross sales price for shares sold During the three months ended December 31 2009 we sold 37900 shares

under this program at an average sales price of $74.34 per share for net proceeds of $2775000 During the year

ended December 31 2009 we sold 1504901 shares under this program at an average sales price of approximately

$69.56 per share resulting in net proceeds of approximately $103109000

Future Financing and Capital Needs Debt Maturities

One of our principal long-term liquidity needs is the repayment of long-term debt at the time that such debt matures

For unsecured notes portion of the principal of these notes may be repaid prior to maturity Early retirement of

our unsecured notes could result in gains or losses on extinguishment similar to those recognized in 2008 and 2009

If we do not have funds on hand sufficient to repay our indebtedness as it becomes due it will be necessary
for us to

refinance the debt This refinancing may be accomplished by uncollateralized private or public debt offerings

additional debt financing that is secured by mortgages on individual communities or groups of communities draws

on our Credit Facility or by equity offerings Although we believe we will have the capacity to meet our currently

anticipated liquidity needs we cannot assure you that additional debt financing or debt or equity offerings will be

available or if available that they will be on terms we consider satisfactory

The following financing activity occurred during 2009

we obtained secured financing for $741140000 pursuant to fourteen separate ten-year mortgage loans

each secured by one of our current communities at an interest rate of 5.86%

we obtained $93440000 in variable rate tax-exempt bond financing related to Development Right the

proceeds of which will be held in escrow until requisitioned for construction funding

49



we repaid $4143000 in 8.08% fixed rate debt secured by real estate asset formerly classified as

Development Right in Alexandria Virginia in April 2009 pursuant to its scheduled maturity

we redeemed $37438000 principal amount of our $150000000 7.5% unsecured notes that mature in

August 2009 for par and cancelled the notes upon purchase

we redeemed $64423000 principal amount of our $200000000 7.5% unsecured notes that mature in

December 2010 for $63135000 with the discount below
par

recorded as gain reflected in gain loss on

extinguishment of debt net on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Comprehensive

Income of the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this Form 10-K and cancelled the notes upon

purchase

we repaid $105600000 in unsecured debt representing the first tranche of our $330000000 unsecured

variable rate term loan pursuant to its scheduled maturity

we repaid $19470000 in variable rate debt secured by Avalon at Flanders Hill located in Westborough

Massachusetts pursuant to its scheduled maturity

we repaid $102562000 of previously issued 7.5% unsecured notes along with any unpaid interest

pursuant to their scheduled maturity

we repaid $112200000 in unsecured debt representing the second tranche of our term loan prior to its

scheduled maturity of January 2010

we issued total of $500000000 of unsecured notes under our existing shelf registration statement The

offering consisted of two separate $250000000 tranches with effective interest rates of 5.80% and 6.19%

maturing in March 2017 and March 2020 respectively

we settled cash tender offer purchasing the following unsecured notes

$46001000 principal amount of our $200000000 7.5% unsecured notes due December 2010 at

weighted average price of 107.50% of par

$150000000 principal amount of our $300000000 6.625% unsecured notes due September

2011 at weighted average price of 109.00% of par

$55600000 principal amount of our $250000000 5.5% unsecured notes due January 2012 at

weighted average price of 106.25% of par and

$48399000 principal amount of our $250000000 6.125% unsecured notes due November 2012

at weighted average price of 108.75% of par

we repurchased $10100000 principal amount of our 6.625% unsecured notes due September 2011 at

weighted average price of 107.0% of par

we recorded charge for the purchase premium as well as certain deferred issuance costs related to the

$300000000 cash tender offer and additional $10100000 unsecured notes repurchase activity above of

approximately $26000000 in gain loss on extinguishment of debt net on the Consolidated Statement of

Operations and Other Comprehensive Income of the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item of this

form 10-K

we repaid the final $112200000 of our term loan outstanding prior to its scheduled maturity of January

2011

we repaid $33615000 in variable rate debt secured by Avalon at Newton Highlands located in Newton

Massachusetts pursuant to its scheduled maturity and

through the execution of interest rate swaps we effectively converted $300000000 principal of our fixed

rate unsecured notes with weighted average maturity of approximately two years to floating rate debt at

weighted average interest rate of three month LIBOR plus 5.42%
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The following table details debt maturities for the next five years excluding our Credit Facility and amounts

outstanding related to communities classified as held for sale for debt outstanding at December 31 2009 dollars in

thousands

Total ladebtedneex eneladlag enared credIt facIlity 3552492 3977320 125060 238597 516164 380132 199465 2517984

All-la PrIanipsI

Interest nttmIty Bslaaee aatxtxeding Selsednled materittex

Cemmtrntty rste date 12-31-OS 12-31-09 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter

Tax-exempt bands

Fined role

CotmteyBeook 647% Mar-2012 14680 13961 766 816 12379

Avalonat SymphonyGlen 5.17% Jal-2024 9.780 9780 -- -- --
-- 9780

Avnlox xl Lee.cngnon 6.95% Feb.2025 11665 11226 466 495 526 559 594 8586

Avalon Campbell 6.50% Jun.2025 30914 29881 -- --
-- 29881

Avaloa Pacifica 6.51% Jun.2025 14023 13554 -- -- -- -- -- 13554

AvalonFielda 7.799/ May-2027 9988 9714 295 36 339 364 390 8.010

AvaloxOok 7.49% Frb-2041 16940 16794 157 168 180 193 207 5889

AvalonOakWrxt 7.54% Apr.2045 16795 16661 42 152 162 173 185 15.847

AvalonalChentoatHill 6.15% Oct.2047 41834 41501 349 368 388 409 432 39555

166619 163072 2175 2315 13974 1.69$ 1808 141102

Vcrlobie rot

Avalon Burbank 1.99 Oct.2010 30142 29387 29387 -- -- -- --

Waxerford 1.09% JI-204 33100 33150
-- -- 33100 --

Avalon at Mouatain Virw 1.14% Feb.2017 18300 28300 -- -- 18305

Avalon at Mixxion Viejo 1.44% Jun.2025 7635 7635 -_
-- -- -- -- 7635

AvalonalNobFtill 1.31% Jmn-2025 20800 20800 -- -- -- 20005

Avnlon Campbell 2.10% Jun.2025 7886 0919 -- --
-- -- 8919

AvalonPacifica 2.12% Juo-2025 3577 4846 -- -- -- -- -- 4546

Avalon Bowney Place 1.35% Nov.2037 93800 93800 -- -- --
-- 93000

Avalon Bowrny Flour 1.57% Nov.2039 48500 48500 -- -- -- -- 48500

AvalonActon 1.67% Jul.2040 45000 45000 -- -- --
-- 45000

Avaon Momingnide Park 3.00% Nov-2040 100000 100000 -- -- -- -- 100000

Went Chelna 0.18% May-202 -- 93445 -- -- 93.440

Avalon Wnlnut Creek 2.95% Mne-2546 116000 116000 -- -- 116000

Avalon Wl Creek 2.89% Mar.2046 10000 10500 --
-- -- 10000

534740 628927 29387 -- 93440 -- 33100 473000

Coeventlonal loans

Finr4 ole

$150 million unsecured note Aug.2009 140000 -- -- -- --
-- -- --

$200milionannecurrdnoten 7.67% Dec-20l0 200000 14576 702 l4576 -- -- -- -- --

S300millionunoecnrrdnoten 6.79% Sep-20 300000 39900 502 59900 -- -- -- --

$50 million unsecured notes 6.31% Sep-20 50000 -- -- -- -- --
--

$250miionuenrcurrdnotru 5.74% Jan.2012 235000 184400 9112 -- -- 154.400 -- -- --

$250 million annecured note 6.26% Nov.2012 250000 20160 IS -- -- 201601 -- --
--

$lOOnillionmneuarednoeo 5.11% Mar-203 100000 100000 -- 00000 -- --

$150 nillion onnouneod noIre 5.52% Apr.204 150.000 150000 -- -- -- -- 150000 --

$250 million omecnend notm 5.89% Srp-2016 250.000 250000 -- -- -- 250000

$250 million unneourrd norn 5.82% Mar.2017 250000 -- -- --
-- -- 250000

$25$milli000meoueednnlrs 6.199/n Mar.2020 250000 -- -- -- -- 250000

AvalOn at Twinbrook 7.25% Oct-20 780 7578 239 7339 -- --
-- --

AvaonatlyaonuWral 5.55% Jul-2028 6218 6045 185 193 284 216 229 5020

4600 Eiaeebower Avenue Apr.2009 4175 --
-- --

Avalon Orchards 7.77% Ju-2033 19322 90l 533 357 382 409 438 17092

AvalonaArlingnon Square 4.81% Apr.2013 170.123 170125 -- 170125 -- --

Avalon Cameron Court 5.07% Apr.2013 94.572 94572 -- -- 94572 -- --

Avalon Crencea 5.59% May-20 110600 110.600 -- -- .- 110600

Avaon Silicon Valley 5.74% Jul.2015 150000 150000 -- -- 150000

AvalonDarirn 6.22% Nov.2015 51749 51172 665 702 746 793 843 47420

AvoonGrryrockPncr 6.13% Nov.2015 62400 61690 811 861 914 971 1031 57102

Avalon Common 6.090/ Jan.2019 55100 55.100 695 734 779 826 52068

Avnlon Walnut Creek 4.00% Jol.2066 2500 2500 -- .- -- -- 2500

AvtlonSheewxbuey 592% May.2019 21130 103 285 501 319 20042

Avalon Dote 5.93% May-20l9 41321 -- 357 557 589 624 39194

Avolon nt S1anford Harbor 0.92% May-2019 .- 65695 -- 568 885 937 992 62313

AvalonFerehold 5.94% Moy-20l9 36.630 37 493 522 553 34.745

Avalon Run Eaul II 5.94% Mny-2019 -- 39250 339 529 560 592 37230

Avalon Gardenu 606% May-2019 66237 -- 572 892 945 1000 62828

AvalonEdgrwater 6.10% Moy-20l9 70565 -- 679 1.05$ 1120 1106 74.322

Avalon Foxhall 6.05% Mny-2019 -- 5900 510 795 $41 $91 55973

Avalon Gallety Place 6.05% May-25l9 .- 45850 -- 396 618 654 692 43490

AvalonTravillr 5.91% Mny-20l9 -- 77700 672 1047 1108 1173 73700

AvalonBellevue 5.91% Mny-2019 -- 26.69$ 23 360 38 403 25323

Avalan on the Alamndo 5.91% May.2019 -- 53.980 467 727 770 015 51201

AvaonMianionBoyNortb 0.90% May-2019 -- 73.269 633 987 1045 1106 69.490

Avalon Wobaen 5.91% May-2019
-- 55805 -- 482 752 796 842 52933

2409562 2.830010 16802 56.45 318966 378.434 64555 1094802

Vo4sbtc rob

Avalon 01 Flanders Hill May-2009 19735 --
-- -- --

Avalon Newlost Highlands Dec.2009 34945 -- -- --

Avolon at Crane Bmok 211% Mar-20 31530 30440 1169 2927

Avalon nlBedfoed Cnnter 1.74% May-20l2 16361 1587 527 560 14784 --

Avnlon WnlnuI Creek 3.03% Mar.2046 9000 9000 13 --
-- -- 9000

$I85.Omillionaaarcnrednorn -- May-2009 105600 --

$112.2 million anecoerdnotrs -- Jan.2010 112250 -- II --

5ll2.2 million unancared notes -- Jan.2011 112.200 It -- -- --

$200 Million unurcuend notra 7.034% Dec.2010 75000 75000 --

$300 Million un000urednolen 5.663% Sep-20 -- 100000 100000 --

$50 Million anoecured notes 5.663% Sep-20 50000 12 50000

$250 Million unsecured notes 4.352% Jan.2012 75000 12 -- 75000

44l571 3553 76696 7983 89784 -- 9000
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Includes credit enhancement fees facility fees trustees fees and other fees

Financed by variable rate tax-exempt debt but the interest rate on portion of this debt is
effectively

fixed at December 31 2009 and

December 31 2008 through an interest rate swap agreement The
portion

of the debt fixed through the interest rate swap agreement decreases

and therefore the variable portion of the debt increases monthly as payments are made to principal reserve fund

Variable rates are given as of December 31 2009

Financed by variable rate debt but interest rate is capped through an interest rate protection agreement

Represents full amount of the debt as of December 31 2009 Actual amounts drawn on the debt as of December 31 2009 are $46216 for

Bowery Place II $44678 for Avalon Acton $88823 for Morningside Park $64080 for Walnut Creek and $0 for West Chelsea

Balances outstanding represent total amounts due at maturity and are not net of $2448 of debt discount and basis adjustments associated with

the hedged unsecured notes as of December 31 2009 and $2035 of debt discount as of December 31 2008 as reflected in unsecured notes on

our Consolidated Balance Sheets included elsewhere in this report

In October 2009 we redeemed $46001 principal amount of our $200000 7.5% unsecured notes due December 2010

In October 2009 we redeemed $160100 principal amount of our $300000 6.625% unsecured notes due September 2011

In October 2009 we redeemed $55600 principal amount of our $250000 5.5% unsecured notes due January 2012

10 In October 2009 we redeemed $48399 principal
amount of our $250000 6.125% unsecured notes due November 2012

11 In August and October 2009 we repaid $224400 in unsecured debt representing the second and third tranches of our term loan prior to its

scheduled maturities in January 2010 and 2011 respectively

12 In October 2009 we executed $300000 of interest rate swaps allowing us to effectively convert $300000 principal of our fixed rate unsecured

notes to floating
rate debt

Future Financing and Capital Needs Pofolio and Other Activity

As of December 31 2009 we had seven new wholly owned communities under construction for which total

estimated cost of $245046000 remained to be invested We also had seven wholly owned communities under

reconstruction for which total estimated cost of $49527000 remained to be invested In addition we may be

required to contribute our proportionate share of capital to Fund II if or to the extent that Fund II makes capital

calls in conjunction with additional community acquisitions during 2010 Substantially all of the capital

expenditures necessary to complete the communities currently under construction and reconstruction development

costs related to pursuing Development Rights as well as for equity contributions to Fund II will be funded from

cash currently on hand including cash in construction escrows invested in highly liquid overnight money
market funds and repurchase agreements and short-term investment vehicles

the remaining capacity under our $1000000000 Credit Facility

retained operating cash

the net proceeds from sales of existing communities

the issuance of debt or equity securities and/or

private equity funding including joint venture activity

Before planned reconstruction activity including reconstruction activity related to communities acquired by the

Funds or the construction of Development Right begins we intend to arrange adequate financing to complete

these undertakings although we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain such financing In the event that

financing cannot be obtained we may have to abandon Development Rights write off associated pre-development

costs that were capitalized and/or forego reconstruction activity In such instances we will not realize the increased

revenues and earnings that we expected from such Development Rights or reconstruction activity and significant

losses could be incurred

From time to time we use joint ventures to hold or develop individual real estate assets We generally employ joint

ventures primarily to mitigate asset concentration or market risk and secondarily as source of liquidity We may

also use joint ventures related to mixed-use land development opportunities where our partners bring development

and operational expertise to the venture Each joint venture or partnership agreement has been individually
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negotiated and our ability to operate andlor dispose of community in our sole discretion may be limited to varying

degrees depending on the terms of the joint venture or partnership agreement We cannot assure you that we will

achieve our objectives through joint ventures

In evaluating our allocation of capital within our markets we sell assets that do not meet our long-term investment

criteria or when capital and real estate markets allow us to realize portion of the value created over the past

business cycle and redeploy the proceeds from those sales to develop and redevelop communities Because the

proceeds from the sale of communities may not be immediately redeployed into revenue generating assets the

immediate effect of sale of community for gain is to increase net income but reduce future total revenues total

expenses and NOl However we believe that the absence of future cash flows from communities sold will have

minimal impact on our ability to fund future liquidity and capital resource needs

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In addition to our investment interests in consolidated and unconsolidated real estate entities we have certain off-

balance sheet arrangements with the entities in which we invest Additional discussion of these entities can be

found in Note Investments in Real Estate Entities of our Consolidated Financial Statements located elsewhere

in this report

CVP LLC has outstanding tax-exempt variable rate bonds maturing in November 2036 in the amount of

$117000000 which have permanent credit enhancement We have agreed to guarantee under limited

circumstances the repayment to the credit enhancer of any advanqes it may make in fulfillment of CVP

LLCs repayment obligations under the bonds We have also guaranteed to the credit enhancer that CVP

LLC will obtain final certificate of occupancy for the project Chrystie Place in New York City which is

expected in 2010 Our 80% partner in this venture has agreed that it will reimburse us its pro rata share of

any amounts paid relative to these guaranteed obligations The estimated fair value of and our obligation

under these guarantees both at inception and as of December 31 2009 were not significant As result

we have not recorded any obligation associated with these guarantees at December 31 2009

Subsidiaries of Fund have 21 loans secured by individual assets with amounts outstanding in the

aggregate of $436410000 with varying maturity dates or dates after which the loans can be prepaid

ranging from October 2011 to September 2016 These mortgage loans are secured by the underlying real

estate The mortgage loans are payable by the subsidiaries of Fund with operating cash flow or

disposition proceeds from the underlying real estate We have not guaranteed the debt of Fund nor do we

have any obligation to fund this debt should Fund be unable to do so

In addition as part of the formation of Fund we have provided to one of the limited partners guarantee

The guarantee provides that if upon final liquidation of Fund the total amount of all distributions to that

partner during the life of Fund whether from operating cash flow or property sales does not equal

minimum of the total capital contributions made by that partner then we will pay the partner an amount

equal to the shortfall but in no event more than 10% of the total capital contributions made by the partner

maximum of approximately $7500000 as of December 31 2009 As of December 31 2009 the

expected realizable value of the real estate assets owned by Fund is considered adequate to cover such

potential payment to that partner under the expected Fund liquidation scenario The estimated fair value

of and our obligation under this guarantee both at inception and as of December 31 2009 was not

significant and therefore we have not recorded any obligation for this guarantee as of December 31 2009

subsidiary of Fund II has one loan secured by an asset in the amount of $21515000 with maturity of

June 2019 This loan is payable by the subsidiary of Fund II As of December 31 2009 Fund II also has

$30200000 outstanding under credit facility that matures in December 2010 The mortgage loan is

payable by the subsidiary of Fund II with operating cash flow or disposition proceeds from the underlying

real estate and the credit facility is payable by Fund II and is secured by capital commitments We have

not guaranteed beyond our proportionate share of capital commitments supporting the credit facility of

Fund II the debt of Fund II nor do we have any obligation to fund this debt should Fund II be unable to do

so
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In addition as part of the formation of Fund II we have provided to one of the limited partners

guarantee The guarantee provides that if upon final liquidation of Fund II the total amount of all

distributions to that partner during the life of Fund II whether from operating cash flow or property sales

does not equal minimum of the total capital contributions made by that partner
then we will pay the

partner an amount equal to the shortfall but in no event more than 10% of the total capital contributions

made by the partner maximum of approximately $1470000 as of December 31 2009 As of December

31 2009 the expected realizable value of the real estate assets owned by Fund II is considered adequate to

cover such potential payment to that partner under the expected Fund II liquidation scenario The

estimated fair value of and our obligation under this guarantee both at inception and as of December 31

2009 was not significant and therefore we have not recorded any obligation for this guarantee as of

December 31 2009

MVP LLC the entity that owns Avalon at Mission Bay North II has loan secured by the underlying

real estate assets of the community for $105000000 The loan is fixed rate interest-only note bearing

interest at 6.02% maturing in December 2015 We have not guaranteed the debt of MVP LLC nor do

we have any obligation to fund this debt should MVP LLC be unable to do so

Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC has loan secured by the underlying real estate assets of the community

for $45943000 maturing in April 2016 The variable rate loan had an interest rate of 3.69% at December

31 2009 We have not guaranteed the debt of Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC nor do we have any

obligation to fund this debt should Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC be unable to do so

Aria at Hathome Hill LLC is joint venture in which we have non-managing member interest The LLC

is developing for-sale town homes in Danvers Massachusetts The LLC has three separate variable rate

loans with aggregate borrowings of $2432000 and weighted average
interest rate of 4.19% at December

31 2009 We have not guaranteed the debt of Aria at Hathorne nor do we have any obligation to fund this

debt should Aria at Hathorne be unable to do so

PHVP LLC consolidated joint venture in which we hold 99.0% controlling interest constructed

public garage adjacent to our Walnut Creek development As part of the construction management

services we provided to PHVP LLC for the construction of the public garage we provided construction

completion guarantee to the related lender in order to fulfill their standard financing requirements related to

the garage construction financing which occurred in the third quarter of 2009 Our obligations under this

guarantee therefore have terminated and we have no further obligation under this agreement

In 2007 we entered into non-cancelable commitment the Commitment to acquire parcels of land in

Brooklyn New York for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $111000000 Under the terms of

the Commitment we are closing on the various parcels over period determined by the sellers ability to

execute unrelated purchase transactions and achieve deferral of gains for the land sold under this

Commitment However under no circumstances will the Commitment extend beyond 2011 at which time

either we or the seller can compel execution of the remaining transactions At December 31 2009 we

have an outstanding commitment to purchase the remaining land for approximately $51500000

There are no other lines of credit side agreements financial guarantees or any other derivative financial instruments

related to or between our unconsolidated real estate entities and us In evaluating our capital structure and overall

leverage management takes into consideration our proportionate share of this unconsolidated debt

Contractual Obligations

In 2009 we entered into lease agreement for office space in Arlington Virginia The office space will serve as our

corporate headquarters with relocation scheduled to occur in the first half of 2010 The lease has ten year lease

term with extension rights with rent of approximately $1900000 annually We are marketing for lease or sale the

building that serves as our current headquarters in Alexandria Virginia Aside from this lease there have not been

any other material changes outside of the ordinary course of business to our contractual obligations during 2009
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Scheduled contractual obligations required for the next five
years and thereafter are as follows as of December 31

2009 dollars in thousands

Paynnts due by period

Less than Mom than

Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years

Debt Obligations 3977320 125060 754761 579595 2517904

Operating Lease Obligations 3412947 20732 50815 53850 3287550

Total 7390267 145792 805576 633445 5805454

Includes land leases expiring between October 2026 and March 2142 Amounts do not include any adjustment for purchase options
available under the land leases

Inflation and Deflation

Substantially all of our apartment leases are for term of one year or less In an inflationary environment this may
allow us to realize increased rents upon renewal of existing leases or the beginning of new leases Short-term leases

generally minimize our risk from the adverse effects of inflation although these leases generally permit residents to

leave at the end of the lease term and therefore expose us to the effect of decline in market rents In deflationary
rent environment we may be exposed to declining rents more quickly under these shorter-term leases

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements as that term is defined under the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 You can identify forward-looking statements by our use of the words believe
expect anticipate intend estimate assume project plan may shall will and other similar

expressions in this Form 10-K that predict or indicate future events and trends and that do not report historical

matters These statements include among other things statements regarding our intent belief or expectations with

respect to

our potential development redevelopment acquisition or disposition of communities

the timing and cost of completion of apartment communities under construction reconstruction

development or redevelopment

the timing of lease-up occupancy and stabilization of apartment communities

the pursuit of land on which we are considering future development

the anticipated operating performance of our communities

cost yield revenue NOl and earnings estimates

our declaration or payment of distributions

our joint venture and discretionary fund activities

our policies regarding investments indebtedness acquisitions dispositions fmancings and other

matters

our qualification as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code
the real estate markets in Northern and Southern California and markets in selected states in the Mid-

Atlantic Midwest New England Metro New YorklNew Jersey and Pacific Northwest regions of the

United States and in general

the availability of debt and equity financing

interest rates

general economic conditions including the recent economic downturn and

trends affecting our financial condition or results of operations

We cannot assure the future results or outcome of the matters described in these statements rather these statements

merely reflect our current expectations of the approximate outcomes of the matters discussed In addition these
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forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this report We do not

undertake duty to update these forward-looking statements and therefore they may not represent our estimates and

assumptions after the date of this report You should not rely on forward-looking statements because they involve

known and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors some of which are beyond our control These risks

uncertainties and other factors may cause our actual results performance or achievements to differ materially from

the anticipated future results performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking

statements In addition to the factors referred to below you should carefully review the discussion under Item la

Risk Factors in this document for discussion of additional risks associated with our business and these forward-

looking statements

Some of the factors that could cause our actual results performance or achievements to differ materially from those

expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements include but are not limited to the following

we may fail to secure development opportunities due to an inability to reach agreements with third

parties to obtain land at attractive prices or to obtain desired zoning and other local approvals

we may abandon or defer development opportunities for number of reasons including changes in

local market conditions which make development less desirable increases in costs of development

increases in the cost of capital or lack of capital availability resulting in losses

construction costs of community may exceed our original estimates

we may not complete construction and lease-up of communities under development or

redevelopment on schedule resulting in increased interest costs and construction costs and decrease

in our expected rental revenues

occupancy rates and market rents may be adversely affected by competition and local economic and

market conditions which are beyond our control

financing may not be available on favorable terms or at all and our cash flows from operations and

access to cost effective capital may be insufficient for the development of our pipeline which could

limit our pursuit of opportunities

our cash flows may be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest and we may

be unable to refinance existing indebtedness or the terms of such refinancing may not be as favorable

as the terms of existing indebtedness

we may be unsuccessful in our management of Fund Fund II or the REIT vehicles that are used

with each respective Fund and

we may be unsuccessful in managing changes in our portfolio composition

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the

application of accounting policies including making estimates and assumptions If our judgment or interpretation

of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different or different assumptions were

made it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied resulting in different financial results

or different presentation of our financial statements Below is discussion of the accounting policies that we

consider critical to an understanding of our financial condition and operating results that may require complex or

significant judgment in their application or require estimates about matters which are inherently uncertain

discussion of our significant accounting policies including further discussion of the accounting policies described

below can be found in Note Organization and Basis of Presentation of our Consolidated Financial Statements

Principles of Consolidation

We may enter into various joint venture agreements
with unrelated third parties to hold or develop real estate assets

We must determine for each of these ventures whether to consolidate the entity or account for our investment under

the equity or cost basis of accounting

We determine whether to consolidate certain entities based on our rights and obligations under the joint venture

agreements applying the applicable accounting guidance For investment interests that we do not consolidate we
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evaluate the guidance to determine the accounting framework to apply The application of the rules in evaluating

the accounting treatment for each joint venture is complex and requires
substantial management judgment

Therefore we believe the decision to choose an appropriate accounting framework is critical accounting estimate

If we were to consolidate the joint ventures that we accounted for using the equity method at December 31 2009 our

assets would have increased by $1030260000 and our liabilities would have increased by $778156000 We would

be required to consolidate those joint ventures currently not consolidated for fmancial reporting purposes
if the facts

and circumstances changed including but not limited to the following reasons none of which are currently expected to

occur

For entities not considered to be variable interest entities the nature of the entity changed such that it would be

considered variable interest entity and if we were considered the primary beneficiary

For entities in which we do not hold controlling voting and/or variable interest the contractual arrangement

changed resulting in our investment interest being either controlling voting and/or variable interest

We evaluate our accounting for investments on quarterly
basis or when significant change in the design of an entity

occurs

Cost Capitalization

We capitalize costs during the development of assets beginning when we determine that development of future

asset is probable
until the asset or portion of the asset is delivered and is ready for its intended use For

redevelopment efforts we capitalize costs either in advance of taking homes out of service when significant

renovation of the common area has begun until the redevelopment is completed or ii when an apartment
home is

taken out of service for redevelopment until the redevelopment is completed and the apartment
home is available for

new resident Rental income and operating expenses incurred during the initial lease-up or post-redevelopment

lease-up period are fully recognized as they accrue

During the development and redevelopment efforts we capitalize
all direct costs and indirect costs which have been

incurred as result of the development and redevelopment activities These costs include interest and related loan

fees property taxes as well as other direct and indirect costs Interest is capitalized
for any project specific

financing as well as for general corporate financing to the extent of our aggregate
investment in the projects

Indirect project costs which include personnel and office and administrative costs that are clearly associated with

our development and redevelopment efforts are also capitalized The estimation of the direct and indirect costs to

capitalize as part of our development and redevelopment activities requires judgment and as such we believe cost

capitalization to be critical accounting estimate

There may be change in our operating expenses
in the event that there are changes in accounting guidance

governing capitalization or changes to our levels of development or redevelopment activity
If changes in the

accounting guidance limit our ability to capitalize
costs or if we reduce our development and redevelopment

activities without corresponding
decrease in indirect project costs there may be an increase in our operating

expenses For example if in 2009 our development activities decreased by 10% and there were no corresponding

decrease in our indirect project costs our operating expenses would have increased by $2493200

We capitalize pre-development costs incurred in pursuit of Development Rights These costs include legal fees

design fees and related overhead costs Future development of these pursuits is dependent upon various factors

including zoning and regulatory approval rental market conditions construction costs and availability of capital

Pre-development costs incurred for pursuits
for which future development is not yet considered probable are

expensed as incurred In addition if the status of Development Right changes making future development no

longer probable any capitalized pre-development costs are written off with charge to expense

Due to the subjectivity in determining whether pursuit
will result in the development of an apartment community

and therefore should be capitalized the accounting for pursuit costs is critical accounting estimate If we had
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determined that 10% of our capitalized pursuit costs were associated with Development Rights that were no longer
probable of occurring net income for the

year ended December 31 2009 would have decreased by $8776300

Abandoned Pursuit Costs Asset Impairment

We capitalize pre-development costs incurred in pursuit of new development opportunities for which we currently
believe future development is probable Future development of these Development Rights is dependent upon
various factors including zoning and regulatory approval rental market conditions construction costs and the
availability of capital Pre-development costs incurred for pursuits for which future development is not yet
considered probable are expensed as incurred In addition if the status of Development Right changes making
future development by us no longer probable any capitalized pre-development costs are written off with charge to

expense We expensed costs related to abandoned pursuits which includes the abandonment of Development Rightsand disposition pursuits in the amounts of $5842000 in 2009 and $12511000 in 2008 These costs are included in

operating expenses excluding property taxes on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Other Comprehensive Income Abandoned pursuit costs can vary greatly and the costs incurred in any given period
may be significantly different in future years

During 2009 we concluded that the continued economic downturn and the related decline in employment levels did
not support the development and construction of certain new apartment communities that were previously in

planning This resulted in the recognition of an impairment charge of $20302000 related to the impairment of two
land parcels which we currently do not intend to develop We looked to third-party pricing estimates to determine
the fair values of the land parcels considered to be impaired Given the

heterogeneous nature of
multifamily real

estate the third
party values incorporated significant other unobservable inputs and are therefore considered to be

Level prices in the fair value
hierarchy In addition in 2009 we recognized further impairment charge of

$850000 on land parcel for which an earlier impairment had been recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008 The
additional impairment charge reduces our carrying basis to its current estimated selling price less costs to dispose

Our focus on value creation through real estate development presents an impairment risk in the event of future
deterioration of the real estate and/or capital markets or decision by us to reduce or cease development We
cannot predict the occurrence of future events that may cause an impairment assessment to be performed or the
likelihood of any future impairment charges if any You should also review Item Risk Factors of this Form10-K

REIT Status

We are Maryland corporation that has elected to be treated for federal income tax purposes as REIT We
elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code for the year ended December 31 1994 and have not revoked such
election corporate REIT is legal entity which holds real estate interests and must meet number of
organizational and operational requirements including requirement that it currently distribute at least 90% of its

adjusted taxable income to stockholders As REIT we generally will not be subject to corporate level federal
income tax on taxable income if we distribute 100% of taxable income to our stockholders over time periods
allowed under the Code If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will be subject to federal and state
income taxes at regular corporate rates subject to any applicable alternative minimum tax and may not be able to
elect to qualify as REIT for four

subsequent taxable years For example if we failed to qualify as REIT in 2009
our net income would have decreased by approximately $62000000

Our qualification as REIT requires management to exercise significant judgment and consideration with
respect to

operational matters and
accounting treatment Therefore we believe our REIT status is critical accounting

estimate

ITEM 7a QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks from our financial instruments
primarily from

changes in market interest rates We
do not have exposure to any other significant market risk We monitor interest rate risk as an integral part of our
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overall risk management which recognizes the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to reduce the

potentially adverse effect on our results of operations Our operating results are affected by changes in interest

rates primarily in short-term LIBOR and the SIFMA index as result of borrowings under our Credit Facility and

outstanding bonds with variable interest rates In addition the fair value of our fixed rate unsecured and secured

notes are impacted by changes in market interest rates The effect of interest rate fluctuations on our results of

operations historically has been small relative to other factors affecting operating results such as rental rates and

occupancy

We currently use interest rate protection agreements consisting of interest rate swap and interest rate cap

agreements for our risk management objectives as well as for compliance with the requirements of certain lenders

and not for trading or speculative purposes In the fourth quarter
of 2009 we entered into interest rate swap

agreements to convert fixed rate borrowings to effective floating rate notes In addition we have interest rate caps

and interest rate swaps that serve to either convert floating rate borrowings to fixed rate borrowings or effectively

limit the amount of interest rate expense we would incur on floating rate borrowing Further discussion of the

financial instruments impacted and our exposure
is presented below

We had $1271273000 and $1088848000 in variable rate debt outstanding excluding variable rate debt

effectively fixed through swap agreements and including fixed rate debt effectively swapped to variable rates

through swap agreements as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively
If interest rates on the variable rate

debt had been 100 basis points higher throughout 2009 and 2008 our annual interest costs would have increased by

approximately $9079000 and $11490000 respectively based on balances outstanding during the applicable

years

As of December 31 2009 we had executed interest rate swap agreements to hedge cash flow variability for

approximately $43435000 of our variable rate tax-exempt
debt and executed interest rate swap agreements

to

hedge fair value exposure
for approximately $300000000 of our fixed rate unsecured notes Had these interest rate

swap agreements not been in place during 2009 and 2008 our annual interest costs would have been approximately

$1492000 higher and $1451000 lower respectively based on balances outstanding and reported interest rates

during the applicable years Additionally if the variable interest rates on hedged floating rate debt had been 100

basis points higher throughout 2009 and 2008 and these swap agreements
had not been in place our annual interest

costs would have been approximately $2054000 higher and $887000 lower respectively

Because the counterparties providing the interest rate cap
and swap agreements are major financial institutions

which have an or better credit rating by the Standard Poors Ratings Group and the current valuation of the

position is net liability for us we do not believe there is exposure
at this time to default by counterparty

provider

In addition changes in interest rates affect the fair value of our fixed rate debt computed using discounted cash

flow model considering our current market yields which impacts the fair value of our aggregate indebtedness Debt

securities and notes payable excluding amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility with an aggregate carrying

value of $3977320000 at December 31 2009 had an estimated aggregate
fair value of $4052817000 at

December 31 2009 Contractual fixed rate debt represented $3249647000 of the carrying value and

$3352312000 of the fair value at December 31 2009 If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher as of

December 31 2009 the fair value of this fixed rate debt would have decreased by $159030000
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The response to this Item is included as separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9a CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures As required by Rule 3a- 15 under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this report the Company carried out an
evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Companys management including the

Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and

operation of the Companys disclosure controls and procedures Based upon that evaluation the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports it

files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissions rules and forms We continue to review
and document our disclosure controls and procedures including our internal control over financial

reporting and may from time to time make changes aimed at enhancing their effectiveness and to ensure
that our systems evolve with our business

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for

establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in

Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and Sd-i 5f Under the supervision and with the participation of our

management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009
based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based on that evaluation our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009

Our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 has been audited by Ernst Young LLP
an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which is included elsewhere herein

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There was no change in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over
financial reporting

ITEM 9b OTHER INFORMATION

None

60



PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 pertaining to directors and executive officers of the Company and the

Companys Code of Conduct is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement to be filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Form 10-K with

respect to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled to be held on May 19 2010

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 pertaining to executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to the

Companys Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end

of the year covered by this Form 10-K with respect to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled to be held on

May 19 2010

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 pertaining to security ownership of management and certain beneficial owners

of the Companys common stock is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement to be filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the year
covered by this Form 10-K

with iespect to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled to be held on May 19 2010 to the extent not set forth

below

The Company maintains the 2009 Stock Option and Incentive Plan the 2009 Plan and the 1996 Non-Qualified

Employee Stock Purchase Plan the ESPP pursuant to which common stock or other equity awards may be

issued or granted to eligible persons

The following table gives information about equity awards under the 2009 Plan the Companys prior 1994 Stock

Incentive Plan the 1994 Plan under which awards were previously made and the ESPP as of December 31

2009

Number of securities

remaining available for future

Number of securities to be Weighted-average issuance under equity

issued upon exercise of exercise price of compensation plans

outstanding options outstanding options excluding securities

Plan category
warrants and rights

warrants and rights
reflected in column

Equity compensation

plans approved by security

holders 2964394 $80.76 4164064

Equity compensation

plans not approved by

security holders
n/a 755484

Total 2964394 $80.76 4919548

Consists of the 2009 Plan and the 1994 Plan

Includes 128141 deferred units granted under the 2009 Plan and the 1994 Plan which subject to vesting

requirements will convert in the future to common stock on one-for-one basis but does not include

244640 shares of restricted stock that are outstanding and that are already reflected in the Companys

outstanding shares
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Excludes deferred units granted under the 2009 Plan and the 1994 Plan which subject to vesting

requirements will convert in the future to common stock on one-for-one basis

Consists of the ESPP

The ESPP which was adopted by the Board of Directors on October 29 1996 has not been approved by our
shareholders further description of the ESPP

appears in Note 10 Stock-Based Compensation Plans of our

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this report

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 pertaining to certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated
herein by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Form 10-K with respect to the Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be held on May 19 2010

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 pertaining to the fees paid to and services provided by the Companys principal
accountant is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the
year covered by this Form 10-K with

respect to the

Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 19 2010
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

15a1 Financial Statements

Index to Financial Statements

Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-i

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2009 and 2008 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for

the years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
F-8

15a2 Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
F-37

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and

Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been

omitted

15a3 Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits are filed as part of this report
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

3i -- Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Articles of Incorporation of the

Company dated as of June 1998 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3i
to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2007

3i.2 -- Articles of Amendment dated as of October 1998 Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3i.2 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2007

3u -- Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company as adopted by the Board of

Directors on May 21 2009 Filed herewith

3ii.2 -- Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws of AvalonBay Communities

Inc dated February 10 2010 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form
8-K of the Company filed February 12 2010

4.1 -- Indenture for Senior Debt Securities dated as of January 16 1998 between the

Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company as Trustee Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 of the

Company File No 333-139839 filed January 2007

4.2 -- First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 20 1998 between the

Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company as Trustee Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 of the

Company File No 333-139839 filed January 2007

4.3 -- Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 1998 between the Company
and State Street Bank and Trust Company as Trustee Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 of the Company
File No 333-139839 filed January 2007

4.4 -- Amended and Restated Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 10 2000

between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company as Trustee

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Registration Statement on Form S-3

of the Company File No 333-139839 filed January 2007

4.5 -- Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 18 2006 between the

Company and U.S Bank National Association as Trustee Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 of the Company
File No 333-139839 filed January 2007

4.6 -- Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan of the Company
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 8.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-3

of the Company File No 333-87063 filed September 14 1999

4.7 -- Amendment to the Companys Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

filed on December 17 1999 Incorporated by reference to the Prospectus

Supplement filed pursuant to Rule 424b2 of the Securities Act of 1933 on
December 17 1999

4.8 -- Amendment to the Companys Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

filed on March 26 2004 Incorporated by reference to the Prospectus

Supplement filed pursuant to Rule 424b3 of the Securities Act of 1933 on
March 26 2004
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4.9 -- Amendment to the Companys Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

filed on May 15 2006 Incorporated by reference to the Prospectus Supplement

filed pursuant to Rule 424b3 of the Securities Act of 1933 on May 15 2006

10.1 -- Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement dated August 2003 among

the Company and the Agents including Administrative Procedures relating to

the MTNs Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-K of the

Company filed March 2009

10.2 -- Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of AvalonBay Value

Added Fund L.P dated as of March 16 2005 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 0-Q of the Company filed May 2005

10.3 -- Term Loan Agreement dated May 15 2008 among the Company as Borrower

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as Syndication Agent Sumitomo Mitsui Banking

Corporation Wells Fargo Bank N.A and Deutsche Bank Trust Company

Americas each as Documentation Agent the other banks signatory thereto

each as Bank J.P Morgan Securities Inc as Sole Bookrunner and Lead

Arranger and Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K of the Company filed May 19 2008

10.4 -- Master Cross-Collateralization Agreement dated as of April 24 2009 between

Deutsche Bank Berkshire Mortgage Inc parties identified on Exhibit A-

Schedule attached thereto and Shady Grove Financing LLC Incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed August 10

2009

10.5 -- Master Substitution Agreement dated April 23 2009 between Deutsche Bank

Berkshire Mortgage Inc AvalonBay Traville LLC and the entities identified

on Schedule attached thereto Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to

Form 10-Q of the Company filed August 10 2009

10.6 -- Form of Multifamily Note dated April 24 2009 Used in connection with the

properties identified on Exhibit to the Master Cross-Collateralization

Agreement dated April 24 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Form 0-Q of the Company filed August 10 2009

10.7 -- Form of Guaranty dated April 24 2009 Used in connection with the properties

identified on Exhibit to the Master Cross-Collateralization Agreement dated

April 24 2009 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q of the

Company filed August 10 2009

10.8 -- Endorsement Split Dollar Agreements and Amendments thereto with Messrs

Blair Naughton Fuller Sargeant Horey and Meyer Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed May 2005

10.9 -- Form of Amendment to Endorsement Split Dollar Agreement with Messrs

Blair Naughton Sargeant and Horey Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.4 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.10 Employment Agreement dated as of July 2003 between the Company and

Thomas Sargeant Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment

No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-3 File No 333-

103755 filed July 2003
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10.11 -- First Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and

Thomas Sargeant dated as of March 31 2005 Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed May 2005

10.12 -- Form of Second Amendment to Employment Agreements between the Company
and Certain Executive Officers Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

form 8-K of the Company filed May 22 2008

10.13 -- Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and

Thomas Sargeant dated as of December 14 2008 Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.14 -- Employment Agreement dated as of January 10 2003 between the Company
and Bryce Blair Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Form 10-K of

the Company filed March 2009

10.15 -- First Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and Bryce

Blair dated as of March 31 2005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to

Form l0-Q of the Company filed May 2005

10.16 -- Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and Bryce

Blair dated as of December 14 2008 Incorporated by reference to exhibit

10.12 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.17 -- Employment Agreement dated as of February 26 2001 between the Company
and Timothy Naughton Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Form

10-K of the Company filed March 2007

10.18 -- First Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and

Timothy Naughton dated as of March 31 2005 Incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.4 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed May 2005

10.19 -- Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and

Timothy Naughton dated as of December 14 2008 Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.20 -- Employment Agreement dated as of September 10 2001 between the

Company and Leo Horey Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to

Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2007

10.21 -- First Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and Leo

Horey dated as of March 31 2005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6

to Form l0-Q of the Company filed May 2005

10.22 -- Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between the Company and Leo

Horey dated as of December 14 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.18 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.23 -- Retirement Agreement dated as of March 24 2000 between the Company and

Gilbert Meyer Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Form 10-K of

the Company filed March 2007

10.24 First Amendment to Retirement Agreement between the Company and Gilbert

Meyer dated as of March 31 2005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.8 to Form l0-Q of the Company filed May 2005
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10.25 -- AvalonBay Communities Inc 2009 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K of the Company filed

May 28 2009

10.26 -- Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement 2009 Stock Option and Incentive

Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registration Statement on

Form S-8 of the Company filed May 22 2009

10.27 -- Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement 2009 Stock Option and

Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registration

Statement on Form S-8 of the Company filed May 22 2009

10.28 -- Form of Stock Grant and Restricted Stock Agreement 2009 Stock Option and

Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Registration

Statement on Form S-8 of the Company filed May 22 2009

10.29 -- Form of Director Restricted Stock Agreement 2009 Stock Option and Incentive

Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Registration Statement on

Form S-8 of the Company filed May 22 2009

10.30 -- Form of Director Restricted Unit Agreement 2009 Stock Option and Incentive

Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Registration Statement on

Form S-8 of the Company filed May 22 2009

10.3 -- 1996 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan dated June 26 1997 as

amended and restated Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Post-

effective Amendment No to Registration Statement on Form S-8 of the

Company File No 333-16837 filed June 26 1997

10.32 -- 1996 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan Plan Information

Statement dated June 26 1997 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to

Registration Statement on Form S-8 of the Company File No 333-16837 filed

November 26 1996

10.33 -- Form of Addendum to AvalonBay Communities Inc Non-Qualified Stock

Option Agreement for Certain Officers Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.30 to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.34 -- Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Company and its Directors

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form lO-Q of the Company filed

November 2005

10.35 -- The Companys Officer Severance Plan as amended and restated on November

18 2008 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Registration Statement

on Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.36 -- AvalonBay Communities Inc 1994 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and

restated in full on December 2004 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21

to Form 10-K of the Company filed March 2009

10.37 -- Amendment dated February 2006 to the AvalonBay Communities Inc 1994

Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated on December 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Form 10-K of the Company filed

March 14 2006
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10.38 -- Amendment dated December 2006 to the AvalonBay Communities Inc

1994 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated on December 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Form 10-K of the Company filed

March 2007

10.39 -- Amendment dated September 20 2007 to the AvalonBay Communities Inc

1994 Stock Incentive Plan as amended and restated on December 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q of the Company filed

November 2007

10.40 -- Form of AvalonBay Communities Inc Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement

1994 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Form 8-K filed February 12 2008

10.41 -- Form of AvalonBay Communities Inc Incentive Stock Option Agreement

1994 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Form 8-K filed February 12 2008

10.42 -- Form of AvalonBay Communities Inc Employee Stock Grant and Restricted

Stock Agreement 1994 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of Form 10-K of the Company filed

March 2009

10.43 -- Form of AvalonBay Communities Inc Director Restricted Unit Agreement

1994 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys Form 10-Q filed November

2007

10.44 -- Form of AvalonBay Communities Inc Director Restricted Stock Agreement

1994 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Form 10-Q filed November

2007

10.45 -- Second Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement dated as of

November 14 2006 among the Company as Borrower JPMorgan Chase Bank
N.A and Wachovia Bank National Association each as Bank and

Syndication Agent Bank of America N.A as Bank Swing Lender and

Issuing Bank Morgan Stanley Bank Wells Fargo Bank National Association

and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas each as Bank and

Documentation Agent the other banks signatory thereto each as Bank J.P

Morgan Securities Inc as Sole Bookrunner and Lead Arranger and Bank of

America N.A as Administrative Agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.1 to Form 8-K of the Company filed November 17 2006

10.46 -- First Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Revolving Loan

Agreement dated as of November 13 2007 among the Company as Borrower
the banks signatory thereto each as Bank and Bank of America N.A as

Administrative Agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K

of the Company filed November 16 2007

10.47 -- Rules and Procedures for Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation

Program Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Form 10-K of the

Company filed March 2007

10.48 -- Amendment to Rules and Procedures for Non-Employee Directors Deferred

Compensation Program adopted December 11 2008 Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.38 to Form 10-K of the Company field March 2009
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10.49 -- Amendment effective September 30 2007 to the Companys quarterly

compensation of Non-Employee Directors Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.2 to the Companys Form 10-Q filed November 2007

10.50 -- Form of AvalonBay Communities Inc 2008 Performance Plan Deferred Stock

Award Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K of

the Company filed May 22 2008

10.51 -- Amended and Restated AvalonBay Communities Inc Deferred Compensation

Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to Form 10-K of the Company

filed March 2009

12.1 -- Statements re Computation of Ratios Filed herewith

21.1 -- Schedule of Subsidiaries of the Company Filed herewith

23.1 -- Consent of Ernst Young LLP Filed herewith

31.1 -- Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Chief

Executive Officer Filed herewith

31.2 -- Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Chief

Financial Officer Filed herewith

32 -- Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Furnished herewith

101 -- XBRL Extensible
Business Reporting Language The following materials

from AvalonBay Communities Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2009 formatted in XBRL consolidated balance sheets

ii consolidated statements of operations iii consolidated statements of cash

flows iv consolidated changes in stockholders equity and notes to

consolidated financial statements

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed or incorporated by

reference as an exhibit to this Form 10-K pursuant to Item 15a3 of Form 10-K

As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T this information is furnished and not filed for purposes
of

Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

AvalonBay Communities Inc

Date February 26 2010 By /s/ Bryce Blair

Bryce Blair Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Date February 26 2010 By /s/ Bryce Blair

Bryce Blair Director Chairman of the Board and Chief

Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Date February 26 2010 By /s/ Thomas Sargeant

Thomas Sargeant Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Date February 26 2010 By Is Ken Shea

Keri Shea Vice President Finance Treasurer

Principal Accounting Officer

Date February 26 2010 By Is Bruce Choate

Bruce Choate Director

Date February 26 2010 By Is John Healy Jr

John Healy Jr Director

Date February 26 2010 By Is Gilbert Meyer

Gilbert Meyer Director

Date February 26 2010 By Is Timothy Naughton

Timothy Naughton Director

Date February 26 2010 By /s/ Lance Primis

Lance Primis Director

Date February 26 2010 By Is Peter Rummell

Peter Rummell Director

Date February 26 2010 By Is/H Jay Sarles

Jay Sarles Director

Date February 26 2010 By Is Edward Walter

Edward Walter Director
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

AvalonBay Communities Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AvalonBay Communities Inc as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive

income stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009

Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15a2 These financial

statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility
is to express an

opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of AvalonBay Communities Inc at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated results of

its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years

in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity

with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule

when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material

respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States AvalonBay Communities Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion

thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

McLean Virginia

March 12010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

AvalonBay Communities Inc

We have audited AvalonBay Communities Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on
criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission the COSO criteria AvalonBay Communities Inc.s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in Item 9a Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal

control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys
assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion AvalonBay Communities Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets of AvalonBay Communities Inc as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated

statements of operations and other comprehensive income stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2009 of AvalonBay Communities Inc and our report dated March 2010 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

McLean Virginia

March 12010
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES 1NC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Dollars in thousands except per share data

12-31-09 12-31-08

ASSETS

Real estate

Land
1250679 1119221

Buildings and impmvements
5988330 5281134

Furniture fixtures and equipment

186301 170466

7425310 6570821

Less accumulated depreciation

1477772 12685511

Net operating real estate

5947538 5302264

Construction in pmgress including land
531299 867040

Land held for development

237095 239456

Operating real estate assets held for sale net
117555 240983

Total real estatenet

6833487 6649743

Cash and cash equivalents

105691 64935

Cash in escrow

210676 192681

Resident security deposits

23646 29708

Investments in unconsolidated real estate entities
74570 55025

DefelTed financing costs net

34531 31350

Deferred development costs

87763 57365

Prepaid expenses and other assets

87241 93546

Total assets

7457605 7174353

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Unsecured notes net

1658029 2002965

Variable mte unsecured credit facility

124000

Mortgage mtes payable

2316843 1527757

Dividends payable

72773 208209

Payables for construction

49623 64363

Accrued expenses
and other liabilities

229299 218280

Accrued interest payable

35069 32651

Resident security deposits

33646 38643

Liabilities related to real estate assets held for sale
6399 31136

Total liabilities

4401681 4248004

Redeemable noncontmlling interests

5797 10234

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.01 par value $25 liquidation 1reference 50000000 shares

authorized at both December 31 2009 and December31 2008 zem shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008

Common stock $0.01 par value 140000000 shares authorized at both

December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 81528957 and 77119963 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 respectively
815 771

Additional paid-in capital

3200367 2940499

Accumulated earnings less dividends
149988 22223

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

2932

Total stockholders equity

3050127 2916115

Total liabilities and stocklailders equity
7457605 7174353

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AVALONBAy COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Dollars in thousands except per share data

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07
Revenue

Rentalandotherjnce
844254 807656 721644

Management develoFinent and other fees
7328 6568 6142

Total revenue
851582 814224 727786

Expenses

Operating expenses excluding property taxes 261752 248862 222332
Property taxes

83809 73937 67240
Interest expense net

150323 114910 92175
Gain loss on extinguishment of debt net

25910 1839 --

Depreciation expense 209746 183748 157895
General and administrative expense

28748 42781 28494
Impairment loss-land holdings

21152 57899 --

Total expenses
781440 720298 568136

Equity in income of unconsoljdateij entities
1441 4566 59169

Gain on sale of land
4830 -- 545

Income fmm continuing operations
76413 98492 219364

Discontinued operations

Income from discontinued operations 13974 27353 33894
Gain on sale of conmiunities

63887 284901 106487
Total discontinued operations

77861 312254 140381

Net income
154274 410746 359745Net income loss attributable to redeemable

noncontrolling interests 1373 741 1585
Net income attrilxitable to the Company

155647 411487 358160
Dividends attrilxitable to preferred stock

10454 8700

Net income attribatable to common stockholders
155647 401033 349460

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges 1865 434 213
Comprehensive income

157512 401467 349673

Earnings per common share basic

Income from continuing operations attributable to common
stockholders net of dividends attributable to preferred stock 0.97 1.15 2.65

Discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders 0.97 4.06 1.78

Net income attributable to common stockholders 1.94 5.21 4.43

Eamings per common share diluted

Income from continuing operations attributable to common

stockholders net of preferred stock dividends 0.96 1.15 2.62
Discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders 0.97 4.02 1.76

Net income attributable to conimnon stockholders 1.93 5.17 4.38

Dividends
per common share

3.5700 5.3775 3.4000

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Dollars in thousands

Accumulated Accumulated

Shares issocd
Aklitional earnings other Total

Preferred Common Preferred Common paid-in
less comprehensive stockholders

stock stock stock stock capital
dividends loss equity

Balance at December 312006 4800003 74668372 40 747 2482516 90199 3579 2569923

income attributable to the Company
-- 358160 358160

irealized gain on cash flow hedges

213 213

Ciange in redemption
value of

redeemable noncontrolling interest

-- 3826 3826

Dtvidends declared to common

and preferred
stockholders

-- 276823 276823

Irsuance of common stock
-- 5130855 51 619359 1741 617669

irchase of common stock
-- 2480616 25 93501 164403 257929

Amortizationof deferred compensation
--

-- 18334 18334

Balance at December 31 2007 40000 77318611 40 773 3026708 1566 3366 3025721

et income attributable to the Company
-- 411487 411487

nrealized gain on cash flow hedges

434 434

Change in redemption value of

redeemable noncontrolling interest
-- 12095 12095

Dividends declared to common

andpreferredstockholders
--

-- -- 423118 423118

lsuanceofcommonstock -- 323085 5838 185 5656

Furchase of common stock
-- 521733 18086 24.068 42159

Fedemptionofpreferredstock 400000 40 -- 96425 96465

Amortizationof deferred compensation
--

-- 22464
22464

ltalance at December 312008
-- 77119963 771 2940499 22223 2932 2916115

Net income attributable to the Company

-- 155647 155647

tjnrealized gain on cash flow hedges

1865 1865

Change in redemption value of

redeemable noncontrolling interest
-- 3373 3373

Dividends declared to common stockholders

-- 287.983 287983

lssuanceofcommonstock
-- 4442180 44 245676 1198 246918

Purchase of common stock
-- 33186

Amortizationof deferred compensation
--

-- 14192 L4J2

Italance atDecember3l 2009 -- 81.528957 815 3200367 149988 l06Tfl 3050127

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Dollars in thousands

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

Cash flows from
operating activities

Net income
154274 410746 359745

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided

by operating activities

Depreciation expense 209746 183748 157895

Depreciation expense fnm discontinurd operations 8540 15704 23830
Amortization of deferred financing coats and debt premiumldiscount 8139 5892 4934
Amortization ofstock-based compensation 6098 11888 14353
Return on investment of unconsolidated entities -- 130

Equity in income ofunconsolidated entities net of eliminations 810 3436 58122
Jmpairmentloss-landholdings 21152 57899
Abandomnent of development pirsuits 2461 9428 3429
Gain loss on extinguishment of debt net 25910 1839
Gain on sale of real estate assets 68717 284901 107032

Increase decrease in cash in
operating escrows 2434 3054 7403

Increase decrease in residant
security depnsits

prepaid expenses and other assets
2391 5673 8747

Increase decrease in accrurd expenses other liabilities

andaccniedinterestpayable 11850 16426 54368
Net cash povided by operating activities

378600 386084 454874

Cash flows from
investing activities

Development/redevelopment of real estate assets including

land acquisitions and deferred development costs 560155 881503 1112590
Acquisition of real estate assets including partner equity interest -- 13841
Capital expenditures -existingreal estate assets 11114 15534 13851
Capital expenditures non-real estate assets 834 5290 1424
Proceeds from sale of real estate net of selling costs 89417 529777 261089
Increase decrease in payables for construction 14740 27018 32348
Decrease in cash in construction escrows 77754 126611 54149
Increase decrease in investments in unconsolidated real estate entities 13887 6648 15127

Net cash used in
investing activities 333559 266309 809247

Cash flows from finaneing activities

Issuance of common stock
108860 7433 621029

Repurchase of common stock
-- 42159 257929

Redemption of preferred stock
-- 100000

Dividends paid 283710 278795 268966
Net boffowings repayments under unsecured credit

thcility 124000 390500 514500
Issuance of mortgage notes payable and draws on construrtion loans 741140 697046 59126
Repayments of mortgage notes jyable 65229 67442 27256
Issuance of unsecured notes

500000 330000
Repayment ofunsecured notes 868564 219050 260000
Payment of deferred financing costs 12523 9491 6550
Redemption of units for cash by minority partners 202 1756 6851
Contributions from minority and pmfit-shanng partners --

1333
Distributions to DownREIT

partnership unitholdars 57 216 280
Distributions to joint venture and profit-sharing partners -- 181 1796

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 4285 75111 366360

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents 40756 44664 11987

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 64935 20271 8284

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 105691 64935 20271

Cash paid during the
year

for
interest net of amount capitalized 168651 110290 98594

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS continued

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities dollars in thousands

During the year ended December 31 2009

2624641 shares of common stock valued at $139058 were issued as part of the special dividend declared in the fourth

quarter of 2008 169851 shares of common stock valued at $8360 were issued in connection with stock grants 11172 shares

valued at $651 were issued through the Companys dividend reinvestment plan 33186 shares valued at $1517 were withheld

to satisfy employees tax withholding and other liabilities and 1031 shares valued at $147 were forfeited for net value of

$146405 In addition the Company granted 344801 options for common stock at value of $2252

The Company recorded decrease to other liabilities and corresponding gain to other comprehensive income of $1865 to

record the impact of the Companys hedge accounting activity as described in Note Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities

Common dividends declared but not paid totaled $72773

The Company recorded decrease of $3373 in redeemable noncontrolling interests with corresponding increase to

accumulated earnings less dividends to adjust the redemption value associated with the put options held by joint venture

partners and DownREIT partnership units For further discussion of the nature and valuation of these items see Note 11 Fair

Value

The Company obtained $93440 in variable rate tax-exempt bond financing related to Development Right the proceeds of

which will be held in escrow until requisitioned for construction funding This loan provides an option for the Company to

request an additional construction loan of up to $83560 subject to the lenders discretion

During the year ended December31 2008

130325 shares of common stock valued at $11646 were issued in connection with stock grants 5703 shares valued at $458

were issued through the Companys dividend reinvestment plan 24407 shares valued at $1357 were issued to members of

the Board of Directors in fulfillment of deferred stock awards 39633 shares valued at $3483 were withheld to satisfy

employees tax withholding and other liabilities and 1101 shares valued at $109 were forfeited for net value of $9869 In

addition the Company granted 401212 options for common stock at value of $3976

The Company recorded decrease to other liabilities and corresponding gain to other comprehensive income of $434 to

record the impact of the Companys hedge accounting activity

The Company issued $135000 of variable rate debt relating to Avalon Walnut Creek The proceeds were placed in an escrow

account until requisitioned for construction funding and no amounts have been drawn for use in the development of the

community

Common and preferred dividends declared but not paid totaled $208209

The Company recorded decrease of $12095 in redeemable noncontrolling interests with corresponding increase to

accumulated earnings less dividends to adjust the redemption value associated with the put options held by joint venture

partners and DowuREIT partnership units

During the year ended December 31 2007

75231 shares of common stock valued at $10971 were issued in connection with stock grants 2929 shares valued at $365

were issued through the Companys dividend reinvestment plan 41000 shares valued at $4381 were withheld to satisfy

employees tax withholding and other liabilities and 8609 shares valued at $231 were forfeited for net value of $6724 In

addition the Company granted 331356 options for common stock net of forfeitures at value of $7518

19231 units of limited partnership valued at $887 were presented for redemption to the DownREIT partnerships that issued

such units and were acquired by the Company in exchange for an equal number of shares of the Companys common stock

The Company recorded decrease to other liabilities and corresponding gain to other comprehensive income of $213

to record the impact of the Companys hedge accounting activity

The Company issued $100000 of variable rate tax-exempt debt relating to Avalon Morningside Park The proceeds were

placed in an escrow account until requisitioned for construction funding none of which was drawn for use in the development

of the community

Common and preferred dividends declared but not paid totaled $67909

The Company recorded an increase of $3826 in redeemable noncontrolling interests with corresponding decrease to

accumulated earnings less dividends to adjust the redemption value associated with the put options held by joint venture

partners and DownREIT partnership units
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AVALONBAY COMMUNITIES INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dollars in thousands except per share data

Organization and Basis of Presentation

Organization

AvalonBay Communities Inc the Company which term unless the context otherwise requires refers to AvalonBay
Communities Inc together with its consolidated subsidiaries is Maryland corporation that has elected to be taxed

as real estate investment trust REIT under the Code The Company focuses on the development acquisition

ownership and operation of apartment communities in high barrier to entry markets of the United States These
markets are located in the New England Metro New YorklNew Jersey Mid-Atlantic Midwest Pacific Northwest
and Northern and Southern California regions of the country

At December 31 2009 the Company owned or held direct or indirect ownership interest in 165 operating

apartment communities containing 47926 apartment homes in ten states and the District of Columbia of which

seven communities containing 2615 apartment homes were under reconstruction In addition the Company owned

or held direct or indirect ownership interest in seven communities under construction that are expected to contain

an aggregate of 2438 apartment homes when completed The Company also owned or held direct or indirect

ownership interest in rights to develop an additional 28 communities that if developed as expected will contain an

estimated 7180 apartment homes

All capitalized terms have the meaning as provided in this Form 10-K

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned

subsidiaries certain joint venture partnerships subsidiary partnerships structured as DownREITs and
any variable

interest entities that qualified for consolidation All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been

eliminated in consolidation

The Company accounts for joint venture entities and subsidiary partnerships including those structured as

DownREITs that are not variable interest entities in accordance with the guidance applicable to limited partnerships

or similar entities The Company evaluates the partnership of each joint venture entity and determines whether

control over the partnership lies with the general partner or when the limited partners have certain rights with the

limited partners The Company consolidates an investment when both the Company is the general partner and

ii the limited partner interests do not overcome the Companys presumption of control by having either substantive

participating rights the ability to remove the Company as the general partner or the ability to dissolve the

partnership

The Company generally uses the equity method under all other potential scenarios including where the

Company holds general partner interest but the presumption of control by the Company is overcome by the limited

partner interests as described in the preceding paragraph and ii where the Company holds limited partner
interest in joint venture Investments in which the Company has little or no influence are accounted for using the

cost method

In each of the partnerships structured as DownREITs either the Company or one of the Companys wholly owned

subsidiaries is the general partner and there are one or more limited partners whose interest in the partnership is

represented by units of limited partnership interest For each DownREIT partnership limited partners are entitled to

receive an initial distribution of current cash flow before any distribution is made to the general partner Although
the partnership agreements for each of the DownREITs are different generally the distributions

per
unit paid to the

holders of units of limited partnership interests have approximated the Companys current common stock dividend

per share The holders of units of limited partnership interests have the right to present all or some of their units for

redemption for cash amount as determined by the applicable partnership agreement and based on the fair value of

the Companys common stock In lieu of cash redemption the Company may elect to exchange such units for an
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equal number of shares of the Companys common stock In 2009 the Company redeemed 4077 operating units for

cash

In conjunction with the acquisition and development of investments in unconsolidated entities the Company may

incur costs in excess of its equity in the underlying assets These costs are capitalized and depreciated over the life

of the underlying assets to the extent that the Company expects to recover the costs

In 2009 an unconsolidated joint venture in which the Company holds an interest determined that the recent

economic downturn impacted the recoverability of the carrying value of long lived asset held as an investment

Accordingly the joint venture recognized an impairment loss The Company recognized its proportionate
share of

the impairment loss of approximately $2600 as component of equity in income of unconsolidated entities on the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income There were no

impairment losses recognized by any of the Companys investments in unconsolidated entities during the years

ended December 31 2008 or 2007

Revenue and Gain Recognition

Rental income related to leases is recognized on an accrual basis when due from residents as required by the accounting

guidance applicable to leases which provides guidance on classification and recognition In accordance with the

Companys standard lease terms rental payments are generally due on monthly basis Any cash concessions given at

the inception of the lease are amortized over the approximate life of the lease which is generally one year

The Company accounts for sales of real estate assets and the related gain recognition in accordance with the accounting

guidance applicable to sales of real estate which establishes standards for recognition of profit on all real estate sales

transactions other than retail land sales The Company recognizes the sale and associated gain or loss from the

disposition provided
that the earnings process

is complete and the Company is not obligated to perform significant

activities after the sale

Real Estate

Operating real estate assets are stated at cost and consist of land buildings and improvements furniture fixtures and

equipment and other costs incurred during their development redevelopment and acquisition Significant expenditures

which improve or extend the life of an asset are capitalized Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to

expense as incurred

The Companys policy with respect to capital expenditures
is generally to capitalize only non-recurring expenditures

Improvements and upgrades are capitalized only if the item exceeds $15 extends the useful life of the asset and is not

related to making an apartment
home ready for the next resident Purchases of personal property such as computers

and furniture are capitalized only if the item is new addition and exceeds $2.5 The Company generally expenses

purchases of personal property made for replacement purposes

Project costs related to the development construction and redevelopment of real estate projects including interest

and related loan fees property taxes and other direct costs are capitalized as cost of the project Indirect project

costs that relate to several projects are capitalized and allocated to the projects to which they relate Indirect costs

not clearly related to development construction and redevelopment activity are expensed as incurred For

development capitalization begins when the Company has determined that development of the future asset is

probable ii can be suspended if there is no current development activity underway but future development is

probable and iii ends when the asset or portion of an asset is delivered and is ready for its intended use or the

Companys intended use changes such that capitalization is no longer appropriate For redevelopment efforts the

Company capitalizes costs either in advance of taking homes out of service when significant renovation of the

common area has begun until the redevelopment is completed or ii when an apartment
home is taken out of

service for redevelopment until the redevelopment is completed and the apartment home is available for new

resident Rental income and operating costs incurred during the initial lease-up or post-redevelopment lease-up

period are recognized as they accrue
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The Company acquired as Development Rights eleven land parcels improved with office buildings industrial space and

other commercial and residential ventures occupied by unrelated third parties As of December 31 2009 the Company
is pursuing development of four of these parcels For the seven parcels of land for which the Company does not intend

to pursue development rental revenue from the incidental operations are recognized as component of rental and other

income For those land parcels for which the Company intends to pursue development the Company will manage the

current improvements until such time as all tenant obligations have been satisfied or eliminated through negotiation
and construction of new apartment communities is ready to begin Revenue from incidental operations received from
the current improvements on the land parcels in excess of any incremental costs are being recorded as reduction of

total capitalized costs of the Development Right and not as part of net income

In coimection with the acquisition of an operating community the Company performs valuation allocating to each

asset and liability acquired in such transaction its estimated fair value at the date of acquisition The purchase price

allocations to tangible assets such as land buildings and improvements and furniture fixtures and equipment are

reflected in real estate assets and depreciated over their estimated useful lives Any purchase price allocation to

intangible assets such as in-place leases is included in prepaid expenses and other assets on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized over the average remaining lease term of the acquired leases The fair

value of acquired in-place leases is determined based on the estimated cost to replace such leases including foregone
rents during an assumed re-lease period as well as the impact on projected cash flow of acquired leases with leased

rents above or below current market rents For acquisitions subsequent to December 31 2008 all costs incurred with

these acquisitions will be expensed Prior to January 2009 third party costs directly associated with the acquisition

were capitalized as part of the purchase price

Depreciation is calculated on buildings and improvements using the straight-line method over their estimated useful

lives which
range from seven to thirty years Furniture fixtures and equipment are generally depreciated using the

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives which range from three years primarily computer-related

equipment to seven years

Income Taxes

As of December 31 2009 the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits The Company does not believe

that there will be any material changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next 12 months The Company is

subject to examination by the respective taxing authorities for the tax years 2006 through 2008

The Company elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code as amended for the
year ended December 31 1994 and

has not revoked such election
corporate REIT is legal entity which holds real estate interests and must meet

number of organizational and operational requirements including requirement that it currently distribute at least 90%
of its adjusted taxable income to stockholders As REIT the Company generally will not be subject to corporate level

federal income tax on taxable income if it distributes 100% of the taxable income over the time period allowed under

the Code to its stockholders Management believes that all such conditions for the avoidance of income taxes have

been or will be met for the periods presented Accordingly no provision for federal and state income taxes has been
made If the Company fails to qualify as REIT in any taxable year it will be subject to federal income taxes at regular

corporate rates including any applicable alternative minimum tax and may not be able to qualify as REIT for four

subsequent taxable years Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as REIT the Company may be subject to certain

state and local taxes on its income and property and to federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed taxable

income The Company incurred net charges of $515 and $3200 for federal excise taxes as component of general and

administrative expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income as result of the

excess income attributable to gains on asset sales from the Companys disposition activities during 2009 and 2008
respectively The Company did not incur any related charges in 2007 For further discussion of the real estate

disposition activities see Note Real Estate Disposition Activities In addition taxable income from non-REIT
activities performed through taxable REIT subsidiaries is subject to federal state and local income taxes
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The following reconciles net income attributable to common stockholders to taxable net income for the years
ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 unaudited
2009 2008 2007

Estimate Actual Actual

Net income attributable to common stockholders 155647 401033 349460

Dividends attributable to preferred stock

not deductible for tax 7226 8700

GAAP gain on sale of communities less than tax gain 20410 62540 12245

Depreciation/Amortization timing differences on real estate 10757 18997 88328

Tax compensation expense less than in excess of GAAP 13512 10131 24239

Impairment loss 19037 50100

Other adjustments
10488 1943 17915

Taxablenetincome 229851 513976 275753

The following summarizes the tax components of the Companys common and preferred dividends declared for the

years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 unaudited

2009 2008 2007

Ordinary income 69% 16% 35%

15% capital gain
21% 60% 54%

Unrecaptured 1250 gain 10% 24% 11%

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include fees and other expenditures necessary to obtain debt fmancing and are amortized on

straight-line basis which approximates the effective interest method over the shorter of the term of the loan or the

related credit enhancement facility if applicable Unamortized financing costs are charged to earnings when debt is

retired before the maturity date The Company recognized charge of approximately $1000 as component of gain

loss on extinguishment of debt net in 2009 Amounts recognized in earnings in 2008 and 2007 were not significant

Accumulated amortization of deferred financing costs was $19880 at December 31 2009 and $24264 at December

31 2008

Cash Cash Equivalents
and Cash in Escrow

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less from

the date acquired Cash in escrow consists primarily of construction financing proceeds that are restricted for use in the

construction of specific community The majority of the Companys cash cash equivalents and cash in escrows are

held at major commercial banks

Interest Rate Contracts

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate risk As of December 31 2009 the

Company had approximately $59306 in variable rate debt subject to cash flow hedges and $300000 of fixed rate debt

subject to fair value hedges and $61298 as of December 31 2008 subject to cash flow hedges Excluding debt on

communities classified as held for sale the Company did not apply hedge accounting for an additional $110275 in

variable rate debt which is subject to interest rate caps as of December 31 2009 See Note Derivative Instruments

and Hedging Activities for further discussion of derivative financial instruments
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Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income as reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income
is defined as all changes in equity during each period except for those resulting from investments by or distributions to

shareholders Accumulated other comprehensive loss as reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders

Equity reflects the effective portion of the cumulative changes in the fair value of derivatives in qualifying cash flow

hedge relationships

Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted

average number of shares outstanding during the period All outstanding unvested restricted share awards contain

rights to non-forfeitable dividends and participate in undistributed earnings with common shareholders and
accordingly are considered participating securities that are included in the two-class method of computing basic EPS
All historical periods presented have been restated to reflect the impact of including participating securities in the basic

earnings per
share calculation Both the unvested restricted shares and other potentially dilutive common shares and the

related impact to earnings are considered when calculating earnings per share on diluted basis The Companys
earnings per common share are determined as follows

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

Basic and diluted shares outstanding

Weighted average common shares -basic 79951348 76783515 78680043

Weighted average DownREIT units outstanding 16490 59886 105859

Effect of dilutive securities
631819 735451 1071025

Weighted average common shares diluted 80599657 77578852 79856927

Calculation of Earnings per Share basic

Net income attributable to common stockholders 155647 401033 349460
Net income allocated to unvested restricted shares 486 1313 1144
Net income attributable to common stockholders adjusted 155161 399720 348316

Weighted average common shares basic 79951348 76783515 78680043

Earnings per common share basic 1.94 5.21 4.43

Calculation of Earnings per Share diluted

Net income attributable to common stockholders 155647 401033 349460
Add noncontmlling interests of DownREIT unitholders in

consolidated partnerships including discontinued operations 66 216 280

Adjusted net income available to common stockholders 155713 401249 349740

Weighted average common shares diluted 80599657 77578852 79856927

Eamings per common share -diluted 1.93 5.17 4.38

Certain options to purchase shares of common stock in the amounts of 1990064 and 1534784 were outstanding at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share

because such options are anti-dilutive

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company estimates the forfeiture of stock options and recognizes compensation cost net of the estimated

forfeitures The estimated forfeitures included in compensation cost are adjusted to reflect actual forfeitures at the end
of the vesting period The forfeiture rate at December 31 2009 was 1.7% The application of estimated forfeitures did

not materially impact compensation expense for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007
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Abandoned Pursuit Costs and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its real estate and other long-lived assets for impairment when potential indicators of

impairment exist Such assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization unless the carrying

amount of the asset is not recoverable If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of property

may not be recoverable the Company assesses its recoverability by comparing the carrying amount of the property

to its estimated undiscounted future cash flows If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future

cash flows the Company recognizes an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair

value of the property Based on periodic tests of recoverability of long-lived assets for the years
ended December

31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company did not record any impairment
losses for wholly owned operating real estate

assets

The Company capitalizes pre-development costs incurred in pursuit of new development opportunities for which the

Company currently believes future development is probable Future development of these Development Rights is

dependent upon various factors including zoning and regulatory approval rental market conditions construction

costs and the availability of capital Initial pre-development costs incurred for pursuits for which future

development is not yet considered probable are expensed as incurred In addition if the status of Development

Right changes making future development by the Company no longer probable any capitalized pre-development

costs are written off with charge to expense The Company expensed costs related to abandoned pursuits which

includes the abandonment of Development Rights and disposition pursuits in the amounts of $5842 in 2009

$12511 in 2008 and $6974 in 2007 These costs are included in operating expenses excluding property taxes on

the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income Abandoned pursuit

costs can vary greatly and the costs incurred in any given period may be significantly different in future years

During 2009 the Company concluded that the economic downturn and the related decline in employment levels did

not support
the development and construction of certain new apartment

communities that were previously
in

planning This resulted in the recognition of impairment charges of $20302 related to the impairment of two land

parcels which the Company does not currently intend to develop The Company looked to third-party pricing

estimates to determine the fair values of the land parcels
considered to be impaired Given the heterogeneous nature

of multifamily real estate the third party values incorporated significant other unobservable inputs and are therefore

considered to be Level prices in the fair value hierarchy In addition in 2009 the Company recognized further

impairment charge of $850 on land parcel that was previously impaired
in the fourth quarter

of 2008 The

additional charge is to reduce the land basis to the Companys estimated selling price less costs to dispose In 2008

the Company incurred charges of $57899 for the impairment of land parcels for which the Company does not

currently intend to develop The Company looked to combination of internal models and third-party pricing

estimates to determine the fair values for these land parcels at December 31 2008 Considering the Companys

knowledge of multifamily residential development the fair values of the land parcels that are zoned for multifamily

residential development were generated using an internal model and the land parcels zoned for other purposes were

valued using third-party estimates of fair value For the internally generated fair values the Company used

discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows for multifamily residential rental community

Assets Heldfor Sale Discontinued Operations

The Company presents the assets and liabilities of any communities which have been sold or otherwise qualify as held

for sale separately in the Consolidated Balance Sheets In addition the results of operations for those assets that meet

the defmition of discontinued operations are presented as such in the Companys Consolidated Statements of

Operations
and Other Comprehensive Income Held for sale and discontinued operations

classifications are provided in

both the current and prior periods presented Real estate assets held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying

amount or the fair value less the cost to sell Both the real estate assets and corresponding liabilities are presented

separately in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets Subsequent to classification of an asset as held for sale

no further depreciation is recorded For those assets qualifying for classification as discontinued operations specific

components of net income presented as discontinued operations
include net operating income minority interest

expense depreciation expense
and interest expense net For periods prior to the asset qualifying for discontinued

operations the Company reclassifies the results of operations to discontinued operations
In addition the net gain or

loss including any impairment loss on the eventual disposal of assets held for sale will be presented as discontinued

operations when recognized change in presentation
for held for sale or discontinued operations will not have any

impact on the Companys fmancial condition or results of operations
The Company combines the operating investing
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and financing portions of cash flows attributable to discontinued operations with the respective cash flows from

continuing operations on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows The Company had three assets

that qualified for held for sale presentation at December 31 2009

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable noncontrolling interests are comprised of potential future obligations of the Company which allow the

investors holding the noncontrolling interest to require the Company to purchase their interest The Company
classifies obligations under the redeemable

noncontrolling interests at fair value with corresponding offset for

changes in the fair value recorded in accumulated earnings less dividends Reductions in fair value are recorded

only to the extent that the Company has previously recorded increases in fair value above the redeemable

noncontrolling interests initial basis The redeemable noncontrolling interests are presented outside of permanent

equity as settlement in the Companys common shares where permitted may not be within the Companys control

In accordance with the accounting guidance the Company has applied the presentation and disclosure requirements

for noncontrolling interests to all periods presented on retrospective basis The nature and valuation of the

Companys redeemable noncontrolling interests are discussed further in Note 11 Fair Value

Use ofEstimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and

assumptions These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expenses during the reporting periods Actual results could differ from those estimates

Reclassfications

Certain reclassifications have been made to amounts in prior years financial statements to conform to current year

presentations

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In April 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued guidance on determining fair value

when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased and for identifying
transactions that are not orderly for purposes of determining fair value This guidance clarifies the methodology
used to determine fair value when there is no active market or where the price inputs being used represent distressed

sales It also reaffirms the objective of fair value measurement as previously stated by the FASB which is to reflect

how much an asset would be sold for in an orderly transaction This pronouncement also reaffirms the need to use

judgment to determine if formerly active market has become inactive as well as to determine fair values when
markets have become inactive The Company adopted this on prospective basis The adoption did not have

material impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In May 2009 the FASB issued guidance on subsequent events This guidance defines subsequent events as events

or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or available to be

issued The requirements for disclosing subsequent events remain unchanged from the previous requirements

However the guidance contains an additional requirement that companies must disclose the date through which

subsequent events have been evaluated and the rationale for selecting that date The adoption of this guidance did

not impact the Companys financial position or results of operations See Note 14 Subsequent Events

In June 2009 the FASB issued FASB Accounting Standards Codification the Codification which established

the Codification as the sole source of authoritative GAAP The adoption of the Codification did not impact the

Companys financial position or results of operations Based on the Companys adoption of the Codification all

references to U.S GAAP have been removed and replaced with plain English explanations

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2009 the FASB issued guidance to significantly amend the consolidation guidance applicable to variable

interest entities VIEs The consolidation model was modified to one based on control and economics and
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replaces the current quantitative primary beneficiary analysis with qualitative analysis The primary beneficiary of

VIE will be the entity that has the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the

VIEs economic performance and ii the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits that could potentially be

significant to the VIE If multiple unrelated parties share such power as defined no party will be required to

consolidate the VIE Further the guidance requires continual reconsideration of the primary beneficiary of VIE

and adds an additional reconsideration event for determination of whether an entity is VIE The amendments also

require expanded disclosures related to VIEs which are largely consistent with the disclosure framework currently

applied by the Company The new guidance is effective January 2010 for the Company The Company is

evaluating the impact of the new guidance on the Companys financial position and results of operations

In August 2009 the FASB issued guidance on Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value to clarify the measurement of

liabilities at fair value When quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available the fair

value of liability is required to be measured using one or more of the listed valuation techniques that should

maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs In addition the

guidance clarifies that when estimating the fair value of liability an entity is not required to include separate

input or adjustment to other inputs relating to the existence of restriction that prevents the transfer of the liability

and clarifies how the price of traded debt security should be considered in estimating the fair value of liability

The adoption of this did not impact the Companys financial position or results of operations

Interest Capitalized

The Company capitalizes interest during the development and redevelopment of real estate assets Capitalized
interest

associated with the Companys development or redevelopment activities totaled $48226 for 2009 $74621 for 2008

and $73118 for 2007

Notes Payable Unsecured Notes and Credit Facility

The Companys mortgage notes payable unsecured notes and Credit Facility as defined below as of December 31

2009 and December 31 2008 are summarized below The following amounts and discussion do not include the

mortgage notes related to the communities classified as held for sale if any as of December 31 2009 and 2008 as

shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheets see Note Real Estate Disposition Activities

12-31-09 12-31-08

Fixed rate unsecured notes 1358257 $1672965

Variable rate unsecured notes
299772 330000

Fixed rate mortgage notes payable conventional and tax-exempt 1632605 901181

Variable rate mortgage notes payable conventional and tax-exempt 684238 646311

Total notes payable and unsecured notes 3974872 3550457

Variable rate unsecured credit facility
-- 124000

Total mortgage notes payable unsecured notes and Credit Facility 3974872 3674457

Balances at Dember 31 2009 and Decnber 312008 include $2220 and $2035 of debt discount

Balance at December 31 2009 includ $228 basis adjustmmts resulting fmm qualifying
fair value hedging iclationships

The following debt activity occurred during the year ended December 31 2009

In January 2009 the Company made cash tender offer for any and all of its 7.5% unsecured notes due

August 2009 and December 2010 The Company purchased $37438 principal amount of its $150000

7.5% unsecured notes due August 2009 at par In addition the Company purchased $64423 principal

amount of its $200000 7.5% unsecured notes due December 2010 at 98% of par for approximately

$63135 representing yield to maturity of 8.66% The Company recorded gain of approximately

$1062 net of the write-off of related deferred financing costs during the first quarter of 2009 in

conjunction with the purchase of the unsecured notes due December 2010 as gain on extinguishment of

debt net All of the notes purchased in the tender offer were cancelled
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In April 2009 the Company completed 5.86% fixed rate pooled secured financing transaction for

aggregate borrowing of $741140 The financing consists of fourteen
separate mortgage loans each with

10-year term Each loan provides for payment of interest only during the first and second years of the loan

term with payment of principal and interest based on 30 year amortization schedule thereafter and the

remaining principal amount and any unpaid interest due at maturity on the tenth anniversary

In April 2009 the Company repaid the $4143 principal 8.08% fixed rate loan secured by real estate

asset formerly classified as Development Right pursuant to its scheduled maturity

In May 2009 the Company repaid $105600 in unsecured debt representing the first tranche of its

$330000 unsecured variable rate term loan the Term Loan pursuant to its schedule maturity

In May 2009 the Company repaid $19470 in variable rate secured debt pursuant to its scheduled maturity

In May 2009 the Company obtained $93440 in variable rate tax-exempt bond financing related to

Development Right the proceeds of which will be held in escrow until requisitioned for construction

funding This loan provides an option for the Company to request an additional construction loan of up to

$83560 subject to the lenders discretion

In August 2009 the Company repaid $102562 in previously issued 7.5% unsecured notes along with any
unpaid interest pursuant to their scheduled maturity

In August 2009 the Company repaid $112200 in unsecured debt representing the second tranche of its

Term Loan prior to its scheduled maturity in January 2010
In September 2009 the Company issued total of $500000 unsecured notes in public offering under its

existing shelf registration statement The offering consisted of two separate $250000 tranches with

effective interest rates of 5.82% and 6.19% maturing in March 2017 and March 2020 respectively

In October 2009 the Company settled cash tender offer purchasing the following unsecured notes

$46001 principal amount of the Companys $200000 7.5% unsecured notes due December 2010

at weighted average price of 107.50% of par

$150000 principal amount of the Companys $300000 6.625% unsecured notes due September
2011 at weighted average price of 109.00% of par

$55600 principal amount of the Companys $250000 5.5% unsecured notes due January 2012 at

weighted average price of 106.25% of par and

$48399 principal amount of the Companys $250000 6.125% unsecured notes due November
2012 at weighted average price of 108.75% of par

In October 2009 the Company repurchased $10100 principal amount of the Companys 6.625%
unsecured notes due September 2011 at weighted average price of 107.0% of par
The Company recorded charge for the purchase premium as well as certain deferred issuance costs
related to the $300000 cash tender offer and additional $10100 unsecured notes repurchase activity above
of approximately $26000 in gain loss on extinguishment of debt net

In October 2009 the Company repaid the final $112200 tranche of its Term Loan in advance of its

scheduled maturity of January 2011

In December 2009 the Company repaid $33615 in variable rate secured debt pursuant to its scheduled

maturity

In the
aggregate secured notes payable mature at various dates from October 2010 through July 2066 and are secured

by certain apartment conmiunities and improved land parcels with net carrying value of $2335284 as of December

31 2009 As of December 31 2009 the Company has guaranteed approximately $519762 of mortgage notes

payable held by wholly owned subsidiaries all such mortgage notes payable are consolidated for financial reporting

purposes The weighted average interest rate of the Companys fixed rate mortgage notes payable conventional and

tax-exempt was 5.0% and 5.7% at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 respectively The weighted average
interest rate of the Companys variable rate mortgage notes payable including the effect of certain financing related

fees was 3.0% at December 31 2009 The weighted average interest rate of the Companys variable rate mortgage
notes payable Term Loan and Credit Facility including the effect of certain financing fees was 2.9% at December 31
2008
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Scheduled payments and maturities of mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes outstanding at December 31 2009

are as follows

Stated

Unsecured interest rate

Secured notes Secured notes notes of unsecured

Year payments
maturities maturities notes

2010 6097 29387 14576 7.500%

75000 7.034%

2011 12087 36610 39900 6.625%

150000 5.663%

2012 14560 120603 201601 6.125%

104400 5.500%

75000 4.352%

2013 15435 264697 100000 4.950%

2014 16363 33100 150000 5.375%

2015 15356 365130

2016 16270 -- 250000 5.750%

2017 17244 18300 250000 5.700%

2018 18278

2019 3391 699529

Thereafter 115722 498684 250000 6.100%

250803 2066040 1660477

Secured note ments are comprised of the
principal pay bwns fur aimrtzng mcrtgage notes

The weighted average interest rate for the swapped unsecured notes as of December 31 2009

The Companys unsecured notes are redeemable at our option in whole or in part at redemption price equal to the

greater of 100% of their principal amount or ii the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled

payments of principal and interest discounted at rate equal to the yield on U.S Treasury securities with

comparable maturity plus spread between 25 and 45 basis points depending on the specific unsecured note plus

accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date The indenture under which the Companys unsecured notes

were issued contains restrictions on incurring debt and using our assets as security in other financing transactions

and other customary financial and other covenants with which the Company was in compliance at December 31

2009

The Company has variable rate Credit Facility in the amount of $1000000 with syndicate of commercial banks to

whom the Company pays an annual facility fee of approximately $1250 The Company did not have any amounts

outstanding under the Credit Facility and $44105 outstanding in letters of credit as of December 31 2009 At

December 31 2008 there was $124000 outstanding under the Credit Facility and $45976 outstanding in letters of

credit The Credit Facility bears interest at varying levels based on LIBOR rating levels achieved on the Companys

unsecured notes and on maturity schedule selected by the Company The current stated pricing is LIBOR plus 0.40%

per annum 0.63% at December 31 2009 The stated spread over LIBOR can vary
from LIBOR plus 0.325% to

LIBOR plus 1.00% based on the Companys credit ratings In addition the Credit Facility includes competitive
bid

option which allows banks that are part of the lender consortium to bid to make loans to the Company at rate that is

lower than the stated rate provided by the Credit Facility for up to $650000 The competitive bid option may result in

lower pricing than the stated rate if market conditions allow The Company did not have any amounts outstanding

under this competitive bid option as of December 31 2009 The Credit Facility matures in November 2011 assuming

exercise of one-year renewal option by the Company
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The Company was in compliance at December 31 2009 with certain customary financial and other covenants under the

Credit Facility and the Companys unsecured notes

Stockholders Equity

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company had authorized for issuance 140000000 shares of common stock

and 50000000 shares of preferred stock In October 2008 the Company redeemed all 4000000 outstanding shares of

Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock including accrued but unpaid dividends for $100701 The average
dividend for all non-redeemed preferred shares was $1.81 per share in 2008 and $2.18 per share in 2007

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company
issued 1504901 shares of common stock through public offerings

ii issued 115675 shares of common stock in connection with stock options exercised

iii issued 2624641 shares in connection with the dividend declared in December 2008
iv issued 11172 common shares through the Companys dividend reinvestment plan

issued 169851 common shares in connection with stock grants

vi issued 16971 common shares through the Companys employee stock purchase plan

vii withheld 33186 common shares to satisfy employees tax withholding and other liabilities and

viii had 1031 shares of restricted common stock forfeited

In addition the Company granted 344801 options for common stock to employees Any deferred compensation
related to the Companys stock option and restricted stock grants during 2009 is not reflected on the Companys
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31 2009 and will not be reflected until earned as compensation cost

Dividends
per common share were $3.57 for the year ended December 31 2009 and $5.3775 for the

year ended
December 31 2008 Dividends per conmon share for December 31 2008 included special dividend declared in

December 2008 of $1 .8075
per share the Special Dividend in conjunction with the fourth

quarter 2008 regular
dividend of $0.8925 per share The Special Dividend was declared to distribute portion of the excess income
attributable to gains on asset sales from the Companys disposition activities during 2008 The Special Dividend

was declared to qualify for the dividends paid deduction for tax purposes and to minimize corporate level income

taxes for 2008 and reduce federal excise taxes

In August 2009 the Company commenced the CEP under which the Company may sell up to $400000 of its

common stock until August 2012 The Company may sell common stock in amounts and at times to be determined

by the Company Actual sales will depend on variety of factors to be determined by the Company including
market conditions the trading price of the Companys common stock and determinations by the Company of the

appropriate sources of funding for the Company In conjunction with the CEP the Company engaged sales agents
who received compensation of 1.5% of the gross sales price per share for the common stock sold During the three

months ended December 31 2009 the Company sold 37900 shares under this program at an average sales price of

$74.34 per share for net proceeds of $2775 For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company sold 1504901
shares under this program at an average sales price of $69.56 per share resulting in net proceeds of$103109
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company enters into interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements collectively the Hedging Derivatives

for interest rate risk management purposes and in conjunction
with certain variable rate secured debt to satisfy lender

requirements
The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for trading or other speculative purposes The

following table summarizes the consolidated Hedging Derivatives at December 31 2009 excluding derivatives

executed to hedge debt on communities classified as held for sale dollars in thousands

Non-designated
Fair Value

Hedges Cash Flow Hedges Hedges

Interest Interest
Interest Interest

Rate Caps Rate Caps Rate Swaa Rate Swaps

Notional balance 109847 15743 43435 300000

Weighted average interest rate
1.5% 1.7% 6.5% 5.4%

Weighted average capped interest rate 6.9% 6.0% n/a n/a

Earliest maturity date Apr-il
Jun-12 Jun-10 Dec-10

Latestmaturitydate
Mar-14 Jun-12 Jun-10 Jan-12

Estimated fair value asset/liability
126 24 900 228

For interest rate caps this represents
the ighted average interest rate on the debt

In October 2009 the Company executed $300000 notional amount of interest rate swaps to convert $300000

principal amount of the Companys fixed rate unsecured notes with weighted average maturity of approximately

two years to effective floating rate instruments at weighted average rate of three month LIBOR plus 5.42% The

Company designated the interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of the unsecured notes

Excluding derivatives executed to hedge debt on communities classified as held for sale the Company had three

derivatives designated as cash flow hedges five derivatives designated as fair value hedges and five derivatives not

designated as hedges at December 31 2009 Fair value changes for derivatives that are not in qualifying hedge

relationships are reported as component of general and administrative expenses on the accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income Fair value changes for derivatives not in qualifying hedge

relationships for the full year
ended December 31 2009 were not material For the derivative positions that the

Company has determined qualify as effective cash flow hedges the Company has recorded the effective portion of

cumulative changes in the fair value of the Hedging Derivatives in other comprehensive
income Amounts recorded in

other comprehensive income will be reclassified into earnings in the periods in which earnings are affected by the

hedged cash flow To adjust the Hedging Derivatives in qualifying cash flow hedges to their fair value and recognize

the impact of hedge accounting the Company recorded an increase in other comprehensive income of $1865 $434 and

$213 during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The amount reclassified into earnings in

2009 as well as the estimated amount included in accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31 2009

expected to be reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months to offset the variability of cash flows of the

hedged items during this period are not material For the derivative positions that the Company has determined qualify

as effective fair value hedges the Company has recorded the derivatives at fair value as component of accrued

expenses
and other liabilities with the associated gain or loss as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the

corresponding debt being hedged on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company assesses both at inception and on an on-going basis the effectiveness of qualifying cash flow and fair

value hedges Hedge ineffectiveness reported as component of general and administrative expenses did not have

material impact on earnings of the Company for any prior period and the Company does not anticipate that it will have

material effect in the future The fair values of the Hedging Derivatives and non-designated derivatives are included

in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Derivative financial instruments expose the Company to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by the

counterparties under the terms of the Hedging Derivatives The Company minimizes its credit risk on these

transactions by dealing with major creditworthy financial institutions which have an or better credit rating by

the Standard Poors Ratings Group As part of its on-going control procedures the Company monitors the credit
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ratings of counterparties and the exposure of the Company to any single entity thus
minimizing credit risk

concentration Because of our counterparties credit rating and that our derivative transactions are net liability as
of December 31 2009 the Company believes the likelihood of realizing losses from

counterparty non-performance
is remote The Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own
nonperformance risk and the respective counterpartys nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements of its

derivative financial instruments Refer to Note 11 Fair Value Measurements for further discussion

Investments in Real Estate Entities

The Company accounts for its investments in unconsolidated real estate entities under the equity method of
accounting

except as otherwise noted below as discussed in Note Organization and Basis of Presentation under Principles of
Consolidation

As of December 31 2009 the Company had investments in the following real estate entities

CVP LLC In February 2004 the Company entered into joint venture agreement with an unrelated
third-party for the development of Avalon Chrystie Place 361 apartment-home community located in

New York New York for which construction was completed in late 2005 The Company has contributed
$6270 to this joint venture and holds 20% equity interest with right to 50% of distributions after

achievement of threshold return which was achieved in 2009 The Company is the managing member
of CVP LLC however property management services at the community are performed by an unrelated
third party

As of December 31 2009 CVP LLC has outstanding tax-exempt variable rate bonds maturing in
November 2036 in the amount of $117000 which have permanent credit enhancement The Company has
agreed to guarantee under limited circumstances the repayment to the credit enhancer of any advances it

may make in fulfillment of CVP LLCs repayment obligations under the bonds The Company has also
guaranteed to the credit enhancer that CVP LLC will obtain final certificate of occupancy for the

project Chrystie Place in New York City which is expected in 2010 Our 80% partner in this venture has
agreed that it will reimburse us its pro rata share of any amounts paid relative to these guaranteed
obligations The estimated fair value of and our obligation under these

guarantees both at inception and as
of December 31 2009 were not significant As result the Company has not recorded any obligation
associated with these guarantees at December 31 2009

MVP LLC In December 2004 the Company entered into joint venture agreement with an unrelated
third-party for the development of Avalon at Mission Bay North II Construction for Avalon at Mission
Bay North II 313 apartment-home community located in San Francisco California was completed in

December 2006 The Company has contributed $6433 to this venture and holds 25% equity interest
The Company is responsible for the

day-to-day operations of the community and is the management agent
subject to the terms of management agreement In December 2007 MVP LLC executed seven-year
fixed rate conventional loan which is secured by the underlying real estate assets of the community for

$105000 The loan is fixed rate interest-only note bearing interest at 6.02% maturing in December
2015 The Company has not guaranteed the debt of MVP LLC nor does the Company have any
obligation to fund this debt should MVP LLC be unable to do so

Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC In March 2004 the Company entered into an agreement with an
unrelated third party which provided that upon construction completion Avalon Del Rey would be owned
and operated by joint venture between the Company and the third

party Avalon Del Rey is 309
apartment-home community located in Los Angeles California that was developed by the Company with
construction completed during the third quarter of 2006 During the fourth quarter of 2006 the

third-party
venture partner invested $49000 and was granted 70% ownership interest in the

venture with the
Company retaining 30% equity interest The Company continues to be

responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the community and is the management agent subject to the terms of management
agreement

Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC has loan secured by the underlying real estate assets of the community
for $45943 maturing in April 2016 The variable rate loan had an interest rate of 3.69% at December 31
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2009 The Company has not guaranteed the debt of Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC nor does the

Company have any obligation to fund this debt should Avalon Del Rey Apartments LLC be unable to do

so

Aria at Hathorne Hill LLC In the second quarter
of 2007 wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiary of

the Company entered into an LLC agreement with joint venture partner to develop 64 for-sale town

homes with total capital cost of $23621 in Danvers Massachusetts on an out parcel adjacent to our

Avalon Danvers rental apartment community Approximately 20% of the homes have been built and sold

with the remaining homes to be developed during 2010 and 2011 The out parcel was zoned for for-sale

activity and was contributed to the LLC by subsidiary of the Company in exchange for 50% ownership

interest The LLC has three separate variable rate loans with aggregate borrowings of $2432 and

weighted average
interest rate of 4.19% at December 31 2009 The Company has not guaranteed the debt

of Aria at Hathorne nor does the Company have any obligation to fund this debt should Aria at Hathorne

be unable to do so

Ama Valley View LP In connection with the municipal approval process
for the development of

consolidated community the Company agreed to participate
in the formation of limited partnership in

February 1999 to develop finance own and operate Ama Valley View 101 apartment-home community

located in Arlington Virginia This community has affordable rents for 100% of apartment
homes related

to the tax-exempt bond financing and tax credits used to finance construction of the community

subsidiary of the Company is the general partner
of the partnership with 0.0 1% ownership interest The

Company is responsible for the day-to-day operations
of the community and is the management agent

subject to the terms of management agreement As of December 31 2009 Ama Valley View has $5520

of variable rate tax-exempt bonds outstanding which mature in June 2032 In addition Ama Valley View

has $5121 of 4% fixed rate county bonds outstanding that mature in December 2030 Ama Valley Views

debt is neither guaranteed by nor recourse to the Company Due to the Companys limited ownership in

this venture and the terms of the management agreement regarding the rights of the limited partners it is

accounted for using the cost method

Juanita Construction Inc In April 2004 taxable REIT subsidiary of the Company entered into an

agreement to develop Avalon at Juanita Village
211 apartment-home community located in Kirkland

Washington for which construction was completed
in late 2005 Avalon at Juanita Village was developed

through Juanita Construction Inc wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiary and was sold to joint venture in

the first quarter of 2006 at which point the subsidiary was reimbursed for all the costs of construction and

retained promoted interest in the residual profits of the joint venture The third-party joint venture partner

received 100% equity interest in the joint venture and will control the joint venture The Company was

engaged to manage the community for property management fee This community is unconsolidated for

fmancial reporting purposes
effective with the sale to the joint venture

Fund In March 2005 the Company admitted outside investors into Fund private discretionary

investment vehicle which acquired and operates communities in the Companys markets Fund served as the

principal
vehicle through which the Company acquired investments in apartment communities subject to

certain exceptions until March 2008 Fund has nine institutional investors including the Company and

combined equity capital investment of $330000 significant portion of the investments made in Fund by

its investors were made through AvalonBay Value Added Fund Inc Maryland corporation that qualifies as

REIT under the Internal Revenue Code the Fund REIT wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is

the general partner
of Fund and has contributed $50000 to Fund and the Fund REIT representing

15.2% combined general partner and limited partner equity interest At December 31 2009 Fund was fully

invested The Company receives asset management fees property management fees and redevelopment fees

as well as promoted interest if certain thresholds are met

Subsidiaries of Fund have 21 loans secured by individual assets with amounts outstanding in the

aggregate of $436410 with varying maturity dates or dates after which the loans can be prepaid ranging

from October 2011 to September 2016 These mortgage loans are secured by the underlying real estate

The mortgage loans are payable by subsIdiaries of Fund with operating
cash flow or disposition proceeds

from the underlying real estate The Company has not guaranteed
the debt of Fund nor does the
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Company have any obligation to fund this debt should Fund be unable to do so Fund had credit

facility that matured in December 2009

In addition as part of the formation of Fund the Company has provided to one of the limited partners
guarantee The guarantee provides that if upon final liquidation of Fund the total amount of all

distributions to that partner during the life of Fund whether from operating cash flow or property sales
does not equal minimum of the total capital contributions made by that partner then the Company will

pay the partner an amount equal to the shortfall but in no event more than 10% of the total capital
contributions made by the partner maximum of approximately $7500 as of December 31 2009 As of
December 31 2009 the expected realizable value of the real estate assets owned by Fund is considered

adequate to cover such potential payment to that partner under the expected Fund liquidation scenario
The estimated fair value of and the Companys obligation under this guarantee both at inception and as of
December 31 2009 was not significant and therefore the Company has not recorded any obligation for

this guarantee as of December 31 2009

As of December 31 2009 subsidiaries of Fund owned the following 19 communities subject to certain

mortgage debt The Company has not guaranteed any of Fund debt nor does it have any obligation to fund
this debt should Fund subsidiaries be unable to do so

Outstanding Debt

of apt Interest
Maturity

Community Name Location homes Amount Rate Date

Avalon at Redondo Beach Los Angeles CA 105 $21033 Fixed 4.87% Oct 2011

Avalon Lakesida Chicago IL 204 12056 Fixed 5.74% Mar 2012

Avalon Columbia Baltimore MD 170 22275 Fixed 5.48% Apr 2012

Avalon Sunset Los Angeles CA 82 12750 Fixed 5.41% Feb 2014

Avalon at
Poplar Creek Chicago IL 196 16500 Fixed 4.83% Oct 2012

Avalon at Civic Center Norwalk CA 192 27001 Fixed 5.38% Aug 2013

Avalon Paseo Place Fremont CA 134 11800 Fixed 5.74% Nov 2013

Avalon at Yetha Buena San Francisco CA 160 41500 Fixed 5.88% Mar 2014

Avalon at Aberdeen Station
Aberdaen NJ 290 39842 Fixed 5.64% Sep 2013

The
Springs Corona CA 320 26000 Fixed 6.06% Oct2014

AvalonLombaiti LombaniIL 256 17243 Fixed 5.43% Jan2014

Avalon Cedar Place Columbia MD 156 12000 Fixed 5.68% Feb 2014

Avalon Centerpoint Baltimore MD 392 45000 Fixed 5.74% Dec 2013

Middlesex Crossing Billerica MA 252 24100 Fixed 5.49% Dec 2013

Avalon Crystal Hill
Pononia NY 168 24500 Fixed 5.43% Dec 2013

Skyway Terrace SanJose CA 348 37500 Fixed 6.11% Mar2014

Avalon Rutherfoni Station East Rutherford NJ 108 20094 Fixed 6.13% Sep 2016

South Hills Apartments West Covina CA 85 11761 Fixed 5.92% Dec 2013

Weymouth Place WeymouthMA 211 13455 Fixed 5.12% Mar2015

Borrowing on this community is comprised of three mortgage loans

Fund II On September 2008 the Company announced the formation of Fund II private
discretionary investment vehicle with commitments from five institutional investors including the
Company In the second quarter of 2009 the Company announced the second and final

closing of Fund II
admitting an additional joint venture partner and additional equity commitments both from existing as
well as the new joint venture partner The additional joint venture partner capital commitments raised as

part of the second closing reduced the Companys equity ownership interest to 31% from 45%
subsidiary of Fund II has one loan secured by an asset in the amount of $21515 with maturity of June
2019 This loan is payable by subsidiary of Fund II As of December 31 2009 Fund 11 also has $30200
outstanding under credit facility that matures in December 2010

In addition as part of the formation of Fund II the Company has provided to one of the limited
partners

guarantee The
guarantee provides that if upon final liquidation of Fund II the total amount of all
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distributions to that partner during the life of Fund II whether from operating cash flow or property sales

does not equal minimum of the total capital contributions made by that partner
then the Company will

pay the partner an amount equal to the shortfall but in no event more than 10% of the total capital

contributions made by the partner maximum of approximately $1470 as of December 31 2009 As of

December 31 2009 the expected realizable value of the real estate assets owned by Fund II is considered

adequate to cover such potential payment to that partner
under the expected Fund II liquidation scenario

The estimated fair value of and the Companys obligation under this guarantee
both at inception and as of

December 31 2009 was not significant and therefore the Company has not recorded any obligation for this

guaranteeas of December 31 2009

As of December 31 2009 subsidiaries of Fund II owns the following two communities subject to certain

mortgage debt The Company has not guaranteed any of Fund IIs debt nor does it have any obligation to

fund this debt should the subsidiaries of Fund II be unable to do so

Outstanding Debt

of apt
Interest Maturity

Community Name Location homes Amount Rate Date

AvalonBellevue Park Bellevue WA 220 $21515 Fixed 5.52% Jun-19

The Hermitage
Fairfax VA 491 n/a n/a n/a

The following is combined summary of the financial position of the entities accounted for using the equity method as

of the dates presented

12-31-09 12-31-08

uriaudited unaudited

Assets

Real estate net
1065328 995680

Other assets
39502 38027

Total assets
l104L 1033707

Liabilities and partners capital

Mortgage notes payable and credit facility
758487 705332

Other liabilities
19669 17578

Partners capital
326674 310797

Total liabilities and partners capital
1104830 1033707

The following is combined summary of the operating results of the entities accounted for using the equity method for

the years presented

For the year
ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

unaudited unaudited unaudited

Rental and other income 101748 105421 92078

Operating and other expenses 49730 43992 39952

Impairment loss 17162

Gain on sale of communities
-- 25417

Interest expense net 37156 38478 40791

Depreciation expense
329091 311 266221

Net loss
35209 17216 15287

In conjunction with the acquisition
and development of investments in unconsolidated entities the Company

incurred costs in excess of its equity
in the underlying net assets of the respective investments These costs represent

$11047 at December 31 2009 and $4817 at December 31 2008 of the respective investment balances
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The following is summaly of the Companys equity in income loss of unconsolidated entities for the
years

presented unaudited

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

Town Grove LLC
31 57821

Avalon Del Rey LLC 79 241 3616

CVP LLC
7330 1109 567

MVP LLC 684 474 1261
AvalonBay Value Added Fund L.P

4X5
4109 2532 1775

AvalonBay Value Added Fund II L.P 48
Other

201
Aria at Hathorne LLC 1127 1127 --

Total
1441 4566 59169

Equity in income from this entity for 2007 includes gain of $56320 for the Company
from the fourth quarter disposition of its partnership interest in Avalon Grove an asset

held by Town Grove LLC

Equity in income from this entity for 2007 includes gain of $3607 for the Company
from the fourth quarter disposition of its ownership interest in Avalon Del Rey the

sole asset held by Avalon Del Rey LLC

Equity in income from this entity for 2009 includes $6192 relating to the Companys
recognition of its promoted interest

Equity in income from this entity for 2008 includes gain of $3483 for the Companys 15.2%
share of the gain from the second quarter disposition of Avalon Redmond an asset held

by the Fund

Equity in income for 2009 includes an impairment loss of $2600 for the Companys
proportionate share of the impairment charge on an operating community

Real Estate Disposition Activities

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company sold five wholly owned communities for an aggregate gross
sales price of $179675 These dispositions resulted in gain in accordance with GAAP of approximately $61117 In

conjunction with the settlement of previously disclosed litigation with the Equal Rights Center involving accessibility
of our communities the Company recognized an additional gain of approximately $2770 associated with communities
sold in prior years which was previously deferred

Details regarding the community asset sales are summarized in the following table

Period Apartment Gmss sales Net
Community Name Location of sale homes Debt

price roceedsAvalonat River Oaks San Jose CA Q309 226
42250 41626Avalon at Faxon Paik Quincy MA Q309 171 27250 26633Avalon at Parkside Sunnyvale CA Q409 192
43800 43283

AvalonOrange OrangeCT Q409 168 25500 24858
Avalonat Flanders Hill

Westborough MA Q409 280 40875 40081
Totalofall2009sasetsales

1037 179675 176481

Totalofall2008assetsales
3059 43715 564950 503377

Totalofall2007assetsales
1384 8116 268096 257396

The operations for any real estate assets sold from January 2007 through December 31 2009 and the real estate
assets that qualified as discontinued operations and held for sale as of December 31 2009 have been presented as such
in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements Accordingly certain reclassifications have been made to prior
years to reflect discontinued operations consistent with current year presentation
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The following is summary of income from discontinued operations for the periods presented

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

Rental income 35086 68481 95866

Operating and other expenses
11891 22127 32085

Interest expense net 681 3297 6057

Depreciation expense 8540 15704 23830

Income from discontinued operations 13974 27353 33894

The Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets include other assets excluding net real estate of $2185 and $2965 as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively $0 and $19735 of mortgage notes as of December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively and other liabilities of $6399 and $11401 as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively relating to real

estate assets sold or classified as held for sale

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company sold two land parcels one of which was previously

impaired by the Company The Company had gains on the sale of land parcels of $4830 $0 and $545 in 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively

Commitments and Contingencies

Employment Agreements and Arrangements

As of December 31 2009 the Company had employment agreements with four executive officers The employment

agreements provide for severance payments and generally provide
for accelerated vesting of stock options and

restricted stock in the event of termination of employment except for termination by the Company with cause or

voluntary termination by the employee The current terms of these agreements
end on dates that vary

between

November 2010 and June 2011 The employment agreements provide for one-year
automatic renewals two years

in

the case of the Chief Executive Officer CEO after the initial term unless an advance notice of non-renewal is

provided by either party Upon notice of non-renewal by the Company each of the officers may terminate his

employment and receive severance payment Upon change in control the agreements provide for an automatic

extension of up to three years from the date of the change in control The employment agreements provide for base

salary and incentive compensation
in the form of cash awards stock options and stock grants subject to the discretion

of and attainment of performance goals established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

The Companys stock incentive plan as described in Note 10 Stock-Based Compensation Plans provides
that

upon an employees Retirement as defined in the plan documents from the Company all outstanding stock options

and restricted shares of stock held by the employee will vest and the employee will have up to 12 months to

exercise any options held upon retirement Under the plan Retirement means termination of employment other

than for cause after attainment of age 50 provided
that the employee has worked for the Company for at least 10

years ii the employees age at Retirement plus years of employment with the Company equals at least 70 iii the

employee provides at least six months written notice of his intent to retire and iv the employee enters into one

year non-compete and employee non-solicitation agreement

The Company also has an Officer Severance Program the Program for the benefit of those officers of the Company

who do not have employment agreements Under the Program in the event an officer who is not otherwise covered by

severance arrangement is terminated other than for cause within two years following change in control as

defined of the Company such officer will generally
receive cash lump sum payment equal to the sum of such

officers base salary and cash bonus as well as accelerated vesting of stock options and restricted stock Costs related

to the Companys employment agreements and the Program are deferred and recognized over the requisite service

period
when considered by management to be probable and estimable
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Construction and Development Contingencies

The Company holds 99% controlling interest in PHVP LLC consolidated joint venture In conjunction with
the development of an operating community Avalon Walnut Creek PHVP LLC constructed public garage
adjacent to the community As part of providing construction management services to PHVP LLC for the
construction of the public garage the Company provided construction completion guarantee to the related lender
in order to fulfill their standard

financing requirements related to the garage construction financing The
Companys obligations under this guarantee terminated

following construction completion of the garage in the third

quarter of 2009

In 2007 the Company entered into commitment to acquire parcels of land in Brooklyn New York for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $111000 Under the terms of the commitment the Company is closing on the
various parcels over period determined by the sellers ability to execute unrelated purchase transactions and
achieve deferral of gains for the land sold under this commitment However under no circumstances will the

commitment extend beyond 2011 at which time either the Company or the seller can compel execution of the
remaining transactions At December 31 2009 the Company has an outstanding con-inTlitment to purchase the
remaining land for

approximately $51500

Legal Contingencies

As previously reported the Company has been involved in litigation alleging that communities constructed by the
Company violate the accessibility requirements of the FHA and the Americans with Disabilities Act The ERC filed

complaint against the Company on September 23 2005 in the U.S District Court District of Maryland with
respect to 100 properties In November 2009 the Company settled this litigation by entering into court approved
consent decree Under the consent decree the Company will inspect and if necessary remediate up to 8250
apartment units and related public and common areas at the Companys communities The Company expects that
the remediation resulting from the inspections which should occur over approximately four year period will
enhance and/or extend the useful life of the applicable communities and will therefore be capitalized Although the
Company will not be able to determine the exact remediation or associated costs until inspections are completed the
Company does not believe that the remediation costs will be material to the Companys Consolidated Financial
Statements

In separate matter related to FHA accessibility matters on August 13 2008 the U.S Attorneys Office for the
Southern District of New York filed civil lawsuit against the Company and the joint venture in which it has an
interest that owns Avalon Chiystie Place The lawsuit alleges that Avalon Chrystie Place was not designed and
constructed in accordance with the accessibility requirements of the FHA The Company designed and constructed
the community to address compliance with New York Citys Local Law 58 which for more than 20

years has been
New York Citys code

regulating the accessible design and construction of apartments After the filing of its answer
and affirmative defenses during the fourth quarter of 2009 the plaintiff served the Company with discovery requests
relating to communities owned by the Company nationwide The Company objected to these discovery requests as
being overly broad as the plaintiffs complaint made factual allegations with regard to Avalon Chrystie Place only

magistrate judge agreed with the Company and limited discovery to Avalon Chiystie Place The plaintiff is

appealing the magistrate judges ruling As there are uncertainties
relating to this lawsuit such as the legal

requirements to meet and demonstrate
accessibility under the applicable statutes the cost to remediate if

necessaryand whether the scope of this lawsuit will be extended to other
properties by an amended complaint or otherwise

the Company cannot predict or determine the outcome of this lawsuit nor is it reasonably possible at this time to
estimate the cost of remediation or any other costs if any that would be associated with an adverse decision or
settlement

In addition the Company is subject to various other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of
business These matters are frequently covered by insurance If it has been determined that loss is probable to

occur and can be reasonably estimated the estimated amount of the loss is recorded in the financial statements
While the resolution of these other matters cannot be predicted with certainty management currently believes the
final outcome of such matters will not have material adverse effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the Company In instances where the Company has gain contingency associated with legal

proceedings the Company records gain in the financial statements to the extent of loss recovery when it is

deemed probable to occur can be reasonably estimated and is considered to be collectible
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Lease Obligations

The Company owns 14 apartment communities and Development Rights and two commercial properties which are

located on land subject to land leases expiring between October 2026 and March 2142 In addition the Company

leases certain office space These leases are accounted for as operating leases recognizing
rental expense on straight-

line basis over the lease term These leases have varying escalation terms and nine of these leases have purchase

options exercisable through 2142 The Company incurred costs of $19442 $16937 and $15516 in the years
ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
related to these leases

The following table details the future minimum lease payments under the Companys current leases

Payments due by period

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter

$20732 $24101 $26714 $26884 $26966 $3287550

Segment Reporting

The Companys reportable operating segments include Established Communities Other Stabilized Communities

and Development/Redevelopment Communities Annually as of January 1st the Company determines which of its

communities fall into each of these categories and maintains that classification unless disposition plans regarding

community change throughout the year
for the purpose

of reporting segment operations

Established Communities also known as Same Store Communities are communities where comparison

of operating results from the prior year to the current year is meaningful as these communities were

owned and had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of the beginning of the prior year For the

year 2009 the Established Communities are communities that are consolidated for financial reporting

purposes had stabilized occupancy and operating expenses as of January 2008 are not conducting or

planning to conduct substantial redevelopment activities and are not held for sale or planned for

disposition within the current year community is considered to have stabilized occupancy at the earlier

of attainment of 95% physical occupancy or ii the one-year anniversary of completion of

development or redevelopment

Other Stabilized Communities includes all other completed communities that have stabilized occupancy as

defined above Other Stabilized Communities do not include communities that are conducting or

planning to conduct substantial redevelopment activities within the current year

Development/Redevelopment Communities consists of communities that are under construction and

have not received final certificate of occupancy communities where the Company owns majority

interest and where substantial redevelopment is in progress or is planned to begin during the current

year
and communities under lease-up that had not reached stabilized occupancy as defined above as

of January
2009

In addition the Company owns land for future development and has other corporate assets that are not allocated to

an operating segment

The Companys segment disclosures present
the measures used by the chief operating

decision maker for purposes

of assessing such segments performance The Companys chief operating decision maker is comprised of several

members of its executive management team who use NO as the primary
financial measure for Established

Communities and Other Stabilized Communities NOl is defined by the Company as total revenue less direct

property operating expenses Although the Company considers NOT useful measure of communitys or

communities operating performance NO should not be considered an alternative to net income or net cash flow

from operating activities as determined in accordance with GAAP NO excludes number of income and expense

categories as detailed in the reconciliation of NO to net income
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reconciliation of NOT to net income for
years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 is as follows

For the year ended

12-31-09 12-31-08 12-31-07

Net income
154274 410746 359745

Indirect operating expenses net of corporate income 30315 33010 31285
Investments and investment management expense 3844 4787 4763
Expensed development and other pursuit costs 5842 12511 6974
Interest expense net 150323 114910 92175
Gain loss on extinguishment of debt net 25910 1839 --

General and administrative expense 28748 42781 28494
Equity in income of unconsolidated entities 1441 4566 59169
Depreciation expense 209746 183748 157895
Impairment loss land holdings 21152 57899 --

Gain on sale ofreal estate assets 68717 284901 107032
Income from discontinued operations 13974 27353 33894

Netoperatingincome 546022 541733 481236

The primary performance measure for communities under development or redevelopment depends on the stage of

completion While under development management monitors actual construction costs against budgeted costs as
well as lease-up pace and rent levels compared to budget

The following table provides details of the Companys segment information as of the dates specified The segments are

classified based on the individual communitys status as of the beginning of the given calendar year Therefore each

year the composition of communities within each business segment is adjusted Accordingly the amounts between
years are not directly comparable Segment information for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 have
been adjusted for the communities that were sold from January 2007 through December 31 2009 or otherwise

qualify as discontinued operations as of December 31 2009 as described in Note Real Estate Disposition
Activities
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Total NOl change hots

ieven NOl from prior year
real estate

For the period
ended December 312009

Established

NewEngland 121455 75766 7.5% 858858

Metro NY/NJ 155468 103558 7.4% 1048636

Mid-Atlantic/MidweSt 122001 74983 3.5% 775979

Pacific Northwest 28184 19101 9.3% 239215

Northern Califomia 98529 70819 7.9% 857321

Southern California 62751 42900 9.7% 428241

TotalEstablished2 588388 387127 7.1% 4208250

Other Stabilized 126166 81517 n/a 1421651

Development Redevelopment 129700 77378 n/a 2264590

Land Held for Future Development n/a n/a n/s 237095

Non-allocated3 7328 n/a n/a 62118

Total 851582 546022 0.8% 8193704

For the period ended December 31 200

Established

New England 115834 75180 2.3% 748824

Metro NY/NJ 133501 91376 2.1% 814523

Mid-Atlantic/Midwest 119194 75256 1.9% 725471

Pacific Northwest 21525 15493 7.5% 175504

Northern California 123204 91547 7.9% 1000952

Southern California 61449 44048 1.1% 377841

Total Established 574707 392900 3.5% 3843115

Other Stabilized 103212 68709 n/a 959224

Development Redevelopment 129737 80124 n/a 2502820

Land Held for Future Development n/a n/a n/s 239456

Non-allocated3 6568 n/s n/a 132702

Total 814224 54L73 12.6% 7677317

For the year ended December 31 2007

Established

NewEnglaixl 116930 75317 3.0% 776255

MetroNY/NJ 130511 90253 4.5% 786115

Mid-Atlantic/Midwest 110929 69685 6.8% 692989

Pacific Northwest 28294 19671 16.1% 237464

Northern California 135642 98453 12.4% 1156162

Southern California 56091 40219 5.9% 349719

Total Established 578397 393598 7.2% 3998704

Other Stabilized
47822 30324 n/a 356038

Development Redevelopment 95425 57314 a1a 2171207

Land Held for Future Development
n/a n/a n/a 288423

Non-allocated 6142 n/s n/s 47793

Total
727786 481236 14.6% 6862165

Does not include gross real estate assets held for sale of $166387 $325170 and $694574 as of December 31 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively

Gross real estate for the Companys established communities includes capitalized additions of approximately $10783

$15534 and $13851 in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Revenue represents third-party management accounting and developer fees and miscellaneous income which are not

allocated to reportable segment
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10 Stock-Based Compensation Plans

On May 21 2009 the stockholders of the Company upon the recommendation of the Board of Directors approved
the AvalonBay Communities Inc 2009 Stock Option and Incentive Plan the 2009 Plan The 2009 Plan includes

an authorization to issue up to 4199822 shares of the Companys common stock par value $0.01 per share
2930000 newly authorized shares plus 1269822 shares that were available for grant as of May 21 2009 under
the Companys 1994 Stock Option and Incentive Plan the 1994 Plan pursuant to awards under the 2009 Plan
The 2009 Plan provides for various types of equity awards to employees officers non-employee directors and other

key personnel of the Company and its subsidiaries The types of awards that may be granted under the 2009 Plan
include restricted and deferred stock stock options that qualify as incentive stock options ISOs under Section
422 of the Code non-qualified stock options and stock appreciation rights The 2009 Plan will expire on May 21
2019

Effective as of the close of business on May 21 2009 and as part of the proposal to approve the 2009 Plan
described above the Board of Directors terminated the 1994 Plan with

respect to new awards The 1994 Plan

provided for the same types of equity awards as the 2009 Plan and would have expired by its terms on May
2011 Outstanding awards previously granted under the 1994 Plan will not be affected by termination of the 1994

Plan the terms of which shall continue to govern such previously granted awards In addition to the 4199822
shares authorized for issue under the 2009 Plan as described above any awards that were outstanding under the

1994 Plan on May 21 2009 that are subsequently forfeited canceled surrendered or terminated other than by
exercise will become available for awards under the 2009 Plan

Information with
respect to stock options granted under the 1994 Plan is as follows

Weighted Avalon 1995 Weighted

average and Avalon
avemge

1994 Plan exercise pnce 1993 Plan exercise price

shares
per share shares per share

Options Outstanding December 31 2006 2487239 69.65 4240 36.81

Exercised
471024 56.57 3472 36.86

Gmnted
344429 147.39 --

Forfeited 38929 110.28 --

Options Outstanding December 31 2007 2321715 83.15 768 36.61

Exercised 154523 46.15 768 36.61

Gmnted
401212 89.06 --

Forfeited 23413 112.51 --

Special Dividend Option Adjustment 78144 n/a --

Options Outstanding December 31 2008 2623135 83.49
n/a

Exercised 115675 44.20 --

Gmnted
344801 48.60 --

Forfeited 16007 98.83 --

Options Outstanding December 31 2009 2836254 80.76 n/a

Options Exercisable

December 31 2007 1230428 60.84 768 36.61

December 3120081 1711508 72.97 -- nla

December 31 2009 2127829 81.90 -- n/a

Tn accordance with the applicable equity award plan documents the number and exercise price of outstanding awards

have been adjusted as result of the special dividend declared in the fourth
quarter of 2008 to maintain their value
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The following summarizes the exercise prices and contractual lives of options outstanding as of December 31 2009

Weighted Average

Remaining Contractual Teim

Number of Options Range Exercise Price in years

88255 30.00- 39.99 1.4

757935 40.00-49.99 3.2

463096 60.00 69.99 5.2

1030 70.00-79.99 5.5

414016 80.00- 89.99 7.0

773857 90.00-99.99 6.1

6698 100.00- 109.99 6.4

5152 110.00- 119.99 7.5

326215 140.00- 149.99 7.1

2836254

Options outstanding under the 1994 Plan at December 31 2009 had an intrinsic value of $3815 Options exercisable at

December 31 2009 under the 1994 plan had weighted average contractual life of 4.8 years
and $438 intrinsic value

The intrinsic value of options exercised during 2009 2008 and 2007 was $2199 $8565 and $17895 respectively

The cost related to stock-based employee compensation for employee stock options included in the determination of net

income is based on estimated forfeitures for the given year Estimated forfeitures are adjusted to reflect actual

forfeitures at the end of the vesting period The following table summarizes the weighted average fair value of

employee stock options for the periods shown and the associated assumptions used to calculate the value

2009 2008 2007

Weighted average
fair value

pershare
$6.53 $9.91 $21.83

Life of options in years 7.0 7.0 7.0

Dividend yield
8.5% 5.5% 4.0%

Volatility
36.57% 22.17% 17.32%

Risk-free interestrate 2.17% 3.09% 4.73%

At December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company had 244640 and 207070 outstanding unvested shares granted under

restricted stock awards The Company issued 169851 shares of restricted stock valued at $8360 as part of its stock-

based compensation plan during the year
ended December 31 2009 Restricted stock vesting during the year

ended

December 31 2009 totaled 130981 shares and had fair values at the grant date ranging from $48.60 to $147.75 per

share The total fair value of shares vested was $10731 $10668 and $8590 for the years ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Total employee stock-based compensation cost recognized in income was $11446 $17268 and $13502 for the

years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively and total capitalized stock-based compensation cost

was $6000 $6499 and $5106 for the years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively At

December 31 2009 there was total of $1595 and $5953 in unrecognized compensation cost for unvested stock

options and unvested restricted stock respectively which does not include estimated forfeitures The unrecognized

compensation cost for unvested stock options and restricted stock is expected to be recognized over weighted

average period of 1.52 years and 2.26 years respectively

Deferred Stock Performance Plan

The Companys Board of Directors and its Compensation Committee approved multiyear performance plan the

2008 Performance Plan On June 2008 awards in connection with this plan with an estimated compensation

cost of $8958 were granted to senior management and other selected officers 2008 Performance Plan Awards

The 2008 Performance Plan awards are initially in the form of deferred stock awards with no dividend rights
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granted under the Companys 1994 Plan These deferred stock awards will be forfeited in their entirety unless the

Companys total return to shareholders consisting of stock price appreciation plus cumulative dividends without

reinvestment or compounding the Actual TRS over the measurement period exceeds both an Absolute TRS
Target and ii Relative IRS Target The measurement period of the 2008 Performance Plan began on June

2008 with starting conmon stock price equal to the
average closing price of the Companys common stock on the

twenty trading days prior to June 2008 The measurement period will end on May 31 2011 again using twenty-

day average closing price The measurement period will end earlier upon change in control of the Company

The Absolute TRS Target that must be exceeded during the measurement period is 32% total return performance

or pro rated amount in the event the measurement period is less than three years due to change in control The
Relative TRS Target that must be exceeded is the total return performance stock price appreciation plus
cumulative dividends without reinvestment or compounding during the measurement period of the Financial Times
and the London Stock Exchange FTSE NAREIT Apartment Index If the Actual TRS exceeds both the Absolute

IRS Target and the Relative TRS Target the total funding pool will equal 10% of the simple average of the

excess shareholder value created by the Actual TRS exceeding the Absolute TRS Target and ii the excess

shareholder value created by the Actual TRS exceeding the Relative TRS Target provided that in no event will the

total funding pool exceed $60 million

Each participating officers 2008 Performance Plan award is designated as specified Participation Percentage in

the 2008 Performance Plan If both TRS targets are exceeded at the end of the measurement period then each

participating officer will earn deferred stock awards having total value based on the closing price of the

Companys common stock on the last day of the measurement period equal to that officers participation

percentage multiplied by the total funding pool The total funding pool will under no circumstance exceed $60
million Any unearned deferred stock awards i.e deferred stock awards in excess of the number of awards having

value equal to that officers participation percentage in the total funding pool will be forfeited Earned deferred

stock awards will convert into vested unrestricted common stock 50% and unvested restricted common stock with

one-year vesting period 50% subject to earlier forfeiture or acceleration under certain circumstances Dividends
will be paid on both the unrestricted common stock and the restricted common stock

The Company will recognize compensation expense for the 2008 Performance Plan over the three year
measurement period for the 50% of each award which vests at the end of the measurement period For the

remaining 50% of each award the Company will recognize compensation expense over the four
year period which

includes the measurement period as well as the
one-year vesting period subsequent to the end of the measurement

period The recognition of compensation cost will take into account actual forfeitures as well as retirement

eligibility The Company used Monte Carlo model to assess the compensation cost associated with the 2008
Performance Plan The estimated compensation cost was derived using the following assumptions baseline share

value of $102.16 dividend yield of 3.53% estimated volatility figures over the life of the plan using 50% historical

volatility and 50% implied volatility and risk free rates over the life of the plan ranging from 2.13% to 2.97%
resulting in an estimated fair value per share of $14.15 During the

years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the

Company recognized expense of $1673 and $1013 respectively in earnings and capitalized stock-based

compensation costs of $895 and $582 respectively for the 2008 Performance Plan

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In October 1996 the Company adopted the 1996 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended the

ESPP Initially 1000000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan There are

currently 755484 shares remaining available for issuance under the plan Full-time employees of the Company
generally are eligible to participate in the ESPP if as of the last day of the applicable election period they have
been employed by the Company for at least one month All other employees of the Company are eligible to

participate provided that as of the applicable election period they have been employed by the Company for 12
months Under the ESPP eligible employees are permitted to acquire shares of the Companys common stock

through payroll deductions subject to maximum purchase limitations The purchase period is period of seven
months beginning each April and ending each October 30 The purchase price for common stock purchased under

the plan is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the first day of the

applicable purchase period or the last day of the applicable purchase period The offering dates purchase dates and
duration of purchase periods may be changed if the change is announced prior to the beginning of the affected date

or purchase period The Company issued 16971 8460 and 8577 shares and recognized compensation expense of
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$118 $90 and $158 under the ESPP for the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
The

Company accounts for transactions under the ESPP using the fair value method prescribed by accounting guidance

applicable to entities that use employee share purchase plans as further discussed in Note Organization and

Basis of Presentation

11 Fair Value

Fair Value Methodology

As basis for applying market-based approach in fair value measurements GAAP establishes fair value

hierarchy that distinguishes between market participant assumptions based on market data obtained from sources

independent of the reporting entity and the reporting entitys own assumptions about market participant

assumptions The valuation of financial instruments can be determined using widely accepted valuation techniques

The Company applies valuation models such as discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each

instrument which considers the contractual terms of the instruments including the period to maturity and uses

observable market-based inputs including interest rate curves and market prices as available and applicable
In

addition the Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own

nonperformance risk and the respective counterpartys nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements as

discussed below When market-based inputs are not available in valuing the Companys financial instruments such

as for valuing redeemable noncontrolling interests the Company uses unobservable inputs considering the

assumptions that market participants would make in deriving the fair value The use of different market

assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have material effect on the Companys estimates of fair value

Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value

Derivative Financial Instruments

Currently the Company uses interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements to manage its interest rate risk

These instruments are carried at fair value in the Companys financial statements See Note Derivative

Instruments and Hedging Activities for derivative values at December 31 2009 and description of where these

amounts are recorded in the financial statements In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect

of counterparty nonperformance risk the Company has considered the impact of its net position with given

counterpart as well as any applicable credit enhancements such as collateral postings thresholds mutual puts and

guarantees Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall

within Level of the fair value hierarchy the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives use Level

inputs such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its

counterparties As of December 31 2009 the Company assessed the significance of the impact of the credit

valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined it is not significant As

result the Company has determined that its derivative valuations are classified in Level of the fair value

hierarchy

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable noncontrolling interests are reported at fair value with reductions in fair value recorded only to the

extent that the Company has previously recorded increases in fair value above the redeemable noncontrolling

interests initial basis

Puts The Company provided redemption options the Puts that allow two of the Companys joint

venture partners to require the Company to purchase their interests in the investments at the future fair

market value One Put is payable in cash or at the Companys option common stock of the Company and

the second is payable in cash The Company determines the fair value of the Puts based on unobservable

inputs considering the assumptions that market participants would make in pricing the obligations

including applying discount factors to the estimated future cash flows of the asset underlying the associated

joint venture which in the case of the Puts is the NOI from an apartment community as well as potential

disposition proceeds utilizing market capitalization rates to derive the fair value of the position Given the
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significance of the unobservable inputs the valuations are classified in Level of the fair value hierarchy

At December 31 2008 the Puts aggregate fair value was $9057 At December 31 2009 the
aggregate

fair value of the Puts was $4101

DownREIT units The Company issued units of limited partnership interest in DownREITs which provide

the DownREIT limited partners the ability to present all or some of their units for redemption for cash

amount as determined by the applicable partnership agreement Under the DownREIT agreements for

each limited partnership unit the limited partner is entitled to receive cash in the amount equal to the fair

value of the Companys common stock on or about the date of redemption In lieu of cash redemption the

Company may elect to exchange such units for an equal number of shares in the Companys common
stock The limited partnership units in DownREITs are valued using the market price of the Companys
common stock Level price under the fair value hierarchy At December 31 2008 the fair value of the

DownREIT units was $1177 At December 31 2009 the fair value of the DownREIT units was $1260

Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent balances are held with various financial institutions within principal protected accounts

The Company monitors credit ratings of these financial institutions and the concentration of cash and cash

equivalent balances with any one financial institution and believes the likelihood of realizing material losses related

to cash and cash equivalent balances is remote Cash and cash equivalents are carried at their face amounts which

reasonably approximate their fair values

Other Financial Instruments

Rents receivable accounts and construction payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities are carried at their

face amounts which reasonably approximate their fair values

The Company values its bond indebtedness notes payable and outstanding amounts under the Credit Facility using

discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each instrument This analysis reflects the contractual

terms of the instrument including the period to maturity and uses observable market-based inputs including

interest rate curves The
process also considers credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect the Companys

nonperformance risk The Company has concluded that the value of its bond indebtedness and notes payable are

Level prices as the majority of the inputs used to value its positions fall within Level of the fair value hierarchy

Bond indebtedness notes payable and outstanding amounts under the Companys Credit Facility as applicable

with an aggregate outstanding par amount of approximately $3977320 and $3676000 had an estimated aggregate
fair value of $4052817 and $3612130 at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 respectively

12 Related Party Arrangements

Unconsolidated Entities

The Company manages unconsolidated real estate entities for which it receives asset management property

management development and redevelopment fee revenue From these entities the Company received fees of $7328
$6568 and $6142 in the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively These fees are included in

management development and other fees on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other

Comprehensive Income In addition the Company has outstanding receivables associated with its management role of

$2344 and $5043 as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Director Compensation

Directors of the Company who are also employees receive no additional compensation for their services as director

Following each aimual meeting of stockholders starting with the 2006 annual meeting non-employee directors receive

number of shares of restricted stock or deferred stock awards having value of $100 and ii cash payment of

$40 payable in quarterly installments of $10 After September 20 2007 the cash payment increased to $50 payable in

quarterly installments of $12.5 The value of the restricted stock or deferred stock award increased to $125 following
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the 2008 annual meeting The number of shares of restricted stock or deferred stock awards is calculated based on the

closing price on the day of the award Non-employee directors may elect to receive all or portion of cash payments in

the form of deferred stock award In addition the Lead Independent Director receives an annual fee of $30 payable in

equal monthly installments of $2.5

The Company recorded non-employee director compensation expense relating to the restricted stock grants and

deferred stock awards in the amount of $856 $2170 and $855 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively as component of general and administrative expense Deferred compensation relating to these restricted

stock grants and deferred stock awards was $365 and $137 on December 31 2009 and December 31 2008

respectively Compensation expense during 2008 includes additional expense
associated primarily

with the accelerated

award vesting for directors

13 quarterly Financial Information

The following summary represents the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 unaudited

For the three months ended

3-31-09 6-30-09 9-30-09 12-31-09

209733 212259 215160 214429

43153 13076 27623 7437

3948 3647 30478 39787

47425 17674 58154 32394

0.60 0.22 0.72 0.40

0.59 0.22 0.72 0.40

For the three months ended

3-31-08 6-30-08 9-30-08 12-31-08

194314 201165 208378 210366

40145 44636 43460 29749

8411 82803 189426 31615

46275 125159 231406 1806
0.60 1.63 3.00 0.02

0.60 1.61 2.98 0.02

Amounts may not equal previously reported results due to reclassification between income from continuing

operations and income from discontinued operations

Income from continuing operations for the second quarter of 2009 includes an impairment charge of

approximately $20302 associated with the Companys planned reduction in development activity

Income from continuing operations for the fourth quarter of 2009 includes an impairment charge of

approximately $850 associated with the Companys planned reduction in development activity
and

charge of approximately $26000 related to the October 2009 tender offer

Amounts may not equal full year results due to rounding

Income from continuing operations for the fourth quarter of 2008 includes an impairment charge of

approximately $57899 associated with the Compans planned reduction in development activity

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date on which this Form 10-K was filed the date on which

these financial statements were issued and identified the items below for discussion

In January 2010 the Company sold one community Avalon at Danada Farms located in Wheaton Illinois Avalon at

Danada Farms contains 295 apartment homes and was sold for $45450 The Company estimates that it will record at

gain of approximately $18000 related to this disposition

In February 2010 Fund II purchased its third community located in Gaithersburg Maryland The community renamed

Avalon Rothbury contains 203 homes and was acquired for purchase price of $31250

In February 2010 the Company sold one community Avalon Knoll located in Germantown Maryland Avalon Knoll

Total revenueW

Income loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Net income per common share basic

Net income per common share diluted

Total revenue1

Income loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

Net income loss attributable to common stockholders

Net income loss per common share basic

Net income loss per common share diluted

14 Subsequent Events
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contains 300 apartment homes and was sold for $37500 The Company estimates that it will record gain of

approximately $32000 related to this disposition

Also in February 2010 the Company repaid 6.47% fixed rate secured mortgage note in the amount of $13961 in

advance of its March 2012 schedule maturity date
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